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E-TENDER NOTICE 
MAHARASHTRA METRO RAIL CORPORATION LIMITED 

Pune Metro Rail Project 
(A joint venture of Govt. of India & Govt. of Maharashtra) 

101, The Orion, Opposite Don Bosco Youth Centre, 
Koregaon Park, Pune - 411001 

E-mail: mahametro.tenders@gmail.com Website: www.punemetrorail.org 
Telephone: 020-26051072 

Tender Notice No. ICB –P1-T03R/2019   Dt. 22/01/2019 

Name of work: Design, Manufacturing & Supply of Standard Gauge 60E 1 (UIC 60) Turnouts for 
Pune Metro Rail Project. 

  
KEYDETAILS:  

 

This e-Tender Notice replaces all previous tender notices and corrigenda with regard to the above-mentioned 
tender. New bidders are free to purchase the tender package, for bidders that previously bought the tender 
documents no additional fee will be charged. 

 
Completion Period 52 Weeks 

Documents on sale Documents can be downloaded from16.00 hrs. on 22/01/2019 to 16.00 Hrs of 
28/02/2019 from Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited's e-tender 
Portal. 

Cost of documents INR 47,200/- non-refundable (inclusive applicable taxes) though e-payment by 
Credit Card /Debit Card / Online Banking, as per procedure given in e-tender 
portal 

Pre-bid Meeting On 04/02/2019 at 11.00 Hours or as decided by the authority at the Office of 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited, 1st Floor, The Orion, Opposite 
Don Bosco Youth Centre, Koregaon Park, Pune-411001. 

Last date of submission 
of queries for pre-bid by 

Up to 11.00 hrs. 03/02/2019 

Bid Security The total bid security amount shall be INR 1.25 Million submitted in form of 
Bank Guarantee, as per procedure given in e-tender portal & BDS 

Date & Time of 
submission of Bid 

Online submission up to 16.00 Hrs on 28/02/2019 at Maharashtra Metro Rail 
Corporation Limited's e-tender portal. 

Date & Time of Opening 
of Bid 

On 28/02/2019 at 17.00 Hours or as decided by the authority at the Office of 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited, 1st Floor, The Orion, Opposite 
Don Bosco Youth Centre, Koregaon Park, Pune-411001. 

Sale of document, e-payment procedure, submission and other details are available on Maharashtra Metro 
Rail Corporation Limited tender portal under Pune Metro section in e-tenders 
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in. To view this tender notice, interested Agencies may visit the Pune 
Metro Rail website “www.punemetrorail.org”. 

 
 
 
 

General Manager (Procurement)/PMRP 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:mahametro.tenders@gmail.com
http://www.punemetrorail.org/
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
http://www.punemetrorail.org/
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DISCLAIMER 
 

The Bidding Documents for “Design, Manufacturing & Supply of Standard Gauge 60E 1 (UIC 60) Turnouts 
for Pune Metro Rail Project” contain brief information about the Project & the Works to be executed and 
various steps involved in the bidding process. The information contained in the Bidding Documents or 
subsequently provided to Bidders, whether verbally or in documentary or any other form by or on behalf of 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited (hereinafter referred as “Maha-Metro” or “the Company” or 
“Purchaser”) or any of its employees or advisors, is provided to Bidders on the terms and conditions set out 
in the Bidding Documents and such other terms and conditions subject to which such information is provided. 
 
The Bidding Documents are not an agreement and is neither an offer nor invitation by Maha-Metro to the 
prospective Bidders or any other person. The purpose of the Bidding Documents is to provide interested 
parties with information that may be useful to them in making their Bids pursuant to the Bidding Documents. 
The Bidding Document include statements, which reflect various assumptions and assessments arrived at by 
Maha-Metro in relation to the Project or the work to be executed pursuant to this bidding process. Such 
assumptions, assessments and statements do not purport to contain all the information that each Bidder may 
require. The assumptions, assessments, statements & information contained in the Bidding Documents may 
not be complete, accurate, adequate or correct. Each Bidder should, therefore, conduct its own investigations 
& analysis and should check the accuracy, adequacy, correctness, reliability & completeness of the 
assumptions, assessments, statements and information contained in the Bidding Documents and obtain 
independent advice from appropriate sources. 
 
Information provided in the Bidding Documents to the Bidders is on a wide range of matters, some of which 
may depend upon interpretation of law. The information given is not intended to be an exhaustive account 
of statutory requirements and should not be regarded as a complete or authoritative statement of law. Maha-
Metro accepts no responsibility for the accuracy or otherwise for any interpretation or opinion on law 
expressed herein. 
 
Maha-Metro, its employees and advisors make no representation or warranty and shall have no liability to 
any person, including any Bidder under any law, statute, rules or regulations or tort, principles of restitution 
or unjust enrichment or otherwise for any loss, damages, cost or expense which may arise from or be incurred 
or suffered on account of anything contained in the Bidding Documents or otherwise, including the accuracy, 
adequacy, correctness, completeness or reliability of the Bidding Documents and any assessment, assumption, 
statement or information contained therein or deemed to form part of the Bidding Documents or arising in 
any way for participation in this bidding stage. 
 
Maha-Metro also accepts no liability of any nature whether resulting from negligence or otherwise howsoever 
caused arising from reliance of any Bidder upon the statements / information contained in the Bidding 
Documents. 
 
Maha-Metro may in its absolute discretion, but without being under any obligation to do so, update, amend 
or supplement the information, assessment or assumptions contained in the Bidding Documents. Maha-Metro 
also reserves the right to change any or all conditions/ information set in the Bidding Documents at any time 
by way of revision, deletion, up-dation or annulment through issuance of appropriate addendum as Maha-
Metro may deem fit without assigning any reason thereof. 
 

The issue of the Bidding Documents does not imply that Maha-Metro is bound to select a Bidder or to appoint 
the selected Bidder for constructing the work envisaged under the Bidding Documents and Maha-Metro 
reserves the right to reject all or any of the Bidders or Bids without assigning any reason whatsoever. 
 

The Bidders shall bear all its costs associated with or relating to the preparation and submission of its Bid 
including but not limited to preparation, copying, postage, delivery fees, expenses associated with any 
demonstrations or presentations which may be required by Maha-Metro or any other costs incurred in 
connection with or relating to its Bid. All such costs and expenses will remain with the Bid and Maha-Metro 
shall not be liable in any manner whatsoever for the same or for any other costs or other expenses incurred 
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by a Bidder in preparation or submission of the Bid, regardless of the conduct or outcome of the bidding 
process. 
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Section I. Instructions to Bidders 
Clause No Description 

A. General 

1. Scope of Bid 

1.1 In connection with the Invitation for Bids, specified in the Bid Data Sheet (BDS), the 
Purchaser, as specified in the BDS, issues these Bidding Documents for the supply of 
Goods and Related Services incidental thereto as specified in Section VII, Schedule of 
Requirements. The name, identification & number of lots (contracts) of this 
International Competitive Bidding (ICB) procurement are specified in the BDS. 

1.2 Throughout these Bidding Documents 

 (a) the term "in writing" means communicated in written form (e.g. by mail, e-mail, fax, 
telex) with proof of receipt; 

(b) except where the context requires otherwise, words indicating the singular also 
include the plural and words indicating the plural also include the singular; and 

(c) "day" means calendar day. 

2. Source of Funds 

2.1 The Purchaser specified in the BDS has received or has applied for financing 

(hereinafter called “Funds”) from the funding (hereinafter called “the Agency”) (status 

described in BDS) towards the project named in the BDS. The Purchaser intends to apply 

a portion of the “Funds” to eligible payments under the contract(s) for which these 
Bidding Documents are issued.  

3. Corrupt and Fraudulent Practices 

3.1 The Purchaser requires compliance with its policy in regard to corrupt and fraudulent 
practices as set forth in Section VI.  

3.2 In further pursuance of this policy, Bidders shall permit and shall cause its agents 
(whether declared or not), sub-contractors, sub-consultants, service providers, or 
suppliers and any personnel thereof, to permit the Agency to inspect all accounts, 
records and other documents relating to any prequalification process, bid submission, 
and contract performance (in the case of award), and to have them audited by auditors 
appointed by the Agency.  

4. Eligible Bidders 

4.1 A Bidder may be a firm that is a private entity, a government-owned entity—subject to 
ITB 4.11—or any combination of such entities in the form of a JV/CONSORTIUM under an 
existing agreement or with the intent to enter into such an agreement supported by a 
letter of intent. In the case of a joint venture, all members shall be jointly and severally 
liable for the execution of the Contract in accordance with the Contract terms. The 
JV/CONSORTIUM shall nominate a Representative who shall have the authority to 
conduct all business for and on behalf of any and all the members of the JV/CONSORTIUM 
during the bidding process and, in the event the JV/CONSORTIUM is awarded the 
Contract, during contract execution.  
 
Unless specified in the BDS, there is no limit on the number of members in a 
JV/CONSORTIUM.  

4.2 A Bidder shall not have a conflict of interest. Any Bidder found to have a conflict of 
interest shall be disqualified.  
A Bidder may be considered to have a conflict of interest for the purpose of this bidding 
process, if the Bidder: 
 
(a) directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control with 

another Bidder; or  
(b) receives or has received any direct or indirect subsidy from another Bidder; or  
(c) has the same legal representative as another Bidder; or  
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(d) has a relationship with another Bidder, directly or through common third parties, 
that puts it in a position to influence the bid of another Bidder, or influence the 
decisions of the Purchaser regarding this bidding process; or  

(e) participates in more than one bid in this bidding process. Participation by a Bidder 
in more than one Bid will result in the disqualification of all Bids in which such Bidder 
is involved. However, this does not limit the inclusion of the same sub-contractor in 
more than one bid; or  

(f) any of its affiliates participated as a consultant in the preparation of the design or 
technical specifications of the works that are the subject of the bid; or  

(g) any of its affiliates has been hired (or is proposed to be hired) by the Purchaser as 
Engineer for the Contract implementation; or  

(h) has a close business or family relationship with a professional staff of the Purchaser 
(or of the project implementing agency, or of a recipient of a part of the loan) who: 
i. are directly or indirectly involved in the preparation of the bidding documents 

or specifications of the contract, and/or the bid evaluation process of such 
contract; or 

ii. would be involved in the implementation or supervision of such contract unless 
the conflict stemming from such relationship has been resolved in a manner 
acceptable to the Agency throughout the procurement process and execution of 
the contract. 

4.3 The Agency's eligibility criteria to bid are described in Section-V Eligibility Criteria and Social 
and Environmental responsibility. 

4.4 A Bidder shall not be under suspension from bidding by the Purchaser as the result of 
the operation of a Bid Securing Declaration. 

4.5 A Bidder shall provide such evidence of eligibility satisfactory to the Purchaser, as the 
Purchaser shall reasonably request. 

5. Eligible Goods and Related Services 

5.1 All the Goods and Related Services to be supplied under the Contract and financed by 
the Agency may have their origin in any country in accordance with Section V, Eligibility 
criteria and social and environmental responsibility. 

5.2 For purposes of this Clause, the term "goods" includes commodities, raw material, 
machinery, equipment, & industrial plants; & "related services" includes services such 
as insurance, installation, training, and initial maintenance. 

5.3 The term "origin" means the country where the goods have been mined, grown, 
cultivated, produced, manufactured or processed; or, through manufacture, processing, 
or assembly, another commercially recognized article results that differs substantially 
in its basic characteristics from its components. 

B. Contents of Bidding Document 

6. Section of Bidding Document 

6.1 The Bidding Documents consist of Parts 1, 2, 3 and 4, which include all the Sections 
indicated below, and should be read in conjunction with any Addenda issued in 
accordance with ITB 8.2. 
(Unless otherwise specified in BDS) 

 
PART 1 - Bidding Procedures 
Section I  Instructions to Bidders 
Section II  Bidding Data Sheet (BDS) 
Section III  Evaluation and Qualification Criteria 
Section III-A  Domestic Preference – Provision under “Make in India-2017. 
Section IV  Bidding Forms 
Section V  Eligibility Criteria and Social and environment responsibility 
Section VI     Agency Policy Corrupt and Fraudulent Practices 
 
PART 2    Supply Requirements 
Section VII    Schedule of Requirements 
 
PART 3   Conditions of Contract and Contract Forms 
Section VIII   General Conditions of Contract (GGC) 
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Section IX     Particular Conditions of Contract (PCC) 
Section X      Contract Forms 
PART 4   E-Tender 

(E-Tender Procedures) Annexure-A – Toolkit for using e-tender portal 
Annexure B – IT 5D BIM 
 

6.2 The Invitation for Bids issued by the Purchaser is not part of the Bidding Document. 

6.3 Unless obtained directly from Bid portal of the Purchaser, the Purchaser is not 
responsible for the completeness of the document, responses to requests for 
clarification or Addenda to the Bidding Document in accordance with ITB 6.1. In case of 
any contradiction, documents obtained directly from the Purchaser shall prevail 
(replaced in BDS). 

6.4 The Bidder is expected to examine all instructions, forms, terms, and specifications in 
the Bidding Documents and to furnish with its Bid all information or documentation as 
is required by the Bidding Documents. 

7. Clarification of Bidding Documents 

7.1 A Bidder requiring any clarification of the Bidding Document shall communicate within 
date and time the Purchaser in writing at the Purchaser's email address as specified in 
the BDS. The Purchaser will respond in writing to any request for clarification, provided 
that such request is received as per NIT. The Purchaser shall forward copies of its 
response to all Bidders who have acquired the Bidding Documents in accordance with 
ITB 6.3, including a description of the inquiry but without identifying its source. If so 
specified in the BDS, the Purchaser shall also promptly publish its response at e- Bid 
portal of the purchaser identified in the BDS and bidder shall not be informed 
individually. 

7.2 If so specified in the BDS, the Bidder’s designated representative is invited to attend a 
pre-Bid meeting. The purpose of the meeting will be to clarify issues and to answer 
questions on any matter that may be raised at that stage (as specified in BDS). 

7.3 The Bidder is requested, as far as possible, to submit any questions in writing, to reach 
the Purchaser not later than one week before the meeting or as specified in BDS. 

7.4 Minutes of the pre-Bid meeting, if applicable, including the text of the questions asked 
by Bidders, without identifying the source, and the responses given, together with any 
responses prepared after the meeting, will be transmitted promptly to all Bidders who 
have acquired the Bidding Documents in accordance with ITB 6.3. Any modification to 
the Bidding Documents that may become necessary as a result of the pre-Bid meeting 
shall be made by the Purchaser exclusively through the issue of an Addendum pursuant 
to ITB 8.2 and not through the minutes of the pre-Bid meeting. Non-attendance at the 
pre-Bid meeting will not be a cause for disqualification of a Bidder as specified in BDS. 

8. Amendment of Bidding Document 

8.1 Deleted. 

8.2 The Purchaser shall also promptly publish the addendum on the Purchaser's e-Bid portal 
in accordance with ITB 7.1(as specified in BDS). 

8.3 To give Bidders reasonable time in which to take an addendum into account in preparing 
their bids, the Purchaser may, at its discretion, extend the deadline for the submission 
of bids, pursuant to ITB 22.2. 

C. Preparation of Bids 

9. Cost of Bidding 

9.1 The Bidder shall bear all costs associated with the preparation and submission of its bid, 
and the Purchaser shall not be responsible or liable for those costs, regardless of the 
conduct or outcome of the bidding process. 

10. Language of Bid 

10.1 The Bid, as well as all correspondence and documents relating to the bid exchanged by 
the Bidder and the Purchaser, shall be written in the language specified in the BDS. 
Supporting documents and printed literature that are part of the Bid may be in another 
language provided they are accompanied by an accurate translation of the relevant 
passages into the language specified in the BDS, in which case, for purposes of 
interpretation of the Bid, such translation shall govern. 
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11. Documents Comprising the Bid 

11.1 The Bid shall comprise the following: 
(a) Any addendum issued shall be part of the Bidding Documents and shall be 

communicated in writing to all who have obtained the Bidding Documents from the 
Purchaser in accordance with ITB 6.1; 

(b) completed Price Schedule Forms Sr.No.5.10 to 5.13, in accordance with ITB 6.1; 
(c) Bid Security or Bid-Securing Declaration, in accordance with ITB 19.8(as specified 

in BDS); 
(d) alternative bids, if permissible, in accordance with ITB 13.1 (as specified in BDS); 
(e) written confirmation authorizing the signatory of the Bid to commit the Bidder, in 

accordance with ITB 20.2; 
(f) documentary evidence in accordance with ITB 17 establishing the bidder’s eligibility 

to bid. 
(g) Technical proposal in accordance with ITB 16; 
(h) any other document required in the BDS  

11.2 In addition to the requirements under ITB 11.1, bids submitted by a JV/CONSORTIUM shall 
include a copy of the Joint Venture Agreement entered into by all members. Alternatively, 
a letter of intent to execute a Joint Venture Agreement in the event of a successful bid 
shall be signed by all members and submitted with the bid, together with a copy of the 
proposed Agreement. 

11.2 The Bidder shall furnish in the Letter of Bid information on commissions and gratuities, 
if any, paid or to be paid to agents or any other party relating to this Bid (as specified 
in BDS). 

12. Letter of Bid, Statement of Integrity and Price Schedules 

12.1 The Letter of Bid, the Statement of Integrity and Price Schedules shall be prepared using 
the relevant forms furnished in Section IV, Bidding Forms. The forms must be completed 
without any alterations to the text, and no substitutes shall be accepted except as provided 
under ITB 20.4. All blank spaces shall be filled in with the information requested. 

13. Alternative Bids 

13.1 Unless otherwise specified in the BDS, alternative bids will not be considered. 

14. Bid Prices and Discounts 

14.1 The prices and discounts quoted by the Bidder in the Price Schedules shall conform to 
the requirements specified below. 

14.2 All lots(contracts) & items must be listed & priced separately in the Price Schedules,  

14.3 Prices should be quoted for each item of Turnouts, scissors crossovers & derailing switch 
as per schedule of requirement.  

14.4 The Bidder shall quote any discounts and indicate the methodology for their application 
in the letter of bid. 

14.5 Prices quoted by the Bidder shall be fixed during the Bidder’s performance of the 
Contract and not subject to variation on any account, unless otherwise specified in the 
BDS A bid submitted with an adjustable price quotation shall be treated as nonresponsive 
and shall be rejected, pursuant to ITB 29.  

14.6 If so specified in ITB 1.1, bids are being invited for individual lots (contracts) or for any 
combination of lots (packages). Unless otherwise specified in the BDS, prices quoted 
shall correspond to 100 % of the items specified for each lot and to 100% of the quantities 
specified for each item of a lot. Bidders wishing to offer discounts for the award of more 
than one Contract shall specify in their bid the price reductions applicable to each 
package, or alternatively, to individual Contracts within the package. Discounts shall be 
submitted in accordance with ITB 14.1 provided the bids for all lots (contracts) are 
opened at the same time. 

14.7 The terms EXW, CIP, and other similar terms shall be governed by the rules prescribed 
in the current edition of Incoterms, published by The International Chamber of 
Commerce, as specified in the BDS. 

14.8 Prices shall be quoted as specified in each Price Schedule included in Section IV, Bidding 
Forms. The dis-aggregation of price components is required solely for the purpose of 
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facilitating the comparison of bids by the Purchaser. In quoting prices, the Bidder shall 
be free to use transportation through carriers registered in any eligible country, in 
accordance with Section V, Eligibility criteria and social and environmental 
responsibility. Similarly, the Bidder may obtain insurance services from any eligible 
country in accordance with Section V, Eligibility criteria & social & environmental 
responsibility. 
Prices shall be entered in the following manner: - 
(a) For Goods manufactured in the Purchaser’s Country 
i. the price of the Goods quoted EXW (ex-works, ex-factory, ex warehouse, ex 

showroom, or off-the-shelf, as applicable), including all customs duties and sales 
and other taxes already paid or payable on the components and raw material used 
in the manufacture or assembly of the Goods; 

ii. any Purchaser's Country GSTs and other taxes which will be payable on the Goods if 
the contract is awarded to the Bidder; and  

iii. the price for inland transportation, insurance, and other local services required to 
convey the Goods to their final destination (Project Site) specified in the BDS. 

(b) For Goods manufactured outside the Purchaser’s Country, to be imported 
i. the price of the Goods, quoted, DDP/Pune in the Purchaser's Country, as specified 

in the BDS; and 
ii The price for inland transportation, insurance, and other local services required to 
convey the Goods from the named place of destination to their final destination (Project 
site) specified in the BDS;  

(c) For Goods manufactured outside the Purchaser’s Country, already imported 
i. the price of the Goods, including the original import value of the Goods; plus, any 

mark-up (or rebate); plus any other related local cost, and custom duties and other 
import taxes already paid or to be paid on the Goods already imported. 

ii. the custom duties and other import taxes already paid (need to be supported with 
documentary evidence) or to be paid on the Goods already imported; 

iii. the price of the Goods obtained as the difference between (i) and (ii) above 
iv. any Purchaser's Country sales and other taxes which will be payable on the Goods if 

the contract is awarded to the Bidder; and  
v. the price for inland transportation, insurance, and other local services required to 

convey the Goods from the named place of destination to their final destination 
(Project Site) specified in the BDS. 

(d) For Related Services, other than inland transportation and other services 
required to convey the Goods to their final destination, whenever such Related 
Services are specified in Section VII - Schedule of Requirements: 
i. the price of each item comprising the Related Services (exclusive of any 

applicable taxes); 
ii. all custom duties, sales and other taxes applicable in the Purchaser's country, 

payable on the Related Services, if the Contract is awarded to the Bidder. 

14.9 Unless otherwise provided in the BDS, all duties, taxes, and other levies payable by 
the Contractor under the Contract, or for any other cause, as of the date twenty-eight 
(28) days prior to the deadline for submission of Bids, shall be included in the rates and 
prices and the total Bid Price submitted by the Bidder. 

15. Currencies of Bid and Payment 

15.1 The currency(ies) of the bid and the currency(ies) of payments shall be as specified in 
the BDS.  

15.2 The Bidder shall quote in the currency of the Purchaser's Country the portion of the bid 
price that corresponds to expenditures incurred in the currency of the Purchaser's 
country, unless otherwise specified in the BDS. 

16. Documents Establishing the Eligibility and Conformity of the Goods and Related 
Services 

16.1 To establish the eligibility of the Goods and Related Services in accordance with ITB 5, 
Bidders shall complete the country of origin declarations in the Price Schedule Forms, 
included in Section IV, Bidding Forms. 

16.2 To establish the conformity of the Goods and Related Services to the Bidding Documents, 
the Bidder shall furnish as part of its Bid the documentary evidence that the Goods 
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conform to the technical specifications and standards specified in Section VII, Schedule 
of Requirements. 

16.3 The documentary evidence may be in the form of literature, drawings or data, and shall 
consist of a detailed item by item description of the essential technical and performance 
characteristics of the Goods and Related Services, demonstrating substantial 
responsiveness of the Goods and Related Services to the technical specification, and if 
applicable, a statement of deviations and exceptions to the provisions of the Section VII, 
Schedule of Requirements. 

16.4 The Bidder shall also furnish a list giving full particulars, including available sources and 
current prices of spare parts, special tools, etc., necessary for the proper and continuing 
functioning of the Goods during the period specified in the BDS following 
commencement of the use of the goods by the Purchaser. 

16.5 Standards for workmanship, process, material, and equipment, as well as references to 
brand names or catalogue numbers specified by the Purchaser in the Schedule of 
Requirements, are intended to be descriptive only and not restrictive. The Bidder may 
offer other standards of quality, brand names, and/or catalogue numbers, provided that 
it demonstrates, to the Purchaser's satisfaction, that the substitutions ensure substantial 
equivalence or are superior to those specified in the Section VII, Schedule of 
Requirements. 

17 Documents Establishing the Eligibility and Qualifications of the Bidder 

17.1 To establish Bidder's their eligibility in accordance with ITB 4, Bidders shall complete 
the Letter of Bid, included in Section IV, Bidding Forms. 

17.2 The documentary evidence of the Bidder's qualifications to perform the contract if its 
bid is accepted shall establish to the Purchaser's satisfaction: 
(a) that, if required in the BDS, a Bidder that does not manufacture or produce the Goods it 

offers to supply shall submit the Manufacturer's Authorization using the form included in 
Section IV, Bidding Forms to demonstrate that it has been duly authorized by the 
manufacturer or producer of the Goods to supply these Goods in the Purchaser's Country; 

(b) that, if required in the BDS, in case of a Bidder not doing business within the 
Purchaser's Country, the Bidder is or will be (if awarded the contract) represented 
by an Agent in the country equipped and able to carry out the Supplier's 
maintenance, repair and spare parts-stocking obligations prescribed in the 
Conditions of Contract and/or Technical Specifications; and 

(c) that the Bidder meets each of the qualification criterion specified in Section III, 
Evaluation and Qualification Criteria. 

18. Period of Validity of Bids 

18.1 Bids shall remain valid for the period specified in the BDS after the bid submission deadline 
date prescribed by the Purchaser in accordance with ITB 22.1. A bid valid for a shorter 
period shall be rejected by the Purchaser as nonresponsive. 

18.2 In exceptional circumstances, prior to the expiration of the bid validity period, the 
Purchaser may request bidders to extend the period of validity of their bids. The request 
and the responses shall be made in writing. If a Bid Security is requested in accordance with 
ITB Clause 19.8, it shall also be extended for twenty-eight (28) days beyond the deadline 
of the extended validity period. A Bidder may refuse the request without forfeiting its Bid 
Security. A Bidder granting the request shall not be required or permitted to modify its bid, 
except as provided in ITB 18.3. 

18.3 If the award is delayed by a period exceeding fifty-six (56) days beyond the expiry of the 
initial bid validity, the Contract price shall be determined as follows: - 
(a) In the case of fixed price contracts, the Contract price shall be the bid price adjusted 

by the factor specified in the BDS. 
(b) In the case of adjustable price contracts, no adjustment shall be made.  
(c) In any case, bid evaluation shall be based on the bid price without taking into 

consideration the applicable correction from those indicated above. 

19. Bid Security 

19.1 The Bidder shall furnish as part of its bid, either a Bid-Securing Declaration or a bid 
security, as specified in the BDS, in original form and, in the case of a bid security, in the 
amount and currency specified in the BDS. 
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19.2 A Bid Securing Declaration shall use the form included in Section IV, Bidding Forms or as 
specified in BDS. 

19.3 If a bid security is specified pursuant to ITB 19.8-19.9, the bid security shall be a demand 
guarantee in any of the following forms at the Bidder's option: - 
(a) an unconditional guarantee issued by a bank or financial institution (such as an 

insurance, bonding or surety company); 
(b) an irrevocable letter of credit; 
(c) a cashier's or certified check; or 
(d) another security specified in the BDS, 
from a reputable source from an eligible country as specified in Section V-Eligibility 
criteria and social and environmental responsibility. If the unconditional guarantee is 
issued by a financial institution located outside the Purchaser's Country, the issuing 
financial institution shall have a correspondent financial institution located in the 
Purchaser's Country to make it enforceable. In the case of a bank guarantee, the bid 
security shall be submitted either using the Bid Security Form included in Section IV, 
Bidding Forms, or in another substantially similar format approved by the Purchaser prior 
to bid submission. The bid security shall be valid for twenty-eight (28) days beyond the 
original validity period of the bid, or beyond any period of extension if requested under ITB 
18.2 

19.4 If a Bid Security is specified pursuant to ITB 19.8-19.9, any bid not accompanied by a 
substantially responsive Bid Security or Bid-Securing Declaration shall be rejected by the 
Purchaser as nonresponsive. 

19.5 The Bid Security of unsuccessful Bidders shall be returned as promptly as possible upon 
the successful Bidder's signing the contract and furnishing the Performance Security 
pursuant to ITB 42.1. 

19.6 The Bid Security of the successful Bidder shall be returned as promptly as possible once 
the successful Bidder has signed the contract and furnished the required performance 
security. 

19.7 The Bid Security may be forfeited, or the Bid Securing Declaration executed: 
(a) if a Bidder withdraws its bid during the period of bid validity specified by the Bidder 

on the Letter of Bid, or any extension thereto provided by the Bidder; or 
(b) if the successful Bidder fails to: 

i. signs the Contract in accordance with ITB 41; or 
ii.  furnish a performance security in accordance with ITB 42.1. 

19.8 The bid security or Bid- Securing Declaration of a JV/CONSORTIUM must be in the name 
of the JV/CONSORTIUM that submits the bid. If the JV/CONSORTIUM has not been legally 
constituted into a legally enforceable JV/CONSORTIUM at the time of bidding, the bid 
security or Bid-Securing Declaration shall be in the names of all future members as 
named in the letter of intent referred to in ITB 4.1 and ITB 11.2 or as specified in BDS. 

19.9 If a bid security is not required in the BDS, pursuant to ITB 19.1, and: 
(a) if a Bidder withdraws its bid during the period of bid validity specified by the Bidder 

on the Letter of Bid, or any extension thereto provided by the Bidder; or 
(b) if the successful Bidder fails to: sign the Contract in accordance with ITB 41.2; or 

furnish a performance security in accordance with ITB 42.1; 
 

the Purchaser may, if provided for in the BDS, declare the Bidder ineligible to be 
awarded a contract by the Purchaser for a period of time as stated in the BDS. 

20. Format and Signing of Bid 

20.1 The Bidder shall prepare one original of the documents comprising the bid as described 
in ITB 11 and clearly mark it "ORIGINAL." Alternative bids, if permitted in accordance 
with ITB 13.1, shall be clearly marked "ALTERNATIVE." In addition, the Bidder shall 
submit copies of the bid, in the number specified in the BDS and clearly mark them 
"COPY." In the event of any discrepancy between the original and the copies, the original 
shall prevail, (Modified as per BDS). 

20.2 The original and all copies of the bid shall be typed or written in indelible ink and shall 
be signed by a person duly authorized to sign on behalf of the Bidder. This authorization 
shall consist of a written confirmation as specified in the BDS and shall be attached to 
the bid. The name and position held by each person signing the authorization must be 
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typed or printed below the signature. All pages of the bid where entries or amendments 
have been made shall be signed or initialed by the person signing the bid. 

20.3 In case the Bidder is a JV/CONSORTIUM, the Bid shall be signed by an authorized 
representative of the JV/CONSORTIUM on behalf of the JV/CONSORTIUM, and so as to 
be legally binding on all the members as evidenced by a power of attorney signed by 
their legally authorized representatives. 

20.4 Any inter-lineation, erasures, or overwriting shall be valid only if they are signed or 
initialed by the person signing the bid. 

D Submission and Opening of Bids 

21 Sealing and Marking of Bids 

21.1 The Bidder shall enclose the original and all copies of the bid, including alternative bids, if 
permitted in accordance with ITB 13.1, in separate sealed envelopes, duly marking the 
envelopes as "ORIGINAL", "ALTERNATIVE" and "COPY." These envelopes containing the original 
and the copies shall then be enclosed in one single envelope or as specified in BDS. 

21.2 Unless specified in BDS, the inner and outer envelopes shall: 
(a) bear the name and address of the Bidder; 
(b) be addressed to the Purchaser in accordance with ITB 22.1; 
(c) bear the specific identification of this bidding process ted in ITB 1.1; and 
(d) bear a warning not to open before the time and date for bid opening 

21.3 If all envelopes are not sealed and marked as required, the Purchaser will assume no 
responsibility for the misplacement or premature opening of the bid. 

22. Deadline for Submission of Bids 

22.1 Bids must be received by the Purchaser at the address and no later than the date and 
time specified in the BDS. When so specified in the BDS, bidders shall have the option 
of submitting their bids electronically. Bidders submitting bids electronically shall follow 
the electronic bid submission procedures specified in the BDS. 

22.2 The Purchaser may, at its discretion, extend the deadline for the submission of bids by 
amending the Bidding Documents in accordance with ITB 6.1, in which case all rights 
and obligations of the Purchaser and Bidders previously subject to the deadline shall 
thereafter be subject to the deadline as extended. 

23. Late Bids 

23.1 The Purchaser shall not consider any bid that arrives after the dead line for submission 
of bids, in accordance with ITB 22. Any bid received by the Purchaser after the deadline for 
submission of bids shall be declared late, rejected, and returned unopened to the Bidder. 

24. Withdrawal, Substitution and Modification of Bids 

24.1 A Bidder may withdraw, substitute, or modify its Bid after it has been submitted by sending 
a written notice, duly signed by an authorized representative, and shall include a copy of the 
authorization (the power of attorney) in accordance with ITB 20.2. The corresponding 
substitution or modification of the bid must accompany the respective written notice. All 
notices must be: 
(a) prepared and submitted in accordance with ITB 20 and 21 (except that withdrawal 

notices do not require copies), & in addition, the respective envelopes shall be clearly 
marked "WITHDRAWAL," "SUBSTITUTION," or "MODIFICATION;" and or as specified in 
BDS. 

(b) received by the Purchaser prior to the deadline prescribed for submission of bids, 
in accordance with ITB 22 or as specified in BDS. 

24.2 Bids requested to be withdrawn in accordance with ITB 24.1 shall be returned 
unopened to the Bidders or as specified in BDS. 

24.3 No bid may be withdrawn, substituted, or modified in the interval between the deadline for 
submission of bids and the expiration of the period of bid validity specified by the Bidder on 
the Letter of Bid or any extension thereof. 

25. Bid Opening 

25.1 Except as in the cases specified in ITB 23 and 24, the Purchaser shall publicly open and read 
out in accordance with ITB 25 all bids received by the deadline (regardless of the number of 
bids received), at the date, time and place specified in the BDS in the presence of Bidders' 
designated representatives and anyone who choose to attend. Any specific electronic bid 
opening procedures required if electronic bidding is permitted in accordance with ITB 22.1, 
shall be as specified in the BDS. 
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25.2 First, envelopes marked "WITHDRAWAL" shall be opened and read out and the envelope with 
the corresponding bid shall not be opened but returned to the Bidder. No bid withdrawal shall 
be permitted unless the corresponding withdrawal notice contains a valid authorization to 
request the withdrawal & is read out at bid opening. Next, envelopes marked "SUBSTITUTION" 
shall be opened and read out and exchanged with the corresponding Bid being substituted, 
and the substituted Bid shall not be opened, but returned to the Bidder. No Bid substitution 
shall be permitted unless the corresponding substitution notice contains a valid authorization 
to request the substitution and is read out at bid opening. Envelopes marked "MODIFICATION" 
shall be opened and read out with the corresponding Bid. No Bid modification shall be 
permitted unless the corresponding modification notice contains a valid authorization to 
request the modification and is read out at Bid opening. Only bids that are opened and read 
out at Bid opening shall be considered further as specified in the BDS. 

25.3 All other envelopes shall be opened one at a time, reading out: the name of the Bidder 
and whether there is a modification; the total Bid Prices, per lot (contract) if applicable, 
including any discounts and alternative bids; the presence or absence of a Bid Security 
or Bid-Securing Declaration, if required; and any other details as the Purchaser may 
consider appropriate. Only discounts and alternative bids read out at Bid opening shall 
be considered for evaluation. The Letter of Bid and the Price Schedules are to be 
initialed by a minimum of three representatives of the Purchaser attending bid opening. 
The Purchaser shall neither discuss the merits of any bid nor reject any bid (except for 
late bids, in accordance with ITB 22.1) or as specified in BDS. 

25.4 The Purchaser shall prepare a record of the bid opening that shall include, as a minimum: 
the name of the Bidder and whether there is a withdrawal, substitution, or modification; 
the Bid Price, per lot (contract) if applicable, including any discounts, and alternative bids; 
and the presence or absence of a Bid Security or Bid-Securing Declaration, if one was 
required. The Bidders' representatives who are present shall be requested to sign the record. 
The omission of a Bidder's signature on the record shall not invalidate the contents and 
effect of the record. A copy of the record shall be distributed to all Bidders. 

E. Evaluation and Comparison of Bids 

26. Confidentiality 

26.1 Information relating to the examination, evaluation, and comparison of the bids, and 
qualification of the Bidders and recommendation of contract award, shall not be disclosed 
to bidders or any other persons not officially concerned with the bidding process until 
information on Contract Award is communicated to all Bidders in accordance with ITB 40. 

26.2 Any attempt by a Bidder to influence the Purchaser in the examination, evaluation, and 
comparison of the bids, and qualification of the bidders, or contract award decisions may 
result in the rejection of its Bid. 

26.3 Notwithstanding ITB 26.2, from the time of bid opening to the time of Contract Award, if 
any Bidder wishes to contact the Purchaser on any matter related to the bidding process, it 
shall do so in writing. 

27. Clarification of Bids 

27.1 To assist in the examination, evaluation, comparison of the bids, and qualification of the 
Bidders, the Purchaser may, at its discretion, ask any Bidder for a clarification of its Bid, 
given a reasonable time for a response. Any clarification submitted by a Bidder that is not 
in response to a request by the Purchaser shall not be considered. The Purchaser's request 
for clarification and the response shall be in writing. No change, including any voluntary 
increase or decrease, in the prices or substance of the Bid shall be sought, offered, or 
permitted, except to confirm the correction of arithmetic errors discovered by the 
Purchaser in the Evaluation of the bids, in accordance with ITB 31. 

27.2 If a Bidder does not provide clarifications of its bid by the date and time set in the 
Purchaser's request for clarification, its bid may be rejected. 

28. Deviation, Reservation and Omissions 

28.1 During the evaluation of bids, the following definitions apply: 
(a) "Deviation" is a departure from the requirements specified in the Bidding Documents; 
(b) "Reservation" is the setting of limiting conditions or withholding from complete 

acceptance of the requirements specified in the Bidding Documents; and 
(c) "Omission" is the failure to submit part or all of the information or documentation 

required in the Bidding Documents 
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29. Determination of Responsiveness 

29.1 The Purchaser's determination of a bid's responsiveness is to be based on the contents of the 
bid itself, as defined in ITB 11.  

29.2 A substantially responsive Bid is one that meets the requirements of the Bidding 
Documents without material deviation, reservation, or omission. A material deviation, 
reservation, or omission is one that: 
(a) if accepted, would 
(i) affect in any substantial way the scope, quality, or performance of the Goods and 

Related Services specified in the Contract; or 
(ii) limit in any substantial way, inconsistent with the Bidding Documents, the Purchaser's 

rights or the Bidder's obligations under the proposed Contract; or 
(b) if rectified, would unfairly affect the competitive position of other bidders presenting 

substantially responsive bids. 

29.3 The Purchaser shall examine the technical aspects of the bid submitted in accordance 
with ITB 16, in particular, to confirm that all requirements of Section VII, Schedule of 
Requirements have been met without any material deviation or reservation, or omission. 

29.4 If a bid is not substantially responsive to the requirements of the Bidding Documents, it 
shall be rejected by the Purchaser and may not subsequently be made responsive by 
correction of the material deviation, reservation, or omission. 

30. Nonconformities, Errors and Omissions 

30.1 Provided that a Bid is substantially responsive, the Purchaser may waive any nonmaterial 
nonconformities in the Bid. 

30.2 Provided that a bid is substantially responsive, the Purchaser may request that the Bidder 
submit the necessary information or documentation, within a reasonable period of time, 
to rectify nonmaterial nonconformities in the bid related to documentation requirements. 
Requesting information or documentation on such nonconformities shall not be related to 
any aspect of the price of the Bid. Failure of the Bidder to comply with the request may 
result in the rejection of its Bid. 

30.3 Provided that a bid is substantially responsive, the Purchaser shall rectify quantifiable 
nonmaterial nonconformities related to the Bid Price. To this effect, the Bid Price shall be 
adjusted, for comparison purposes only, to reflect the price of a missing or non-conforming 
item or component as specified in the BDS. 

31. Correction of Arithmetical Errors 

31.1 Provided that the Bid is substantially responsive, the Purchaser shall correct arithmetical 
errors on the following basis: 
(a) if there is a discrepancy between the unit price and the line item total that is 

obtained by multiplying the unit price by the quantity, the unit price shall prevail, 
and the line item total shall be corrected, unless in the opinion of the Purchaser 
there is an obvious misplacement of the decimal point in the unit price, in which 
case the line item total as quoted shall govern and the unit price shall be corrected; 

(b) if there is an error in a total corresponding to the addition or subtraction of subtotals, 
the subtotals shall prevail, and the total shall be corrected; and 

(c) if there is a discrepancy between words and figures, the amount in words shall 
prevail, unless the amount expressed in words is related to an arithmetic error, in 
which case the amount in figures shall prevail subject to (a) and (b) above. 

31.2 Bidders shall be requested to accept correction of arithmetical errors. Failure to accept 
the correction in accordance with ITB 31.1, shall result in the rejection of the Bid. 

32. Conversion to Single Currency 

32.1 For evaluation and comparison purposes, the currency(ies) of the Bid shall be converted 
in a single currency as specified in the BDS. 

33. Margin of Preference 

33.1 Unless otherwise specified in the BDS, a margin of preference shall not apply. 

34. Sub-Contractor/s: Deleted. 
35. Evaluation of Bids 



Maha-Metro ICB No. P1-T03R/2019 Turnouts 

Jan-19                                                                                                                                             Page 16  

 

35.1 The Purchaser shall use the criteria and methodologies listed in this Clause. No other 
evaluation criteria or methodologies shall be permitted. 

35.2 To evaluate a Bid (evaluation will be done for Items or Lots (contracts), as specified in 
the BDS), the Purchaser shall consider the following: 
(a) the Bid Price as quoted in accordance with clause 14.6; 
(b) price adjustment for correction of arithmetic errors in accordance with ITB 31.2; 
(c) price adjustment due to discounts offered in accordance with ITB 14.1; 
(d) converting the amount resulting from applying (a) to (c) above, if relevant, to a 

single currency in accordance with ITB 32.1; 
(e) price adjustment due to quantifiable nonmaterial nonconformities in accordance 

with ITB 30.3; 
(f) the additional evaluation factors as specified in Section III, Evaluation and 

Qualification Criteria; 

35.3 The estimated effect of the price adjustment provisions of the Conditions of Contract, 
applied over the period of execution of the Contract, shall not be taken into account in 
bid evaluation. 

35.4 If these Bidding Documents allows Bidders to quote separate prices for different lots 
(contracts), the methodology to determine the lowest evaluated price of the lot 
(contract) combinations, including any discounts offered in the Letter of Bid Form, is 
specified in Section III, Evaluation and Qualification Criteria. 

35.5 Unless otherwise specified in BDS, the Purchaser's evaluation of a bid will exclude and 
not take into account: 
(a) in the case of Goods manufactured in the Purchaser's Country, sales and other 

similar taxes, which will be payable on the goods if a contract is awarded to the 
Bidder; 

(b) in the case of Goods manufactured outside the Purchaser's Country, already imported 
or to be imported, customs duties and other import taxes levied on the imported Good, 
sales and other similar taxes, which will be payable on the Goods if the contract is 
awarded to the Bidder; 

(c) in the case of Related Services, customs duties and sales and other similar taxes that 
will be payable on the Related Services if the contract is awarded to the Bidder; 

(d) any allowance for price adjustment during the period of execution of the contract, 
if provided in the bid. 

35.6 The Purchaser's evaluation of a bid may require the consideration of other factors, in 
addition to the Bid Price quoted in accordance with ITB 14. These factors may be related 
to the characteristics, performance, and terms and conditions of purchase of the Goods 
and Related Services. The effect of the factors selected, if any, shall be expressed in 
monetary terms to facilitate comparison of bids, unless otherwise specified in Section 
III, Evaluation and Qualification Criteria. The criteria and methodologies to be used shall 
be as specified in Section III, Evaluation and Qualification Criteria. 

35.7 If the bid, which results in the lowest Evaluated Bid Price, is significantly lower than the 
Purchaser's estimate, the Purchaser may require the Bidder to produce detailed price 
analyses for any or all items of the Price Schedules, to demonstrate the internal 
consistency of those prices with the supply requirements and method and schedule 
proposed. If it turns out that the bid price is abnormally low, the bid may be declared 
non-compliant and rejected. 

36. Comparison of Bids 

36.1 The Purchaser shall compare the evaluated prices of all substantially responsive bids 
established in accordance with ITB 35.2 to determine the lowest evaluated bid. 

37. Qualification of the Bidder 

37.1 The Purchaser shall determine to its satisfaction whether the Bidder that is selected as 
having submitted the lowest evaluated and substantially responsive bid meets the 
qualifying criteria specified in Section III, Evaluation and Qualification Criteria. 

37.2 The determination shall be based upon an examination of the documentary evidence of 
the Bidder's qualifications submitted by the Bidder, pursuant to ITB 17. 

37.3 An affirmative determination shall be a prerequisite for award of the Contract to the 
Bidder. A negative determination shall result in disqualification of the bid, in which 
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event the Purchaser shall proceed to the next lowest evaluated bid to make a similar 
determination of that Bidder's qualifications to perform satisfactorily. 
 

38. Purchaser’s Right to Accept Any Bid, and to Reject Any or All Bids 

38.1 The Purchaser reserves the right to accept or reject any bid, and to annul the bidding 
process and reject all bids at any time prior to contract award, without thereby incurring 
any liability to Bidders. In case of annulment, all bids submitted and specifically, bid 
securities, shall be promptly returned to the Bidders. 

F Award of Contract 

39. Award Criteria 

39.1 Subject to ITB 37.1, the Purchaser shall award the Contract to the Bidder whose bid has 
been determined to be the lowest evaluated bid and is substantially responsive to the 
Bidding Documents, provided further that the Bidder is determined to be qualified to 
perform the Contract satisfactorily. 

39.2 Purchaser’s Right to Vary Quantities at Time of Award 

 At the time the Contract is awarded, the Purchaser reserves the right to increase or 
decrease the quantity of Goods and Related Services originally specified in Section VII, 
Schedule of Requirements, provided this does not exceed the percentages 
specified in the BDS, and without any change in the unit prices or other terms and 
conditions of the bid and the Bidding Documents. 

40. Notification of Award 

40.1 Prior to the expiration of the period of bid validity, the Purchaser shall notify the successful 
Bidder, in writing, that its Bid has been accepted. The notification letter (hereinafter and in 
the Conditions of Contract and Contract Forms called the "Letter of Acceptance") shall specify 
the sum that the Purchaser will pay the Contractor in consideration of the supply of Goods 
(hereinafter and in the Conditions of Contract and Contract Forms called "the Contract Price"). 
At the same time, the Purchaser shall also notify all other Bidders of the results of the bidding. 

40.2 Until a formal Contract is prepared and executed, the notification of award shall 
constitute a binding Contract. 

40.3 The Purchaser shall promptly respond in writing to any unsuccessful Bidder who, after 
notification of award in accordance with ITB 40.1, requests in writing the grounds on 
which its bid was not selected. 

41. Signing of Contract 

41.1 Promptly after notification, the Purchaser shall send the successful Bidder the Contract 
Agreement. 

41.2 Within twenty-eight (28) days but no sooner than 10 days of receipt of the Contract 
Agreement, the successful Bidder shall sign, date, and return it to the Purchaser. 

41.3 Notwithstanding ITB 41.2 above, in case signing of the Contract Agreement is prevented 
by any export restrictions attributable to the Purchaser, to the country of the Purchaser, 
or to the use of the products/ goods, systems or services to be supplied, where such 
export restrictions arise from trade regulations from a country supplying those 
products/goods, systems or services, the Bidder shall not be bound by its bid, always 
provided however, that the Bidder can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Purchaser 
and of the Agency that signing of the Contact Agreement has not been prevented by any 
lack of diligence on the part of the Bidder in completing any formalities, including 
applying for permits, authorizations and licenses necessary for the export of the 
products/goods, systems or services under the terms of the Contract. 
 

42. Performance Security 

42.1 Within twenty-eight (28) days of the receipt of notification of award from the Purchaser, 
the successful Bidder shall furnish the Performance Security in accordance with the GCC, 
using for that purpose the Performance Security Form included in Section X, Contract 
Forms, or another Form acceptable to the Purchaser. If the Performance Security 
furnished by the successful Bidder is in the form of a bond, it shall be issued by a bonding 
or insurance company that has been determined by the successful Bidder to be 
acceptable to the Purchaser. A foreign institution providing a bond shall have a 
correspondent financial institution located in the Purchaser's Country. 
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42.2 Failure of the successful Bidder to submit the above-mentioned Performance Security 
or sign the Contract shall constitute sufficient grounds for the annulment of the award 
and forfeiture of the Bid Security or execution of the Bid-Securing Declaration. In that 
event the Purchaser may award the Contract to the next lowest evaluated Bidder, whose 
bid is substantially responsive and is determined by the Purchaser to be qualified to 
perform the Contract satisfactorily.  
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Section II. Bidding Data Sheet (BDS) 
 
The following specific data for the goods to be procured shall complement, supplement, or amend the provisions 
in the Instructions to Bidders (ITB). Whenever there is a conflict, the provisions herein shall prevail over those in 
ITB. 
 

ITB Clause 
Reference 

GENERAL 

ITB 1.1 The number of the Invitation for Bids is : ICB-P1-T03R/2019 

ITB 1.1 The Purchaser is : Maha- Metro Rail Corporation Limited 

ITB 1.1 Design, Manufacturing & Supply of Standard Gauge 60E 1 (UIC 60) Turnouts for Pune 
Metro Rail Project. 
 
The identification number of ICB is P1-T03R/2019 
 
The number, identification and names of the lots (contracts) comprising this ICB are: 
As per schedule of requirement. 

ITB 1.2 The Bidders are particularly advised to pay attention to the IT Requirements of 
Purchaser (Annexure-B – 5D BIM). 

ITB 2.1 The name of the Project is : Pune Metro Rail Project 
 
The Purchaser specified in the BDS is in the process of applying for part financing of the 
entire project from external agency. However, this work is being funded through equity 
from Government of India & Government of Maharashtra.   

ITB 4.1 Maximum No. of JV/CONSORTIUM Members allowed is THREE (03). 
 
The lead member in case of a JV/Consortium shall be the one who has the maximum 
experience of supply of Turnouts to the user rail administration among the members of 
JV/Consortium and shall have maximum % share in the JV/Consortium. 
 
In a JV/Consortium, the Lead Member must have a minimum of 40% participation. 
 
Members having less than 20% participation will be termed as non-substantial partner and 
will not be considered for evaluation which means that their financial soundness and 
work experience shall not be considered for evaluation of JV/Consortium. 
 
Performance Guarantee should be submitted by lead partner in case of a JV/Consortium. 

ITB 4.2(e) No Bidder can be a subcontractor while submitting a Bid individually or as a partner of a 
JV/Consortium in the same bidding process. A Bidder, if acting in the capacity of 
subcontractor in any Bid, may participated in more than one Bid, but only in that 
capacity. 

ITB 4.5 This Bidding process is in Single stage two-packet system through e-tender portal of 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited. Unless otherwise approved by the 
Purchaser, the Bids for this Contract will be considered only from those companies, 
corporation, partnerships, consortia and joint ventures who pass the Eligibility Criteria 
under Section-III based on submissions with the Bid. Technical bids of only such eligible 
Bidders will be evaluated. 

ITB 4.7  
(New Para) 

A firm, who has purchased the Bidding Document in their name, can submit the Bid either 
as individual firm or in JV/Consortium. 

ITB 4.9 
(New Para) 

In case, the Bidder is a JV/Consortium, a detailed Consortium Agreement between the 
Members of such Consortium stating clearly their inter-relationship and division of work 
and obligations among the Members as mentioned in ITB 4.13 below should be submitted 
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along with the Bid for proper examination by Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation 
Limited.  

ITB 4.10 
(New Para) 

Further, a Power of Attorney signed by all the JV/Consortium Members duly supported 
by their board resolutions must also accompany the Bid authorizing the Lead Member, 
inter-alia, to submit the Bid on their behalf. The formats of the Power of Attorney as 
well as the board resolution are provided in Section IV: Bidding Form (Form 5.18). As the 
Contract Agreement will be required to be executed by all other Members of the 
JV/Consortium also in addition to signing by the Lead Member, therefore each of such 
other Members is required to issue a Power of Attorney authorizing an individual as its 
authorized signatory, inter alia, to sign the Contract Agreement. The format of the Power 
of Attorney is provided in Section IV: Bidding Form (Form 5.18). 

ITB 4.11 
(New Para) 

Every Bidder, be it a single entity or a JV/Consortium, is required to submit along with 
its Bid a Power of Attorney duly signed and stamped and supported by its board resolution 
authorizing an individual as its authorized signatory, inter alia, to sign and submit the 
Bid. The formats of the Power of Attorney as well as the board resolution are provided 
in Section IV: Bidding Form (Form 5.18). In case of JV/Consortium, such power of attorney 
and board resolution must be executed and passed respectively by the Lead Member. 

ITB 4.12 
(New Para) 

The mode of execution of the power of attorney should be in accordance with the 
procedure, if any laid down by the applicable law and the charter documents of the 
executant(s) and when it is so required the same should be under common seal affixed 
in accordance with the required procedure. 
 
For a Power of Attorney executed and issued overseas, the document will also have to 
be legalized by the Indian Embassy and/or notarized in the jurisdiction where the Power 
of Attorney is being issued. However, the Power of Attorney provided by a Bidder from a 
country which has signed The Hague Legislation Convention 1961 is not required to be 
legalized by the Indian Embassy if it carries a conforming Apostille certificate. 
 
This power of attorney should be registered at appropriate authority in the jurisdiction 
& as per that law of the country, where the Power of Attorney is being issued and easily 
verifiable. 

ITB 4.13 
(New Para) 

Where the Bidder is a JV/Consortium, the Bidder shall submit the following additional 
information to meet the qualification criteria for eligibility: 
(a) A Memorandum of Understanding / Consortium Agreement shall be provided duly 

notarized by the notary public of country of origin and should be stamped by Embassy 
/ High Commission. Bidders from Member Countries of Hague convention may submit 
all these documents with “Apostille” stamp instead of Embassy. 

(b) nomination of one of the Members of the JV/Consortium  to be in-charge (“Lead 
member”); and this authorization shall be covered in the Power of Attorney signed 
by the legally authorized signatories of all Members of JV/Consortium. 

(c) details of the intended financial participation by each member shall be furnished 
with complete details of the proposed division of responsibilities and relationships 
among the individual Members. 

(d) The Lead member shall be authorized to incur liabilities, receive payment (if 
provided for in MoU / Consortium Agreement) and receive instructions for and on 
behalf of any or all Members of the JV/Consortium. 

(e) All members of the JV/Consortium shall be jointly and severally responsible for the 
execution of the Contract in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Contract. 

(f) In case of the Bidder being Successful, the JV/Consortium Agreement shall be 
registered at any place in India so as be legally valid and binding on all partners / 
members 

(g) The Bid shall be signed so as to be legally binding on all the Members of the 
JV/Consortium. 

ITB 4.14 
(New Para) 

The Bidder shall submit with the Bid full details of its ownership and control or, if the 
Bidder is a JV/Consortium, full details of ownership and control of each Member thereof.   
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ITB 4.15 
(New Para) 

Indian Bidders, or Indian Members of a JV/Consortium shall submit, a copy of the 
Permanent Account Number (PAN) issued by the Income Tax Authorities and a certified 
copy of the last 3 years (including the latest Financial Year) income tax return, duly 
acknowledged by Income Tax department with their Bid and the Technical Package. In 
case the Indian member of a JV/Consortium is a wholly owned 100% subsidiary of their 
foreign partner in the said JV/Consortium and this Indian company has been formed less 
than 3 years ago, the certified copy of the latest Financial Year income tax return 
(applicable only if company was formed more than a year ago), duly acknowledged by 
Income Tax department shall be submitted in the Technical Package. 
 
The foreign partner of the JV/Consortium shall submit appropriate documents pertaining 
to their financial capability/ audited balance sheets and clearances of taxes as per the 
relevant law of the country of their origin. 

ITB 4.16 
(New Para) 

Each Bidder (each Member in the case of a JV/Consortium) is required to confirm and 
declare with its Bid that no agent, middleman or any intermediary has been, or will be, 
engaged to provide any services, or any other item or work related to the award and 
performance of this Contract. Such Bidder or Member will have to further confirm and 
declare in the Bid that no agency commission or any payment which may be construed as 
an agency commission has been, or will be, paid and that the Contract Price will not 
include any such amount. If the Purchaser subsequently finds to the contrary, the 
Purchaser reserves the right to declare the Bidder as non-compliant and declare any 
Contract if already awarded to the Bidder to be null and void.  

ITB 4.17 
(New Para) 

Canvassing or offer of an advantage or any other inducement by any person with a view 
to influencing acceptance of a Bid will be an offence under laws of India. Such action will 
result in the rejection of the Bid, in addition to other punitive measures. 

ITB 5.2 
(New Para) 

Bidders are encouraged (Not mandatory & Binding) to adopt Indian sources to the 
maximum possible extent. However, all plant, materials, supplies, equipment and 
services shall be to the satisfaction of the Purchaser and Engineer. The information on 
all plant, materials, supplies, equipment and services included in the Contractor’s 
Proposal and incorporated into the Contract shall not, in any event, be construed as a 
submission to the Purchaser under the Contract. Contractor will be required to take 
specific approval of the Purchaser for deployment of plant, materials, supplies, 
equipment and services in accordance with the Conditions of Contract and Purchaser’s 
Requirements. The Tenderer should note the requirements for transfer of technology. 

B. BIDDING DOCUMENTS 

ITB 6.1 The Bidding Documents consist of Parts 1, 2, 3 and 4, which include all the Sections 
indicated below, and should be read in conjunction with any Addenda issued in 
accordance with ITB 8.2. 
 
PART 1 - Bidding Procedures 
Section I  Instructions to Bidders 
Section II  Bidding Data Sheet (BDS) 
Section III  Evaluation and Qualification Criteria 
Section III-A Domestic Preference - Provision under “Make In India Policy-2017” 
Section IV  Bidding Forms 
Section V  Eligibility Criteria and Social and environment responsibility 
Section VI     Agency Policy Corrupt and Fraudulent Practices 
 
PART 2    Supply Requirements 
Section VII    Schedule of Requirements 
 
PART 3   Conditions of Contract and Contract Forms 
Section VIII   General Conditions of Contract (GCC) 
Section IX     Particular Conditions of Contract (PCC) 
Section X      Contract Forms 
 
PART 4   E-Tender 

(E-Tender Procedures) Annexure-A – Toolkit for using e-tender portal 
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Annexure B – IT 5D BIM 

ITB 6.3 As this is a e-tender and all relevant document are available on E-tender Portal of Maha-
Metro hence the Purchaser is not responsible for the completeness of the Bidding 
Documents, responses to requests for clarifications, the minutes of the pre-bid meeting 
(if any), or Addenda to the Bidding Documents in accordance with ITB 8.2(Downloaded / 
Uploaded by Bidder). In case of any contradiction, documents available / uploaded on E-
Tender portal of Purchaser shall prevail. 

ITB 6.4 Following is added to existing ITB 6.4 
 
Failure to comply with the requirements of the Bidding Documents and to furnish all 
information required by the Bidding Documents or submission of a Bid not substantially 
responsive to the Bidding Documents in every respect will be at the Bidder’s risk and may 
result in rejection of its Bid. 

ITB 6.5 
(New Para) 

The Bidder shall not make or cause to be made any alternation, erasure or obliteration to 
the text of the Bid Documents. 

ITB 6.6 
(New Para) 

The documents including the Bid Documents and all attached documents provided by 
Maha-Metro are and shall remain or become the property of Maha-Metro and are 
transmitted to the Bidders solely for the purpose of preparation and the submission of a 
Bid in accordance herewith. The provision of this Para shall also apply mutatis mutandis 
to the Bids and all other documents submitted by the Bidders, & Maha-Metro will not 
return to the Bidders any Bid, document or any information provided along therewith. 

ITB 6.7 
(New Para) 

Contents of Supporting Documents 

ITB 6.7.1 
(New Para) 

The references documents, reports, drawings containing site information included in the 
Bidding Documents are for general information only and any interpretation of the results 
shall be construed as opinions only and not as representations or warranties as to the 
actual site conditions. The Bidders’ attention is specifically drawn to ITB 6.7.3 below.  

ITB 6.7.2 
(New Para) 

The Bidders shall note the existence of over ground, at grade, utilities and infrastructure 
in the near vicinity of the Works to be constructed. 

ITB 6.7.3 
(New Para) 

The accuracy or reliability of the documents and reports referred to in this Para ITB 6.7 
and of any other information supplied, prepared or commissioned at any time by the 
Purchaser or others in connection with the Contract is not warranted. The Bidders’ 
attention is drawn to Clause 4.10 of GC / Clause 6 of PC in this regard. The Bidder should 
visit, examine and assess the Site including working conditions and will be deemed to have 
satisfied himself of the risks and obligations under the Contract. 

ITB 7.1 For Clarification of bid purposes only, all correspondence to be made through mail to 
the below mentioned email address & addressed to GM, Procurement, Maharashtra 
Metro Rail Corporation Limited. 
Email address: - mahametro.tenders@gmail.com 
 
All correspondence from Maha-Metro pertaining to this Bid till award of the work shall be 
done by authorized representative of Maha-Metro. The Bidders are advised to regularly 
check their email ID registered with their user account at e-tendering portal 
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in for any update/ addendum/corrigendum/ pre-tender 
and post-bid queries/any other correspondence by the Purchaser. 

ITB 7.1.1 
(Additional 

para) 

Should the Bidder for any reason whatsoever, be in doubt about the meaning of anything 
contained in the Bid Documents or the extent of detail in the Works Requirements (General 
Specification and Technical Specification) and Bidding Drawings, the Bidder shall seek 
clarification from Maha-Metro, not later than the date specified. Bidders are advised to 
use the format attached in Section IV: Bidding Forms (Form for seeking clarification) while 
seeking clarifications. 

ITB 7.1.2 
(Additional 

para) 

Maha-Metro will comply with the principle of equal opportunity and fair treatment to 
respond to the questions / queries raised or clarifications sought by the Bidders on or 
before the date mentioned in BDS at ITB 7.1 above. All reply of queries and 
clarifications, in writing shall be up loaded on e-tender portal of Maha-Metro accessible 
to all prospective bidder. No verbal clarification shall be replied except the queries 
pertaining to the procedures of submission and uploading of bid on e-tender portal. 

mailto:mahametro.tenders@gmail.com
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
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ITB 7.1.3 
(Additional 

para) 

Maha-Metro may also on its own motion, if deemed necessary, issue interpretations and 
clarifications to all Bidders and shall be published on e-Bid portal of Maha-Metro. All 
clarifications and interpretations issued by Maha-Metro shall be deemed to be part of the 
Bid Documents. Verbal clarifications and information given by Maha-Metro or its 
employees or representatives shall not in any way or manner be binding on Maha-Metro. 

ITB 7.3 The bidder may send such queries either by post to the address mentioned in the bid 
documents or by e-mail: - mahametro.tenders@gmail.com  

ITB 7.4 A Pre-Bid meeting shall take place at the following date, time and place: 
Date & Time: As per NIT 
Place: Office of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited, 1st Floor, The Orion, 
Opposite Don Bosco Youth Centre, Koregaon Park, Pune-411001. 

ITB 8.2 Such modification in the form of an addendum will be uploaded on the e-Bidding portal 
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in within the date given in NIT, which shall be available 
for all the prospective Bidders who have purchased the Bidding Documents in the Bid period. 
Without prejudice to the general order of precedence prescribed in the Clause 1.5 of GCC 
and Clause 1 of SCC, the provisions in any such addenda shall take priority over the Invitation 
to Bidders and Bidding Documents previously issued. Bidder shall ensure these documents 
should be submitted along with their original Bid documents submission. These all 
addendums, corrigendum and clarifications shall be part of the contract agreement. 

C. PREPARATION OF BIDS 

ITB 10.1 
 

The language of the bid is English. 
 
All correspondence exchange shall be in the English language. Language for translation of 
supporting documents and printed literature is English. 
 
Supporting documents related to eligibility criteria enclosed with the bid, other than 
English Language, should be translated into English and will have to be endorsed by the 
Indian Embassy or notarized / registered with appropriate statutory authority in the 
jurisdiction where the supporting document is being issued. 
 
However, such documents provided by a Bidder from a country which has signed The 
Hague Legislation Convention 1961 is not required to be endorsed by the Indian 
Embassy, if it carries a conforming Apostille Certificate. 
 
The Bidder should provide the relevant contact number and E-mail ID along with the 
postal address, in English, of issuing authority / agency of such documents for 
verification purpose. 

ITB 11 Documents Comprising the Bid. 
Replace the Para 11 and its Sub-Paras with the following: 

ITB 11.1 General Requirements 

ITB 11.1.1 All documents issued for the purposes of bidding as described in ITB 7, and any 
amendments issued thereof shall be deemed as incorporated in the Bid. 

ITB 11.1.2 The Bidder shall, on or before the date and time given in the Notice of Invitation to Bid 
upload his Bid on e-tendering portal https://mahametrorail.etenders.inin accordance 
with provisions in ITB 22.1. 
 
The Bidder shall, on or before the date given in NIT, submit his Bid online and follow 
the procedure and steps of E-Tender portal of Maha-Metro Details have been given in 
E-Toolkit given in Annexure-II-A. 
 
Cost of the Bid: Paid online through E-Tender portal. 
Bid Security: Part(a) – Paid online through E-Tender portal. 
Part(b) – Scanned Copy of BG to be uploaded 
 
Technical Package: To be submitted at appropriate place i.e. Technical Envelope on e-
tender portal. 
 

mailto:mahametro.tenders@gmail.com
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
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Financial Package: Financial bid form to be duly filled up directly in the Commercial 
Envelope only on e-tender portal and not anywhere else. 
• Bidder should ensure that the no part of the Financial Bid should be up-loaded 

anywhere in the Technical envelope, if the bidder does so then his bid will be 
rejected out rightly. 

• The original Bank Guarantee (Part(b) of Bid Security shall be submitted within three 
working days from the last date stipulated for submission of bid at the office of Maha-
Metro at address given above. 

Bill of Quantities also referred to as the Pricing Schedule. 

ITB 11.1 
(d) 

Alternative bid is not permissible. 

ITB 11.1 (i) The bid documents shall include the bid document including corrigendum/ addendum/ 
clarifications provided by the Purchaser during the course before submission of Bid. Failure by 
the bidder to upload the same shall render the bid to be considered as non-responsive and the 
bid shall not be validated. 

ITB 11.2 Bid Security: Refer BDS ITB 19.1 below 

ITB 11.3 
(Additional 

para) 

Technical Package 

ITB 11.3.1 The Bidder shall submit / upload (through digital signature of authorized person in e-
tender portal of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited) in the Technical Package of 
its Bid the following documents, duly completed, which in the event of acceptance of 
the Bid, shall form part of the Contract: 
i. Complete bid documents along with addendum/ corrigendum/ clarifications & 

reply of queries issued online to be down loaded by bidder using DSC of authorized 
signatory of bidders or JV/Consortium only and entire document to be uploaded by 
bidder on E-Tender portal of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited through 
the same digital signature of the Bidder. 

ii. Physical Sign & Seal of bidder on each page of bid documents available online is 
not required. 

iii. Copy of Power of Attorney signing the bid of bidder or of Lead member in case of 
JV/Consortium. 

iv. Scanned copy of Bid Security (Cash as well as BG component refer E-Tender Notice) 
v. Scanned copy of POA of each member & Lead member in case of JV/Consortium. 
vi. All relevant formats given in Section-IV: Bidding format. Physically signed by 

authorized signatory/POA of bidders or Lead Member in case of JV/Consortium. 
vii. Certificate of registration and other statutory documents of formation of bidder’s 

company or JV/Consortium or each members of JV/Consortium (If not incorporated 
yet) issued by appropriate authority. 

viii. Copy of PAN card of bidder. (PAN card of Indian member of JV/Consortium, if 
JV/Consortium consists Foreign member) 

ix. Copy of all financial documents as directed in Section-III. 
x. Relevant work experience certificate (in line of Section-III: Evaluation and 

Qualification Criteria) and other qualifications certificates as given in Evaluation 
of Qualification under Section III. 

xi. All format of Section-IV and other enclosure, certificates stated above or desired 
elsewhere in the bid documents shall be physically filled, signed and stamped by 
authorized signatory / POA of bidder or POA of Lead Member of JV/Consortium and 
scanned copies of such enclosures / documents should be uploaded on e-tender 
portal of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited along with bid documents. 

xii. Declaration of undertaking. 

 
Failure to submit parts of the above documents will lead to rejection of the bid. 

ITB 11.4 The enclosures meant for Technical Package shall be uploaded with Technical Envelope 
and Financial enclosures (If any) shall be uploaded with Commercial Envelope on E-
Tender Portal of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited only. 
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ITB 11.5 
(Additional 

para) 

Financial Package 

ITB 11.5.1 
(Additional 

para) 

Completed Pricing Schedule including all costs associated with or required to be incurred 
for the purpose of execution of the Contract in accordance with the terms thereof. The 
Bid Total Price including Taxes and Duties, Unit Prices of Items also. The price to be 
quoted shall be the total price of the Bid as elaborated in Price Schedule. 

ITB 11.5.3 
(Additional 

para) 

The Financial Package should be separately completed, each page duly signed and stamped 
and submitted / uploaded as per procedure in e-Bid portal. No pricing information shall be 
submitted in any manner except in the Financial Proposal. 
 
The Financial Bid and price schedule or any pricing information, if submitted by the Bidder 
along with the Technical Proposal or in any other manner other than the Financial Proposal 
provided in Part 4 (price to be quoted/uploaded in the commercial envelope of e-Bid 
portal only), will render the bid liable for rejection. 

ITB 12.2 
(Additional 

para) 

The Letter of Bid with all Schedules/ Forms shall be completed and signed by a duly 
authorized and empowered representative of the Bidder. If the Bidder comprises a 
JV/Consortium the Letter of Bid shall be signed by a duly authorized representative of 
the Lead Member. 
  
Signatures on the Letter of Bid shall be witnessed and dated. Copies of relevant powers 
of attorney shall be attached. 

ITB 13.1 Alternative bids shall not be permitted under ITB 13. 

ITB 14.1 No discounts are allowed. 

ITB 14.2 Replace provisions of ITB 14.2 with the following: 
 
The Pricing Schedule/Pricing Document is included in bid document as Price 
Schedule Forms - 5.10 to 5.13. 
 
The Bidder shall complete the Pricing Document in accordance with the instructions 
given therein. The completed Pricing Document shall be submitted with the Letter of 
Financial Bid. 

ITB 14.3 The prices quoted by the Bidder shall be fixed and not adjustable. Bidder should not 
quote any price in letter of bid. 

ITB 14.4 Prices should be quoted for each item of Turnouts, scissors crossovers & derailing switch 
as per schedule of requirement. No discounts are allowed. 

ITB 14.5 The Incoterms edition is Incoterms 2010. 

ITB 14.6 For price adjustment / variation, refer to instructions / conditions provided in the 
Section IX-Particular Conditions of Contract Sub-Clause 15.1. 

ITB 14.8  
(b) (i) 

Place of Destination: Pune  

ITB 14.8 
(a) (iii);(b) 

(ii) and 
(c)(v) 

Final destination (Project Site): Range Hill depot (Agricultural College Area)/Vanaz 
Depot Pune or at any other location in Pune Metropolitan Region as directed by the 
Engineer and Delivery should be on DDP/Pune. 

ITB 14.8 
(Additional 

para) 

Waiver of Taxes / concessional custom duty etc 
1) The Purchaser may get, from the Government, partial or complete waiver of taxes 

under GST, royalties, Labour, cess, and other levies payable to various authorities. 
The successful Bidder (the Contractor) shall maintain meticulous records of all the 
taxes and duties paid under GST etc. and provide the same with each running bill. In 
case the waiver becomes effective, the Contractor will be advised on the process to 
be followed to obtain the refund from the concerned authority. The Contractor shall 
arrange for the remit of the refund to the Purchaser. In case of failure by the 
Contractor to remit such amounts, the same shall be recovered from amounts due 
for payment to the Contractor. The Pro forma of undertaking is provided in Part-2: 
Bidding Form (Form 21). 

2) The rates quoted are DDP/Pune inclusive Custom duty. Delivery should be on DDP 
(Delivered Duty paid) basis as per bid document inclusive of all GST taxes, levies, cess 
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and custom duty etc. as per applicable in the purchaser’s country.  Custom duty to be 
paid by the supplier, which is not to be reimbursed by Maharashtra Metro Rail 
Corporation Limited. 

 
All the work of project imports registration & custom/port clearance to be done by 
supplier at own cost. Maha-Metro will facilitate recommendation/sponsoring letter from 
Ministry of Urban Development/ Government of India for Project import registration. 
 
The Contractor shall maintain details all type of taxes paid under GST Laws of India and 
submit: 
· Certificate of the Chartered Accountant in regard to turnover of the Contractor relating 

to Maha-Metro. 
· The successful Bidder (the Contractor) shall maintain meticulous records in regard to 

deposit of taxes and duties paid under GST etc. and provide the same with each running 
bill. 

· The Contractor also will have to submit 'No Dues Certificate' for the year / period as 
and when required by Maha-Metro. 

· The full and final payment to Contractor will be made only after documents as required 
above are furnished by him and checked by Maha-Metro. 

 
All payments will be subject to TDS provisions under various Laws in force from time to 
time in India. 
 
In case import of goods, GST shall not be applicable. 
 
In view of above, the Bidders are advised to quote the price inclusive of all Central/State 
/local taxes, duties, levies, cess and all other incidental charges required to fulfill the 
bidding conditions including statutory deduction viz., TDS towards Income Tax / Works 
Contract Tax etc. after considering ITB 14.7 to 14.18 above. 
 
The Purchaser may get, from the Government, partial or complete waiver of taxes, 
royalties, duties, Labour, cess, octroi, and other levies payable to various authorities. 
The successful Bidder (the Contractor) shall maintain meticulous records of all the taxes 
and duties paid and provide the same with each running bill. In case the waiver becomes 
effective, the Contractor will be advised on the process to be followed to obtain the 
refund from the concerned authority. The Contractor shall arrange for the remit of the 
refund to the Purchaser. In case of failure by the Contractor to remit such amounts, the 
same shall be recovered from amounts due for payment to the Contractor. The Pro forma 
of undertaking is provided in Section IV: Bidding Form (Form 21). 
 
With the Bid submission, the Bidder shall submit the Proforma of undertaking provided 
in Section IV: Bidding Form (Form 22) stating that registrations under various fiscal and 
labour laws like GST, Profession Tax, Import Export Code, Employee State Insurance, 
Provident Fund, Maharashtra Labour Welfare Fund, shall be obtained by the bidders in 
the event of award of the work. 

ITB 14.9 
(New Para) 

The Bidder shall submit its Bid without any deviations to the Bid Documents. 

ITB 14.10 
(New Para) 

The Purchaser may get, from the Government, partial or complete waiver of taxes 
under GST, royalties, Labour, cess, and other levies payable to various authorities. The 
successful Bidder (the Contractor) shall maintain meticulous records of all the taxes 
and duties paid under GST etc. and provide the same with each running bill. In case 
the waiver becomes effective, the Contractor will be advised on the process to be 
followed to obtain the refund from the concerned authority. The Contractor shall 
arrange for the remit of the refund to the Purchaser. In case of failure by the 
Contractor to remit such amounts, the same shall be recovered from amounts due for 
payment to the Contractor.  

ITB 14.11 
(New Para) 

Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited project is covered under Project Import 
Chapter 98.01 of Custom Tariff Act according to which only concessional custom duty 
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is payable. The Bidder should avail this benefit and pass on the benefit of the same to 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited. 
 
As regards registration under Project Import, after the award of the contract, 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited at the written request of Contractor shall 
facilitate the Contractor for obtaining sponsoring / recommendation letter from the 
Ministry of Urban Development / Government of Maharashtra for getting themselves 
registered for availing Project Import benefits. The responsibility to avail the 
concessional benefits under Project Import shall solely rest with the Contractor. 

ITB 14.12 
(New Para) 

The Contractor shall maintain details of Taxes paid/payable under GST Law and 
submit: 
• Certificate of a Chartered Accountant  in regard to turnover & other details of GST 

related to the project of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited. 
• All payments will be subject to TDS provisions in force from time to time. 

ITB 14.13 
(New Para) 

In view of above, the Bidders are advised to quote the price inclusive of all Taxes, and 
Duties as per Goods & Services (GST) Act, net of input credit (if any) and Custom Tariff 
Act etc., Royalties, Cess etc. and all other incidental charges required to fulfill the 
bidding conditions including statutory deduction viz., TDS towards Income Tax / Works 
Contract Tax etc. after considering ITB 14.7 to 14.12 above. 

ITB 15.1 The currency of the Bid shall be Indian National Rupees (INR) or equivalent foreign 
currencies (US Dollar/ Euro) on the day of bid submission and the source of exchange 
rate shall be the exchange rate published by Financial Benchmarks India Private Limited 
(FBIL).  
  
The currency(ies) of the payment currency(ies) shall be Indian National Rupees (INR) 
or equivalent foreign currencies as decided by the bidder. The commission paid 
towards the exchange of foreign currencies shall be recovered from the bill of the 
contractor. 

ITB 16.4 Period of time the Goods are expected to be functioning (for the purpose of spare 
parts): Not Applicable. 

ITB 17.2 
(a) 

Manufacturer's authorization is required. 

ITB 17.2(b) After sales service is: not required. 

ITB 18.1 The bid validity period shall be 180 days. 

ITB 18.3(a) The bid price shall not be adjusted in event of delay of award. 

ITB 19.1 A Bid Security is required in one part (In Indian Rupees):  
(a) The total bid security amount shall be INR 1.25 (one point two five) Million 
submitted in the form of unconditioned guarantee issued by any Nationalized or 
Scheduled Commercial Bank of Indian origin or Scheduled commercial foreign bank 
having business office in India. In the form of Bid Security as per Form 5.14 in Section-
IV: Bidding Forms.  
(b) A scanned copy of this BG is to be uploaded online and the Bidder should ensure 
physical submission of the original bank guarantee at the office of MAHA-METRO at 
address specified in Bidding Documents, within 3 working days from the time and last 
date scheduled for handing over the Bidding Documents (online).  
(c) If the Bidder fails to submit the scanned copy at the aforesaid (b. above) or fails to 
submit the original bank guarantee (b. above), his bid shall not be considered for 
opening & shall be rejected outright.  
 
(d) Bankers Detail of Purchaser for issuance of BG for Bid Security as per SFMS Bank 
 
1. BANK NAME: Bank of Maharashtra 
2. Branch with Address: 01150 PUNE MAIN BRANCH, LOKMANGAL,1501, SHIVAJINAGAR, 

PUNE-411005 
3. Bank Account Name: Pune Metro Rail MAHARASHTRA METRO RAIL CORP LTD  
4. Bank Account No.: 60274237292 
5. Bank Account type: Current Account 
6. IFS Code: MAHB0001150 
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ITB 19.2 Bid Securing Declaration is not permitted. 

ITB 19.8 The Bid security, in both the forms, as specified in ITB 19.1 above shall be submitted 
by the lead member in case of JV/Consortium. 

ITB 19.9 Not applicable as Bid Security is required in this bid. 

ITB 20.1 Replacement for ITB as under: - 
Bid to be submitted through e-Bid portal of Maha-Metro only. 
 
The Bidder shall prepare, and upload scanned copy of the Bid Security (BG part), the 
documents for Pre-Qualification Package, Technical Package of the Bid, and the 
Financial Package of the Bid, along with the entire bid document digitally signed by 
the authorized representative of the bidder described in ITB 11. 

ITB 20.2 ***The entire Bid Document available on e-Bid portal of Maha-Metro with all corrigendum 
and Addendum issued from time to time and requisite and enclosures described and 
directed in bid documents shall be up loaded on the e-Bid portal of Maha-Metro by the 
authorized representative/ signatory on behalf of the bidder with his digital signature. 
The bidder who fails to upload as mentioned aforesaid, his bids shall be treated as non-
responsive and not considered for evaluation. 
 
The written confirmation of authorization to sign on behalf of the Bidder shall consist 
of: 
 
A written power of attorney authorizing the signatories of the Bid to commit each 
member of the JV/CONSORTIUM. The power of attorney(ies) shall be substantially in 
the format provided under Section IV: Bidding Forms of these Bidding Documents. 

D. SUBMISSION AND OPENING OF BIDS 

ITB 21.1 As stipulated in ITB 20.1 and 20.2 above. 
ITB 21.2 As stipulated in ITB 20.1 and 20.2 above. 
ITB 21.4 

(New Para) 
Bids shall be submitted through e-Bid portal of Maha-Metro only with clearly marked 
'Technical Bid', containing documents comprising the Technical Package in accordance 
with the provisions of ITB, and the other clearly marked 'Financial Bid', containing 
Schedule of Prices or the Pricing Documents in accordance with the provisions of ITB 
14.16 at appropriate section of E-Bid Portal of Maha-Metro. 

ITB 22.1 For bid submission purposes: - 
 
No physical submission of bid is allowed. The bid submission has to be strictly done 
through e-tender portal of Maha-Metro. 
 
The deadline for online submission of bids is: Date: ##.##.2018 Time: Uptill16:00 Hrs 
 
Bidders must submit their bids electronically only. The electronic bidding submission 
procedures shall be: 
 
The electronic bidding submission procedures shall be as per (E - Tender procedure) 
Annexure at Part 4: (Toolkit for using Maha-Metro e-tender portal). 
 
The Bidder shall, on or before the date and time given in the Notice inviting Bid, upload 
his Bid on e-tendering portal (https://mahametrorail.etenders.in) Bidders may refer to e-
tender procedures (Toolkit for using e-tender portal) at Annexure at Part 4 of 
document. 
 
The Bidders shall furnish the information strictly as per the formats given in the Bid 
documents without any ambiguity. The Maha-Metro shall not be held responsible if the 
failure of any Bidder to provide the information in the prescribed formats results in a lack 
of clarity in the interpretation and consequent disqualification of its Bid. 
 
In case of support or help required during online submission or difficulty encountered 
during online submission, the Bidders may contact the following officials: 
1. Tushar Sontakke (Tender Executive): 9167969608 

https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
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2. Prashant Jadhav (Consultant): 020-26051074 

ITB 23.2 
(Additional 

Para) 

Maha-Metro will not be responsible for any delay, internet connection failure or any error 
in uploading the Bid submission. The Bidders are advised to upload their submissions well 
before the due date and time of Bid submission to avoid any problems and last-minute rush. 
There is no provision in the online system for late submission in the e- tender portal of 
Maha-Metro. 

ITB 23.3 
(Additional 

Para) 

The Purchaser may, at his discretion, extend the deadline for submission of Bids by issuing 
an amendment in accordance with ITB, in which case all rights and obligations of the 
Purchaser and the Bidders previously subject to the original deadline will thereafter be 
subject to the deadline as extended. 

ITB 24.1 (a, 
b) & ITB 

24.2 

Bidders may withdraw, substitute or modify its bid prior to the closing date and time of 
bid submission. However, as the provision of the e-tender portal, bid security paid online 
cannot be reverted back by bidder themselves in the event of withdrawal of bid. However, 
in case the bidder wants to modify the bid submitted within the stipulated time and date 
(i.e. before closing date and time of submission) mentioned in the bid document for 
submission of the bid then he may opt for the procedure as specified in the e-tender 
portal https://maharmetrorail.etenders.in in e-tendering toolkit for bidders. 

ITB 25.1, 
ITB 25.2 

 

The bid opening shall take place at: 
 
General Manager (Procurement) 
MAHARASHTRA METRO RAIL CORPORATION LTD 
Pune Metro Rail Project 
101, The Orion, Opposite Don Bosco Youth Centre, 
Koregaon Park, Pune - 411001 
Telephone: 020-26051072 
Date: As per NIT 

The mode of Biding being only e-Biding mode no physical submission of bid is allowed. 
The electronic bid opening procedure shall be: The Technical Envelope/ Packages of 
Online Submitted Bids shall be opened (downloaded) first by the opening 
committee on due date and time of Bid opening in presence of bidders who choose 
to remain present. 

No minimum number of bids is required in order to proceed to bid opening. 

Add following paragraph below the existing paragraph of ITB 25.1: 

The Bid Security will be checked for the submission of scanned copy of B.G component of 
bid from the downloaded documents of technical bid submitted by the bidders and details 
will be read out for the information of representative of Bidders, present at the time of 
opening of Bid. The bidders present shall be informed to sign on attendance sheet about 
their presence for the bid opening (downloading). 

After evaluation of Technical Bid received electronically via E-Bid portal of 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited, the Financial / Commercial Package/ 
Envelope of bid of technically successful bidder shall be opened. The date & time of 
opening of Financial Bid shall be communicated to Technically Successful bidder 
electronically (E-mail).  

ITB 25.5 
(New Para) 

After the evaluation of the Technical Proposals in accordance with ITB 27,28, 29 and 
ITB 30, the Purchaser shall prepare a list of responsive Bidders for opening of their 
Financial Proposals. A date, time and venue will be electronically notified to all Bidders 
for announcing the result of evaluation and opening of Financial Proposals. The opening 
of Financial Proposals shall be done in presence of respective representatives of 
responsive Bidders who choose to be present. 

ITB 25.6 
(New Para) 

The Financial Package will be opened on a subsequent date after evaluation of 
Technical Packages. Financial packages of only those Bidders whose submissions are 
found substantially responsive and technically compliant will be opened. The time of 
opening of Financial Package shall be informed separately to only the Bidders who have 
qualified during Pre-Qualification and Technical evaluation stages and Bidders can be 
present to witness opening of Financial Package. 
 

https://maharmetrorail.etenders.in/
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No Bid shall be rejected at the opening of Price Bids. 
 
The Purchaser shall prepare a record of the opening of Price Bids that shall include, as 
a minimum: the name of the Bidder, the ‘BID TOTAL LUMPSUM PRICE’ and Pricing for 
unqualified withdrawal as per Pricing Document. 

E. EVALUATION AND COMPARISION OF BIDS 

ITB 29.5 
(Additional 

Para) 

Bidders may note that pursuant to their qualification in the ‘Qualification and 
Evaluation Criteria’ and ‘Technical Evaluation’ as per ITB 29.4 above, in case the Bidder 
(applies to each individual member in case of a JV/Consortium is debarred/blacklisted 
by Government of India/State Government/ Government undertaking after the due 
date of submission of Bid but before opening of financial package by Maha-Metro, they 
shall inform the same to Maha-Metro in writing within 5 working days of issue of such 
debarment, failing which it will be considered that the Bidder has willfully concealed 
the information and the Bidder shall be solely responsible for all implications that may 
arise in accordance with the conditions of this Bid. Any such debarment will result in 
disqualification of the Bidder and the Financial Package of such Bidder shall be 
returned unopened. 

ITB 30.3 Not Applicable. 

ITB 32.1 The currency that shall be used for bid evaluation and comparison purposes to 
convert all bid prices expressed in different currencies into a single currency is: 
Indian Rupees  
 
the source of exchange rate shall be the exchange rate published by Financial 
Benchmarks India Private Limited (FBIL) as applicable under ITB 15.1: 
 

1) For purpose of evaluation of past experience in technical package, the date 
for the exchange rate shall be close of business on the day twenty-eight (28) 
days before the latest date of bid submission. If exchange rate is not 
published on that day, published exchange rate of the nearest previous day  
of the said 28th day mentioned in this sub-para, shall be taken into 
consideration.   

2) For comparisons and evaluations of financial bids the exchange rate shall be 
the rate on last date stipulated for submission of the bid. If exchange rate is 
not published on that day, published exchange rate of the nearest previous  
day of the said last date in this sub-para, shall be taken into consideration.   
 

 

ITB 33.1 
(Additional 

Para) 

Domestic Preference – In terms of the Public Procurement (Preference to Make of 
India), Order 2017 dated 15.06.2017 is applicable. 

ITB 35.2 Evaluation will be done for entire items and quantities as Single Lot as mentioned in 
schedule of requirement. 

ITB 35.5 
 

The bidder has to include in the price schedule form, expenditure towards all the 
charges as mentioned below while quoting the rates. 

The rates quoted are DDP/Pune inclusive Custom duty. Delivery should be on DDP 
(Delivered Duty paid) basis as per bid document inclusive of all GST taxes, levies, cess 
and custom duty etc. as per applicable in the purchaser’s country.  

The materials shall be delivered duly stacked in Range Hill depot (Agricultural College 
Area)/Vanaz Depot Pune or at any other location in PUNE METROPOLITAN REGION as 
directed by the Engineer. Loading & unloading has to be done by supplier only. 
Unloading of Turnouts/Scissors Cross-over will be done from trailer at the cost of 
supplier in countable manner as specified in Railway Guidelines for stacking as 
applicable. 

The quoted price shall include all packing & handling charges both prior to shipping and at 
the time of shipping, ocean freight charges, marine insurance charges. The quoted price shall 
also include cost of sea port charges, charges for clearances of materials from port, handling 
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/ re handling, loading / unloading and further transportation upto site in Pune. The quoted 
price shall also include charges for transit insurance in India. Unloading shall be done by 
supplier and applicable charges shall be borne by supplier. No discharging equipment’s will 
be made available to supplier for unloading. Supplier has to arrange discharging 
equipment’s at his own cost, if any. 

ITB 35.6 
 

The detailed evaluation criteria is specified in Section III, Evaluation and Qualification 
Criteria. 

ITB 35.7 
(Additional 

Para) 

Variations, deviations, alternative offers and other factors which are not in line with 
the requirement and conditions of the bidding documents or otherwise result in the 
accrual of unsolicited benefits to the purchaser shall not be taken into account in Bid 
evaluation. 

ITB 37.1 The clause stands deleted 

ITB 37.2 The clause stands deleted 

ITB 37.3 The clause stands deleted 

E. AWARD OF CONTRACT 

ITB 39.1 Replace the existing ITB 39.1 with the following: 
 
Subject to ITB 38.1 and BDS ITB 39.2, bidder whose bid has been determined to be 
substantially responsive to the Bidding Documents and who has offered the Lowest 
Evaluated Bid Price (refer BDS ITB 35.2 for comparison on equal terms for 
determination of Lowest Evaluated Bid Price), and whose offer is balanced in terms of 
ITB 35.6, provided that such Bidder has been determined to be eligible and qualified 
in accordance with provisions of ITB 4 for deciding the successful eligible contractor 
to whom the contract will be awarded. 

ITB 39.2 The maximum percentage by which quantities may be increased is: 30% 
The maximum percentage by which quantities may be decreased is: 10% 

ITB 39.3 
(New Para) 

In case, Successful Bidder is a JV/Consortium, then the Performance Security may be 
furnished on behalf of the JV/Consortium either by the Lead Member or by all the 
Members of such JV/Consortium in such proportion as may be agreed to between them. 

ITB 40.4 
(Additional 

Para) 

The "Letter of acceptance" will be sent in duplicate to the successful Bidder, who will return 
one copy to the Purchaser duly acknowledged and signed by the authorized signatory, within 
two weeks of receipt of the same by him. The Letter of Acceptance will constitute a part 
of the Contract. 

ITB 40.5 
(Additional 

Para) 

In the event of award of the Contract, the following will be the sequence of events in 
the order given below: 
· Approval by Competent Authority; 
· Letter of Acceptance; 
· Notice to Proceed; 
· Signing of Contract 

ITB 42.1 The Performance Guarantee required in accordance with Clause 18.3 of the GCC shall 
be for an amount as specified in Section IX. Particular Conditions, in the form of a bank 
guarantee issued from an Indian Scheduled bank (excluding Cooperative Banks) or from 
a scheduled Foreign Bank as defined in Section 2(e) of RBI Act 1934 read with Second 
Schedule in the types and proportions of currencies in which the Contract Price is 
payable. 

ITB 42.2 
New 

Governing Act: -The contract with successful bidder shall be governed by Indian 
Contract (Amendment) Act-1996 & its further amendments if any. 

ITB 42.3 
(New Para) 

The Bidder has to furnish other Guarantees, Undertakings, & Warranties, in accordance 
with the provisions of the General Conditions of Contract and Particular Conditions of 
Contract (refer ITB 43). 

ITB 42.4 
(New Para) 

Failure of the successful Bidder to comply with the requirements of ITB 41 and ITB 42 
shall constitute sufficient grounds for the annulment of the award and forfeiture of 
the Bid Security. 

ITB 43 
(New Para) 

Guarantees and Warranties 

ITB 43.1 
(New Para) 

The Bidder shall submit full details of the identity of the proposed parties who would 
respectively provide or issue: 
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• the Performance Security in accordance with Sub-Clause 18.1,18.2,18.3 & 18.4 of 
the GCC; 

• parent company Undertakings in accordance with sub-Clause 29 of the PCC; 
• parent company Guarantees in accordance with sub Clause 29 of the PCC; 

ITB 43.2 
(New Para) 

The Contractor shall submit other Warranties and Guarantees in accordance with 
Clause 29 of PCC. All the Guarantees and Warranties shall be submitted prior to the 
signing of the Contract. 

ITB 43.3 
(New Para) 

If the Bidder comprises a JV/Consortium, a parent company of each Member of such 
JV/Consortium will be required to execute the Undertakings and Guarantees referred 
to in sub-paragraphs (b) and (c) of ITB 43.1 above. 

ITB 43.4 
(New Para) 

Forms of the above documents are given in the Schedules to the Particular Conditions 
of Contract. 

ITB 43.5 
(New Para) 

The Contractor should note that all Guarantees, Undertakings and Warranties except 
Advance Payment Guarantee, Retention Money Guarantee shall be executed prior to 
signing of the Contract. 

ITB 44 
(New Para) 

Insurance 
 

ITB 44.1 
(New Para) 

The Bidder’s attention is drawn to the provisions contained in Clause 18 of the General 
Conditions of Contract and Clause 24,24.1,24.2,24.3,24.4 of Particular Conditions of 
Contract. 
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Section III. Evaluation and Qualification 
Criteria 

 
This Section complements the Instructions to Bidders. It contains the criteria that the Purchaser may use to 
evaluate a bid and determine whether a Bidder has the required qualifications. No other criteria shall be 
used. 
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1. Evaluation (ITB 35) 
 
1.1 Evaluation Criteria  

 
Bid Opening and Evaluation: - The Bidder is advised that, he may, if he so desires, be present at the 
opening of the Technical Packages. The Technical Packages will be reviewed to determine their 
acceptability and responsiveness to the Purchaser’s Requirements. Unacceptable and unresponsive 
Bids will be rejected, and the corresponding Financial Package will be returned unopened. Bids that 
are not accompanied by a valid Bid Security or are accompanied by an unacceptable or fraudulent Bid 
Security shall be considered as non-compliant and rejected. 
 
The Bidders are to note that Financial Packages of only those Bid submissions which are accompanied 
by valid Bid Security and for which Technical Packages have satisfied the review as per criteria 
mentioned in (Examination of Bid s and Determination of Responsiveness, Correction of Errors), will 
be opened and the Bid sums posted. The date, time and place of opening of Financial Packages will 
be advised to Bidders who’s Technical Package have been found acceptable so that they can be 
present at the stipulated time of opening of the Financial Packages. 
 
Clarification of Bids:- During technical evaluation, the Purchaser may, at its discretion, ask the Bidder 
for a clarification of the Bid .The request for clarification and the response shall be in writing, and 
no change in the price or substance of the Bid shall be sought, offered or permitted. 
 
Examination of Bids and Determination of Responsiveness, Correction of Errors. 
 
Prior to the detailed evaluation of Bids, the Purchaser will determine whether each bid: 
(i) meets eligibility criteria as given in Section III; 
(ii) has been properly signed; 
(iii) is accompanied by the required Bid Security; and 
(iv) is substantially responsive to the requirements of the Bid Documents. 
 
A substantially responsive Bid is one that conforms to all the terms, conditions and specifications of 
the Bid documents, without material deviation or reservation. A material deviation or reservation is 
one: 
 
i. which affects in any substantial way the scope, quality or performance of the materials to be 

supplied; or 
ii. which limits in any substantial way, the Purchaser’s rights or the Bidder’s obligations under the 

Contract; or 
iii. which is inconsistent with the Bid Documents and whose rectification would affect unfairly the 

competitive position of other Bidders presenting responsive Bidders; or 
iv. which includes a deviation from the Bid Documents which would render the materials to be 

supplied, or any part thereof, unfit for their intended purpose; or 
v. which limits the validity of the Bid by conditional offer. 
vii. which fails to commit Bid as per Section VII Schedule of Requirements (under List of Goods and 

Delivery Schedule). 
 
The bidder must quote fixed price for each item of Turnouts, Scissors Cross-overs & Derailing switch as 
per schedule of requirement, so that the Bid price covers all supplier’s obligations mentioned in or to 
be reasonably inferred from Bid document. 

The Purchaser may waive any minor deviation, non-conformity or irregularity in a Bid that does not 
constitute a material deviation. 

If a Bid is not substantially responsive, it will be rejected by the Purchaser, and may not subsequently 
be made responsive by correction or withdrawal of the non-conforming deviation or reservation. 
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1.2. Multiple Contracts  

Evaluation will be done for entire items and quantities as Single Lot as mentioned in schedule of 
requirement. 

 
2. Qualification  

After determining the lowest-evaluated bid in accordance with ITB 35.1, the Purchaser shall carry out 
the post qualification of the Bidder in accordance with ITB 36, using only the requirements specified. 
Requirements not included in the tables below shall not be used in the evaluation of the Bidder’s 
qualifications. 

No. Eligibility 
and Subject 

Qualification Criteria 
Requirement 

Single  
Entity 

JV/Consortium Documenta-
tion  

Submission  
Requirements 

All 
Parties  

Combine
d 

Each  
Member 

One 
Membe

r 1. Eligibility 

1.1 Nationality  Nationality in accordance 
with ITB4.3 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

N/A Forms ELI 
- 1.1 and 
1.2, with 
attachmen
ts 

1.2 Conflict of 
Interest 

No conflicts of interest in 
accordance with ITB 4.2 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

N/A Letter of Bid 

1.3 Agency 
Eligibility 

Not being ineligible to the 
Agency financing, as 
described in ITB 4.3 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

N/A Statement 
of Integrity 
(appendix to 
Letter of 
Bid) 

1.4 Government 
Owned 
Entity 

Meets conditions of ITB 4.3 Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

N/A Forms ELI - 
1.1 and 1.2, 
with 
attachments 

2. Historical Contract Non-Performance 

2.1 History of 
Non- 
Performing 
Contracts 

Non-performance of a 
contract1 did not occur as a 
result of supplier default in 
the past 5 years. 

Must 
meet 
require
-ment2 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment2 

N/A Form CON-2 

2.2 Suspension 
Based on 
Execution of 
Bid Securing 
Declaration by 
the Purchaser 
or withdrawal 
of the Bid 
within Bid 
validity 

Not under suspension based 
on execution of a Bid 
Securing Declaration 
pursuant to ITB 4.4 or 
withdrawal of a Bid 
pursuant ITB 19.9. 

Must 
meet 
require
-ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

N/A Letter of Bid 

2.3 Pending 
Litigation 

Bidder's financial position 
and prospective long-term 
profitability sound according 
to criteria established in 3.1 
below and assuming that all 
pending litigation will be 
resolved against the Bidder 

Must 
meet 
require
ment 

N/A Must 
meet 
requirem
ent 

N/A Form CON– 2 
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2.4 Historical 
Debarment/ 
Blacklisting/ 
Termination / 
Rescind 

The bidders or any member 
of JV/CONSORTIUM must not 
have been banned or 
blacklisted by any Central / 
State government 
department / Urban Local 
Bodies or public sector and 
such blacklisting should not 
be effective on the date of 
Bid Submission.  
 
Simultaneously the bidder or 
any of its member of 
JV/CONSORTIUM should not 
be listed in exclusion list of 
word bank (Ref. Section-V 
Cl.No 2 (vii). The Bidder 
should submit under-taking 
to this effect. (ITB 4.8) AND 
 
Bidders may note that 
pursuant to their 
qualification in the 
‘Prequalification and 
Evaluation Criteria ’&‘ 
Technical Evaluation’ as per 
ITB 29.3 above, in case the 
Bidder (applies to each 
individual member in case of 
a JV/Consortium is 
debarred/ blacklisted by 
Government of India/ State 
Government / Government 
undertaking /PSUs/ Urban 
Local Bodies etc. after the 
due date of submission of 
Bid but before opening of 
financial package by MAHA-
METRO, they shall inform 
the same to MAHA-METRO in 
writing within 5 working 
days of issue of such 
debarment, failing which it 
will be considered that the 
Bidder has willfully 
concealed the information & 
the Bidder shall be solely 
responsible for all 
implications that may arise 
in accordance with the 
conditions of this Bid. Any 
such debarment/ 
blacklisting will result in 
disqualification of the 
Bidder and the Financial 
Package of such Bidder shall 
be returned unopened. (ITB 
29.6) 

Must meet 
require-
ment 

Must meet 
require-
ment 

Must  
meet 
require-
ment 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

Form CON – 3 

 
1 Non-performance, as decided by the Purchaser, shall include all contracts where (a) non-performance was not 

challenged by the contractor, including through referral to the dispute resolution mechanism under the respective 
contract, and (b) contracts that were so challenged but fully settled against the contractor. Non-performance shall 
not include contracts where Purchasers decision was overruled by the dispute resolution mechanism. Non-
performance must be based on all information on fully settled disputes or litigation, i.e. dispute or litigation that has  
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been resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution mechanism under the respective contract and where all 
appeal instances available to the Bidder have been exhausted. 

2 This requirement also applies to contracts executed by the Bidder as JV/CONSORTIUM member. 

 
 

 3. Financial Situation and Performance 

No Eligibility and 
Subject 

Qualification Criteria Requirement Single 
Entry 

Joint Venture / Consortium (existing 
or intended) 

Documentation  
Submission  

Requirements All  
parties 

Combined 

Each 
Member 

Lead Member  

3.1 Financial 
Capabilities 

1) The Bidder must have liquidity equal to cash 
flow requirement of value INR 42 Million for 
the contract.  

2) The liquidity shall be ascertained from Net 
Working Capital {Current Assets - (current 
liabilities + provisions)} as per latest audited 
balance sheet and/or from the Banking 
reference(s). 

3) Banking reference(s) should contain in clear 
terms the amount that the Bank will be in a 
position to lend for this work to the 
applicant /member of the JV / Consortium. 
In case the Net Working Capital (as seen 
from the Balance Sheet) is negative, only 
the Banking reference(s) will be considered, 
otherwise the aggregate of the Net Working 
Capital and submitted Banking reference(s) 
will be considered for working out the 
Liquidity. 

4) The Banking references should be from a 
Scheduled Bank in India or from an 
International Bank of repute (in case of 
foreign vendors) and it should not be more 
than 3 months old as on the date of 
submission of bids. 

5) In case of JV/CONSORTIUM: Requirement 
of working capital is to be distributed 
between members as per their percentage 
participation and every member should 
satisfy the requirement for his portion. 

6) In case the applicant is a JV/ Consortium 
and if Banking Reference is issued by the 
bank in favour of the JV/ Consortium for 
this contract, then it will be considered for 
the Bidder and if the Banking reference(s)is 
issued in favour of any member of 
JV/CONSORTIUM it will be considered only 
for that member. 

7) The audited balance sheets, other 
financial statements acceptable to the 
Purchaser, for the last 5 years shall be 
submitted and must demonstrate the 
current soundness of the Bidder's financial 
position and indicate its prospective long-
term profitability. 

Must 
meet 
require
ment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Must  
meet 
require
ment  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Must 
meet 
require
ment as 
per 
their % 
share in 
JV/CON
SORTIU
M 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FORM FIN-3.1 
with 
attachment. 
Form FIN-3.5 
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3.2 Average 
Annual 
Construction 
Turnover 

Minimum Average Annual Turnover of 
INR 500 Million, calculated as total 
certified payments received for contracts 
in progress and/or completed within the 
last 5 years.  
 
 

Must 
meet 
requirem
ent 

Must 
meet 
requirem
ent 

Must 
meet 
minimum 
(twenty) 
percent 
(20%) of 
the 
requirem
ent 

Must meet 
at least 
(forty) 
percent 
(40%) of the 
requirement 
(for lead 
member) 

Form FIN – 3.2 
Example: Let 
Member- 1 has 
percentage 
participation = 
M and Member - 
2 has =N. Let 
the average 
annual turnover 
of  
Member-1 is 'A' 
and that of 
Member-2 is 'B', 
then the 
average annual 
turnover of 
JV/CONSORTIU
M will be 

= (AM+BN) / 100 
3.3 Profitability Profit before Tax should be Positive 

during last 2(two) years or any three 
years, out of the last five audited 
financial years. 
 
In Case of JV/Consortium - The 
profitability of only lead member shall 
be evaluated. 

Must 
meet 
require
ment 

N/A N/A Must meet 
requirement 
(for lead 
member 
only) 

Form FIN – 3.1 

3.4 Net Worth Net Worth of Bidder should be greater 
than or equal to INR 25 Million. 
 
In Case of JV/CONSORTIUM, the net 
worth of only the lead member as per 
the latest audited balance sheets shall 
be considered. 

Must 
meet 
require
ment 

N/A N/A Must meet 
requirement 
(for lead 
member 
only) 

Form FIN – 3.1 

3.5 Bid 
Capacity 
Criteria 

Bid Capacity: The Bidders will be 
qualified only if their available bid 
capacity is more than 250 million. 
Available bid capacity will be 
calculated based on the following 
formula: 
 
Available Bid Capacity = 2*A*N - B 
Where, 

A = Maximum of the value of works 
executed in any one year during the 
last five financial years (updated to 
31.12.2018 price level assuming 5% 
inflation for Indian Rupees every year 
and 2% for foreign currency portions 
per year). 
N = No. of years prescribed for 
completion of this work 
B = Value of existing commitments (as 
on 31.12.2018) for on-going works 
during period of next 12 months has to 
be submitted by Bidder in form FIN 3.4 
 
 
 
 

Must 
meet 
require
ment 

Must 
meet 
require
ment 

N/A N/A Form FIN – 3.4 
Form FIN 3.2  
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4. Experience 

4.1 Similar 
Experience 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Supply of Standard Gauge canted 
Turnouts of 1 in 7, 1 in 9 or similar with 
a minimum quantity in last five years 
and are in service in established Metro 
/ Railway system. 

1. Turnouts for Ballastless Track = 100 
sets 

2. Turnouts for Ballasted Track = 100 
sets 

3. Scissor cross over for Ballast less/ 
Ballasted Track = 10 sets 

Must 
meet 
require-
ment 

N/A N/A Must meet 
requirement 
(for lead 
member) 

Form EXP 4.1 

1) Bidder shall furnish year wise and consignee wise details of supply during last five years i.e. upto 
31.12.2018. 

2) The bidder shall also furnish the details of supplies made for the goods being procured in this contract. 
Details should include a performance certificate which should include purchase order details, name of 
purchaser, the railway projects / MRTS Project, where used / being used, the design speed and axle load 
of the section, quantity of Turnouts supplied and period of supply. The details of address, contract 
person, fax / e mail is also to be furnished. In absence of the above statement / details, offer will be 
summarily rejected. 

3) The Bidder shall submit details of work executed by them in the Performa of Form EXP 4.1 for the works 
to be considered for qualification of work experience criteria. Documentary proof such as completion 
certificates from client clearly indicating the nature/scope of work, actual completion cost and actual 
date of completion for such work should be submitted. The offers submitted without this documentary 
proof shall not be evaluated. In case the work is executed for private client, copy of work order, bill of 
quantities, bill wise details of payment received certified by C.A., T.D.S certificates for all payments 
received & copy of final/last bill paid by client shall be submitted. 

4) Quantity of successfully completed portion of any ongoing work up to 31.12.2018 will also be considered 
for qualification of work experience criteria. 

 
For completed works, value of work done shall be updated to 31.12.2018 price level assuming 5% inflation 
for Indian Rupees every year and 2% for foreign currency portions per year. For purpose of evaluation of past 
experience in technical package, the date for the exchange rate shall be close of business on the day twenty-
eight (28) day before the latest date of bid submission. 
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Section III. - A 
Make In India Policy-2017  
(Purchase Preferences)  

 (For ‘ Non- Divisible’ works) 

Pursuant to the policy of the Government of India for ‘Make in India’ and promoting manufacturing and 

production of goods and services in India, Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion (DIPP), Ministry of 

Commerce and Industry has issued ‘Public Procurement (Preference to Make in India), Order 2017’ vide No. 

P-45021/2/2017-B.E.-II dated 15th June 2017 and Office Memorandum F.No.K-14011/09/2014/UT-II/MRTS/C 

O-ORD of Govt of India, Ministry of Housing and Urban Affairs dated 14th Nov 2017, both shall be applicable in 

this tender.  

 

1. Make in India Policy: ‘Local Content’ (Applicable to this bid) 

The salient features of the said policy are highlighted below: 

i. Local Content: ‘Local Content’ means the amount of value added in India which shall, unless otherwise 

prescribed by the Nodal Ministry, be the total value of the item procured (excluding net domestic indirect 

taxes) minus the value of imported content in the item (including all customs duties) as a proportion of 

the total value, in percent. 

ii. Local Supplier: ‘Local Supplier’ means a supplier or service provider whose product or service offered 

for procurement meets the minimum ‘Local Content’ as prescribed under this Order or by the competent 

Ministries / Departments in pursuance of this order. 

The minimum ‘Local Content’ for the work shall be 80 % which should be certified as below:- 

a. The ‘Local Supplier’ at the time of tender, bidding or solicitation shall be required to provide self-

certification that the item offered meets the minimum ‘Local Content’ and shall give details of the 

location(s) at which the local value addition is made. 

b. The ‘Local Supplier’ shall be required to provide a certificate from the statutory auditor or cost auditor 

of the company (In case of companies) or from a practicing cost accountant or a practicing Chartered 

Accountant (in respect of suppliers other than companies) giving the percentage of ‘Local Content”, 

wherever the value of procurement exceeds Rs. 10 Crores. 

c. A committee with internal and external experts for independent verification of self-declarations and 

auditor’s/accountant’s certificates may be constituted on random basis and in case of complaints. 

d. False declarations will be in breach of the Code of Integrity under Rule 175(1)(i)(h) of the General 

Financial Rules for which a bidder or its successors can be debarred for up to two years as per Rule 151 

(iii) of the General Financial Rules along with such other actions as may be permissible under law. 

 
2. Purchase Preference: (Applicable to this bid) 

The ‘Margin of Purchase Preference’ shall be 10%. 

The procedure for purchase preference shall be applied as contained in the above-mentioned Order and 

salient features are highlighted below. For the purpose of this procedure, the procurement under this package 

is considered as ‘divisible’. 
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In the procurements of goods which are divisible in nature, the following procedure shall be followed: 

i. Among all qualified bids, the lowest bid will be termed as L 1 if L 1 is from a local supplier, 

the contract for full quantity will be awarded to L 1. 

 

ii. If L 1 bid is not from a local supplier, the lowest bidder among the local suppliers, will be 

invited to match the L 1 price subject to the local supplier’s quoted price falling within the 

margin of purchase preference (10%), and contract shall be awarded to such local supplier 

subject to matching the L1 price. 

 

iii.  In case such lowest eligible local supplier fails to match the L 1 price, the next higher local 

supplier within the margin of purchase preference shall be invited to match the L 1 price 

and so on, and contract shall be awarded accordingly.  

 

iv. In case none of the local suppliers within the margin of purchase preference matches the L 

1 price, then the contract may be awarded to the L 1 bidder. 

 

Note: 
1. Bidder should note that all required document as stipulated in this section are duly filled and signed by 
concerned statutory auditor or cost auditor or from a practicing cost accountant or a practicing Chartered 
Accountant , as case maybe, along with self-certification that the item offered meets the 
minimum ‘Local Content’ and shall give details of the location(s) at which the local value addition is made 
duly signed by POA for said Bid duly scanned and uploaded in the Pricing Document i.e. Part 4 of the E-tender 
portal of Maha Metro. 
2. In case bidder fails to upload the details required as stipulated in Point No. 1of note above then he shall 
be evaluated to be a bidder whose bid has local content lesser than stipulated 80%. 
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Section IV. Bidding Forms 

Table of Forms 
1. Letter of Bid 

1A. Pro-Forma Letter of Participation from Each Partner of Joint Venture (JV/CONSORTIUM) 

2. Statement of Integrity, Eligibility and Social and Environmental Responsibility 

3. Schedules (deleted) 

4. Technical Proposal 

4.1 Method Statement 

4.2     Bidder’s Technical Submission 

4.3 Manufacture, Testing and Commissioning Plan 

4.4 Structure of the Bidder 

5. Bidders Qualification without prequalification 

5.1 ELI-1.1: Bidder Information Form 

5.2 ELI-1.2: Bidder’s JV/CONSORTIUM Information Form 

5.3 CON-2: Historical Contract Non-Performance, Pending Litigation and Litigation History 

5.4 CON-3: Historical Debarment/ Blacklisting/ Termination/ Rescind  

5.5 FIN-3.1: Financial Situation and Performance 

5.6 FIN-3.2: Average Annual Turnover 

5.7 FIN-3.4: Current Contract Commitments / Works in Progress 

5.8 FIN-3.5: Proforma for Banking Reference for Liquidity 

5.9 EXP-4.1: Experience 

5.10. Price Schedule Forms: Goods Manufactured Outside the Purchaser’s Country, to be  

Imported (Developing, Designing of Standard Gauge turnouts) Lumpsum 

5.11 Price Schedule Forms: Goods Manufactured Outside the Purchaser’s Country  

(Manufacturing and Supply of Standard Gauge Turnouts) Each Set 

5.12 Price Schedule Forms: Goods Manufactured in the Purchaser’s Country, to be  

Imported (Developing, Designing of Standard Gauge turnouts) Lumpsum 

5.13 Price Schedule Forms: Goods Manufactured in the Purchaser’s Country 

(Manufacturing and Supply of Standard Gauge Turnouts) Each Set 

5.14 Form of Bid Security (Bank Guarantee)  

5.15 Seeking clarification on Bidding Documents  

5.16 Manufacturer’s Authorization 

5.17 Power of Attorney for signing of Bid  

5.18 Power of Attorney for Lead Member of JV/Consortium 

5.19 Statement of Deviations  

5.20 Undertaking for transfer of Technology  

5.21 Scope of work compliance undertaking 
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Form No.1 
Letter of Bid 

[The Bidder shall prepare his Letter of Bid on a Letterhead paper specifying his name and address] 
Date:_______________________ 
ICB No.:________________________ 

Invitation for Bid No.:__________ 
Alternative No.:________________ 

To:  _______________________  
We, the undersigned, declare that: 
 
(a) We have examined and have no reservations to the Bidding Documents, including Addenda issued 

in accordance with Instructions to Bidders (ITB8) 
 
(b) We have no conflict of interest in accordance with ITB 4; 

 
 
(c) We have not been suspended nor declared ineligible by the Purchaser based on execution of a Bid 

Securing Declaration in the Purchaser's country in accordance with ITB 4.4. 
 
(d) We offer to supply in conformity with the Bidding Documents and in accordance with the Delivery 

Schedule specified in the Schedule of Requirements the following Goods: 
 
(e) The total price of our Bid, excluding any discounts offered in item (f) below is: 
 
(f) In case of only one lot, total price of the Bid 
 
(g) In case of multiple lots, total price of each lot 
 
(h) In case of multiple lots, total price of all lots (sum of all lots) 
 
(i) The discounts offered and the methodology for their application are: NOT APPLICABLE 

i. The discounts offered are: 

ii. The exact method of calculations to determine the net price after application of discounts is shown 
below: 

 
(j) Our bid shall be valid for a period of 180 days from the date fixed for the bid submission deadline in 

accordance with the Bidding Documents, and it shall remain binding upon us and may be accepted at 
any time before the expiration of that period; 

 
(k) If our bid is accepted, we commit to obtain a performance security in accordance with ITB 42 of the 

Bidding Documents; 
 
(l)  We are not participating, as a Bidder or a subcontractor, in more than one bid in this bidding process 

in accordance with ITB 4.2(e), other than alternative bids submitted in accordance with ITB13; 
 
(m) We have paid, or will pay the following commissions, gratuities, or fees with respect to the bidding process 

or execution of the Contract: 
Name of Recipient Address Reason Amount 

[If none has been paid or is to be paid, indicate "none."] 
 
(o) We understand that this bid, together with your written acceptance thereof included in your 

notification of award, shall constitute a binding contract between us, until a formal contract is 
prepared and executed; and 

 
(p) We understand that you are not bound to accept the lowest evaluated bid or any other bid that you may 

receive. 
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We hereby certify that we have taken steps to ensure that no person acting for us or on our behalf will engage 
in any type of fraud and corruption. 
 
 
Name of the Bidder* ________________ 
 
Name of the person duly authorized to sign the Bid on behalf of the Bidder** ____________________ 
 
Title of the person signing the Bid_________________________________________________________ 
 
Signature of the person named above ______________________________________________________ 
 
Date signed ______________________________________ day of 
 
*: In the case of the Bid submitted by joint venture specify the name of the Joint Venture as Bidder 
**: Person signing the Bid shall have the power of attorney given by the Bidder to be attached with the Bid 
 
Note: Para (e) to (h) of letter of bid are not to be included in Technical Proposal 
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1A. Pro-Forma Letter of Participation from Each Partner of Joint Venture (JV/CONSORTIUM)  
(On each Firm's Letter Head) 

 
No.......... Dated ..........  

From: 
 
To, 

THE MANAGING DIRECTOR, 

MAHARASHTRA METRO RAIL CORPORATION LTD 
(A joint venture of Govt. of India & Govt. of Maharashtra)  

101, The Orion,  

Opposite Don Bosco Youth Centre, 

Koregaon Park, Pune- 411001 

 

Sir,  

Regarding: 

“Design, Manufacturing & Supply of Standard Gauge 60E 1 (UIC 60) Turnouts for Pune Metro Rail Project" 

Ref: Your notice for Invitation for Bid (IFB) 
We wish to confirm that our company/firm (delete as appropriate) has formed a Joint Venture with and for 
the purposes associated with IFB referred to above. 
(Member(s) who are not the lead partner of the JV/CONSORTIUM should add the following paragraph)* 
‘This JV/CONSORTIUM is led by whom we hereby authorize to act on our behalf for the purpose of 
submission of Bid for .......... and authorize to incur liabilities and receive instructions for an on behalf of 
any and all the members or constituents of the Joint Venture.’ 
O R  
(Member being the lead member of the group should add the following paragraph)* 
‘In this group we act as leader and, for the purposes of applying for qualification, represent the Joint 
Venture.’ 

In the event of our group being awarded the contract, we agree to be jointly with......... 

(Names of other members of our JV/CONSORTIUM).........and severally liable to the Maharashtra Metro Rail 
Corporation Limited, its successors and assigns for all obligations, duties and responsibilities arising from 
or imposed by the contract subsequently entered into between Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation 
Limited and our JV/CONSORTIUM. 

*I/We, further agree that entire execution of the contract shall be carried out exclusively 
through the lead partner. 

 
Yours faithfully, 
 
(Signature) 
(Name of Signatory)  

(Capacity of Signatory) ........................  

Seal 

* Delete as applicable 
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2.1 Statement of Integrity, Eligibility and Social and Environmental Responsibility 

 

Reference name of the Bid : ("Name of the work”) 

(“contract number.") 

To:     ("Contracting Authority") 

 

1. We hereby certify that neither we nor any of our subcontractors are in any of the following situations:  

1.1) being bankrupt, wound up or ceasing our activities, having our activities administered by the 
courts, having entered into receivership, reorganisation or being in any analogous situation 
arising from any similar procedure; 

1.2)  having been convicted, within the past five years by decision of a court decision, which has the 
force of res judicata in the country where the project is implemented, of one of the acts 
mentioned in sections 6.1 to 6.4 below or of any other offense committed during the procurement 
or performance of a contract1; 

1.3) being listed for financial sanctions by the United Nations and/or the European Union for the 
purposes of fight-against-terrorist financing or threat to international peace and security; 

1.4) having committed serious professional misconduct within the past five years during the 
procurement or performance of a contract; 

1.5)  not having fulfilled our obligations regarding the payment of social security contributions or taxes 
in accordance with the legal provisions of either the country where we are established or the 
Contracting Authority's country; 

1.6)  having been convicted, within the past five years by a court decision, which has the force of res 
judicata, of one of the acts mentioned in sections 6.1 to 6.4 below or of any other offense 
committed during the procurement or performance; 

1.7)  being subject to an exclusion decision of the World Bank and being listed on the website 
http://www.worldbank.org/debarr2; 

1.8)  having committed misrepresentation in documentation requested by the Beneficiary as part of 
the contract procurement procedure. 

1.9)  having been debarred by any government/state/public sector undertaking/urban local body in 
India or abroad in last five years. 

2. We hereby certify that neither we, nor any of our subcontractors are in any of the following situations 
of conflict of interest:  

2.1)  being an affiliate controlled by the Contracting Authority or a shareholder controlling the 
Contracting Authority, unless the stemming conflict of interest has been brought to the attention 
of Maha-Metro and resolved to its satisfaction; 

2.2)  having a business or family relationship with a Contracting Authority’s staff involved in the 
selection procedure or the supervision of the resulting contract, unless the stemming conflict of 
interest has been brought to the attention of Maha-Metro and resolved to its satisfaction; 

2.3)  being controlled by or controlling another bidder or being under common control with another 
bidder, or receiving from or granting subsidies directly or indirectly to another bidder, having 
the same legal representative as another bidder, maintaining direct or indirect contacts with 
another bidder which allows us to have or give access to information contained in the respective 
bids, influencing them or influencing decisions of the Contracting Authority;  

                                                      
1In the event of such conviction, you may attach to this Statement of Integrity supporting information showing that this 

conviction is not relevant in the context of this contract.  
2In the event of such exclusion, you may attach to this Statement of Integrity supporting information showing that this 

exclusion is not relevant in the context of this contract. 

http://www.worldbank.org/debarr
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2.4)  being engaged in a consultancy activity, which, by its nature, may be in conflict with the 
assignments that we would carry out for the Contracting Authority; 

3. We undertake to bring to the attention of the Contracting Authority, any change in situation with regard 
to points mentioned above.  

4. In the context of procurement and performance of the contract: 

4.1)  We have not and we will not engage in any dishonest conduct (act or omission) deliberately 
indented to deceive others, to intentionally conceal items, to violate or vitiate someone's 
consent, to make them circumvent legal or regulatory requirements and/or to violate their 
internal rules in order to obtain illegitimate profit. 

4.2)  We have not and we will not engage in any dishonest conduct (act or omission) contrary to our 
legal or regulatory obligations or our internal rules in order to obtain illegitimate profit. 

4.3)  We have not promised, offered or given and we will not promise, offer or give, directly or 
indirectly to (i) any person who holds a legislative, executive, administrative or judicial mandate 
within the State of the Contracting Authority regardless of whether that person was nominated 
or elected, regardless of the permanent or temporary, paid or unpaid nature of the position and 
regardless of the hierarchical level the person occupies, (ii) any other person who performs a 
public function, including for a State institution or a State-owned company, or who provides a 
public service, or (iii) any other person defined as a public officer by the national laws of the 
Contracting Authority, an undue advantage of any kind, for himself or for another person or 
entity, for such public officer to act or refrain from acting in his official capacity. 

4.4)  We have not promised, offered or given and we will not promise, offer or give, directly or 
indirectly to any private person who occupies an executive position in a private sector entity or 
works for such an entity, regardless of the nature of his/her capacity, any undue advantage of 
any kind, for himself or another person or entity for such private person to perform or refrain 
from performing any act in breach of its legal, contractual or professional obligations.  

4.5)  We have not and we will not engage in any practice likely to influence the contract award process 
to the detriment of the Contracting Authority and in particular, in any anti-competitive practice 
having for object or for effect to prevent, restrict or distort competition, namely by limiting 
access to the market or the free exercise of competition by other undertakings. 

4.6)  Neither we nor any of our subcontractors shall acquire or supply any equipment nor operate in 
any sectors under an embargo of the United Nations or the European Union.  

4.7)  We commit ourselves to comply with and ensure that all of our subcontractors comply with 
international environmental and labour standards, consistent with laws and regulations 
applicable in the country of implementation of the contract, including the fundamental 
conventions of the International Labour Organisation (ILO) and international environmental 
treaties. Moreover, we shall implement environmental and social risks mitigation measures such 
as specified in the environmental and social management plan or, if appropriate, in the 
environmental and social impact assessment notice provided by the Contracting Authority.  

5. We, as well as our subcontractors authorise any third party or proof checking agency/Engineers 
designated by Maha-Metro to inspect accounts, records and other documents relating to the 
procurement and performance of the Contract and to have them audited by auditors appointed by 
Maha-Metro. 

 

Name:____________________ In the capacity of _____________________ 

Signature:______________________________ 

Duly empowered to sign the bid in the name and on behalf of3____________________ 
 
 

                                                      
3 In case of joint venture, insert the name of the joint venture. The person who will sign the bid on behalf of the bidder shall 

attach a power of attorney from the bidder. 
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3. SCHEDULE (DELETED) 
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4. Technical Proposal 
 
 
 

- 4.1  Method Statement         

- 4.2  Bidder’s Technical Submissions        

- 4.3 Manufacture, Testing and Commissioning Plan       

- 4.4 Structure of the Bidder          
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4.1 Method Statement 
 
 
Each Bidder shall set out details of the Method Statement for the Works to demonstrate how it will meet the 
Purchaser’s objective and requirements. As a minimum, the Method Statement shall address the following: 
 
(a) Details of the arrangements and methods which the Bidder proposes to implement for the construction 

of the Works, in sufficient detail to demonstrate their adequacy to achieve the requirements of the 
Contract including completion within the Time for Completion stated in the Particular Conditions of 
Contract.  

(b) Method Statements for laying/installation of each type of turnouts/cross-over/scissors cross-over along 
with supply of such units.  

(c) Outline of the arrangements of the Bidder to manage coordination of Site access.  
(d) Comments on the geotechnical and subsurface aspects of the Works including materials, material 

sources and any constraints  
(e) Not Used  
(f) Comments on logistics and traffic management [as may be appropriate].  
(g) Outline of the arrangements and organisation of the Bidder to ensure compliance with the Works outline 

of the arrangements of the Bidder to carry out testing upon completion as specified in the Works 
Requirements.  

(h) [Insert other information, as may be appropriate.] 
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4.2 Bidder’s Technical Submissions 
 
A. Requirements for Bidder’s Technical Submissions 
A1.  The Bidder’s attention is drawn to the List of Definitions and List of Abbreviations in the Works 

Requirements and to Clause 1 of the General Conditions in which terms are defined. 
A2.  The Bidder’s Technical Proposals shall comply or, subject to reasonable development, be capable of 

complying with the Works Requirements in all respects. The Bidder’s Technical proposal shall 
demonstrate such compliance. 

 
The Bidder’s Technical Proposals shall establish the safety standards to be followed and installation 
and testing methods that will be employed. 
 
The following paragraphs list the minimum documentation that shall be supplied by the Bidder as part 
of his technical package for technical evaluation of the Bid. The Bidder shall include any further 
information necessary to demonstrate the suitability of his proposal. 

 
B. General Requirements 
B1.  The Bidder shall submit a detailed clause by clause commentary on all the clauses of the Works 

Requirements when a clause merely provides information and no other comment is necessary “noted” 
will suffice. Where the Tenderer is not able to comply fully with certain clauses and proposes an 
alternative, the deviations shall be consolidated and listed separately in the Statement of Deviations. 
Excepting the items listed in the statement of deviations, the Bidder shall give a Certificate of 
Compliance in the form Appendix A for all the items. 

B2.  The Bidder shall also advise the conflicts, if any, in the Bid documents between various functional 
requirements or specifications. 

B3.  The Bidder shall detail any potential problems or hazards that have been identified during the Bidder’s 
assessment of the Works Requirement. 

B4.  The Bidder shall submit: 
a. Technical Information of Contractor’s Equipment proposed by the Bidder such as equipment for 

mechanised handling of rails, support systems for setting of Ballastless track & turnouts for 
installation, various survey equipment, equipment for transport& delivery of concrete to the site 
of work etc. 

b.  Information for justifying the Proneness of the equipment proposed by the Bidder. 
c. Information for In-house or the sub-contract of manufacture or vending proposed by the Bidder 

in the format given in Appendix B. 
 
 
C. Technical Requirements 
C1.  The Bidder’s Technical Proposals shall also cover the following: 

(a) Normally track structures (Cast-in-situ) are to be followed as given in tender drawing for viaduct. 
However, tenderer may also propose other proven ballast less track structure and submit detailed 
design for consideration of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited. However proposed 
ballast less track structure should not infringe the SOD. The proven improvement/innovation in 
design of plinth with the objective of improved performance, reduction in execution time shall 
be encouraged and no price advantage will be given on this account irrespective of life cycle 
claimed. 

 
For this purpose, contractor will submit detailed design along with drawing and performance 
report of proposed system. The performance report shall only be considered for those systems 
which are substantially on elevated corridor & not less than 14T axle load which are in operation 
for public carriage of passenger for not less than year. The performance is in addition to 
suitability of design and not in lieu of design. The design has to conform to the prevalent 
International standards. 

(b)  Detailed drawing and specification of proposed ballastless track structure on viaduct. Any 
ballastless track slab / plinth system proposed should have proven record on the viaduct. Details 
of same to be submitted. 
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(c)  If any change to the track structure proposed vide para (a) & (b) above to be used with MSS, then 
Details of Ballastless track structure to be furnished. However, it is to be ensured that there 
should not be any infringement of SOD. 

(d)  Method adopted for topographic setting of final alignment on finished surface of depot layout for 
final setting of track; 

(e)  Methodology for handling/re-handling, transportation of the P. Way materials imported by the 
Purchaser from Mumbai Port/ to the site, stacking/storage of such material, security of material 
against theft, loss and damage; 

(f)  Methodology for proper handling of rails and welded panels to site of work; 
(g)  Methodology of installation procedure including any other alternative construction method / 

scheme as proposed by Tenderer for ballastless and ballasted track with construction speed and 
finished tolerances of track; 

 
(h)  Methodology for installation of Ballastless and Ballasted  turn outs & crossovers; 
(i)  Other technical information in support of the technical proposal. 

 
C2. Deleted 
 
D. Technical Documents 
D1.  The Bidder’s Technical Proposals shall also include the following documents: 

 
a.  Deviation Statement 
 

The deviation statement shall draw attention to any part or parts of the Works Requirements - 
Particular Specification which the Contractor intends to amend or omit and shall contain further 
material as required. 
 
In producing the deviation statement, the Bidder shall ensure that clauses, paragraphs and any 
appendices therein are identified by their numbering as uniquely belonging to the deviation 
statement. 
 
The Bidder should note that the Specifications submitted with the Bid as part of the Bidder’s 
Technical Proposals will, prior to acceptance of Bid, be merged and consolidated into a single 
document for incorporation into the Contract. 
 
The Bidder should note that the deviation statement forms a crucial part of the Bidder’s 
Technical Proposals and shall be prepared in sufficient detail to demonstrate full compliance 
with the Works Requirements. The quality of the deviation statement will be paramount in 
evaluating technical compliance of Bids. 

 
b. Codes and Standards 
 

The Bidder shall provide justification for any codes or standards, it proposes in its list as 
alternatives or additions to those specified in the Works Requirements. 
 
The Bidder will be required, during the Bid process, to provide a certified English translation of 
any codes or standards it proposes to use, and which are not normally available in English. 
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4.3 Manufacture, Testing and Commissioning Plan 
 
 
The Bidder shall submit with its Bid, the methods by which the Bidder intends to manufacture and test the 
components / equipment. Details shall be given of the locations and arrangements for offshore and indigenous 
works, the facilities available and any understanding from others that the Bidder has in such matters. The 
manufacturing methods to be employed, the equipment’s and facilities available or proposed to be set up 
off-shore and or in India, will be analysed during technical evaluation and shall be in sufficient detail to allow 
a full appreciation of the Bidder’s proposals in relation to all aspects of the Works. The extent of automation 
involved in manufacture, particularly in the area of welding, shall be clearly stated for both off-shore and 
indigenous manufacture. 
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4.4 Structure of the Bidder 
 

The Bidder shall supply a chart particularizing the structure of the Bidder (identifying all companies 
comprising the Bidder in the event that the Bidder is a JV/Consortium) and the ownership of the Bidder 
including the ownership of each of the companies comprising the Bidder, identifying all respective 
intermediate and ultimate holding companies.   
 
COMPOSITION OF THE BIDDER  
1.  A notarized copy of JV/Consortium Agreement relating to the composition of the Bidder shall be 

submitted, if the Bidder is a JV/Consortium. Should the Bidder be an entity established or to be 
established to Bid for this Contract, details of the shareholders’ agreement or proposed shareholders’ 
agreement or proposed shareholders’ agreement shall be supplied together with the percentage 
participation and percentage equity in the agreements. 

 2. The contractual arrangements and copies of agreements in relation thereto must, as a minimum, 
provide information on all members or participants involved, their respective participation in the Bid, 
the management structure, ownership and control of the members or participants comprising the 
Bidder and the name of the Lead Member who would have overall lead management responsibility for 
the Works, the registered addresses of all parties and the names of their respective senior partners, 
chairmen or managing directors as appropriate. Such agreements should also reflect the joint and 
several liabilities of the members to the Purchaser in the event that the Contract is awarded to them 
and provide “deadlock” provisions in the event that decisions of the JV/Consortium cannot be 
reached by unanimous agreement.  

3.  The Bidder shall confirm that the broad scope split of work amongst the Consortium members shall 
be as hereunder:  

 

SN Work & Responsibility Partner Qualifying Local Partner (if any 

1 Design P S 

2 Engineering P S 

3 QC for manufacturing – Off-shore and On 
shore 

P S 

4 Manufacturing – Off shore P X 

5 Manufacturing – On shore S P 

6 Interfacing P S 

7 Testing and commissioning P S 

8 Design validation and type testing P S 

9 Warranty services P S 

10 Project management P S 

11 Training (offshore & on shore) P S 

12 Manuals P S 

  
P – Responsible Partner – Primary Responsibility  
 S – Support Partner – Secondary Responsibility   
X – No Role  
Note: The responsibilities as confirmed in the table above are independent of the invoicing structure given 
in the Pricing Document of the financial package. 
 
4.  The Bidder shall provide written confirmation that:  
 
(a) The agreement or agreements submitted represent the entire agreement between the members or 

participants comprising the Bidder as to the Bidder’s legal persona;  
(b) There is or are no other agreements relating to the Bidder’s incorporation, powers or organization which 

may affect in any way its ability to carry out the Works; and  
(c) No changes will be made to any such agreements during the Bidding period or during the contract period 

(if contract awarded) without first obtaining the Purchaser’s agreement to the proposed change or changes   
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5. Bidders Qualification without prequalification 

 
 
To establish its qualifications to perform the contract in accordance with Section III (Evaluation and 
Qualification Criteria) the Bidder shall provide the information requested in the corresponding Information 
Sheets included hereunder. 
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5.1 ELI-1.1 : Bidder Information Form 

Date: ________________  

ICB No. and title: _________________  

Page __________ of ______________ pages 

Bidder’s Name 

 

In case of Joint Venture (JV/CONSORTIUM), name of each member : 

 
Bidder's actual or intended country of registration  : 
[indicate country of Constitution] 
 
 
Bidder's actual or intended year of incorporation : 
 
 
Bidder's legal address [in country of registration] : 
 
 
Bidder's authorized representative information Name  : 
 
 
Address    : 
 
Telephone / Fax numbers : 
 
E-mail address   : 
 
1. Attached are copies of original documents of 

 Articles of Incorporation (or equivalent documents of constitution or association), and/or documents of 
registration of the legal entity named above. 

 In case of JV/CONSORTIUM, letter of intent to form JV or CONSORTIUM agreement, in accordance 
with ITB 4.1. 

 In case of Government-owned enterprise or institution, in accordance with ITB 4.3 documents 
establishing: 

 Legal and financial autonomy 

 Operation under commercial law 

 Establishing that the Bidder is not dependent agency of the Purchaser 

 

2. Included are the organizational chart, a list of Board of Directors, and the beneficial ownership. 
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5.2 ELI-1.2 : Bidder's JV/CONSORTIUM Information Form 

(to be completed for each member of Bidder’s JV/CONSORTIUM) 

Date: _______________  

ICB No. and title: __________________  

Page _______________ of ____________pages 
 

Bidder’s JV/CONSORTIUM name: 

JV/CONSORTIUM member’s name: 

JV/CONSORTIUM member’s country of registration: 

JV/CONSORTIUM member’s year of constitution: 

JV/CONSORTIUM member’s legal address in country of constitution: 

JV/CONSORTIUM member’s authorized representative 
information Name: 

Address: 

Telephone/Fax numbers: 

E-mail address: 
 
1. Attached are copies of original documents of 
¨ Articles of Incorporation (or equivalent documents of constitution or association),and/or registration 

documents of the legal entity named above. 
¨ In case of a Government-owned enterprise or institution, documents establishing legal and financial 

autonomy, operation in accordance with commercial law, and absence of dependent status, in accordance 
with ITB 4.3. 

2. Included are the organizational chart, a list of Board of Directors, and the beneficial ownership. 

 



Maha-Metro ICB No. P1-T03R/2019 Turnouts 

Jan-19       Page 58 

 
 

5.3 Form CON – 2 
Historical Contract Non-Performance, Pending Litigation and Litigation History 

(To be completed by the Bidder and by each member of the Bidder’s JV/CONSORTIUM) 
Bidder’s Name: ________________ 

Date: ______________________ 
JV/CONSORTIUM Member’s Name_________________________ 

ICB No. and title: ___________________________ 
Page _______________of ______________pages 

Non-Performed Contracts in accordance with Section III, Evaluation and Qualification Criteria  

 Contract non-performance did not occur since 1st January, 2012 specified in Section III, Evaluation and 
Qualification Criteria, Sub-Factor 2.1. 

 Contract(s) not performed since 1st January, 2012 specified in Section III, Evaluation and Qualification 
Criteria, requirement 2.1 

Year Non- 
performed 
portion of 
contract 

Contract Identification 
 

Total Contract 
Amount (current 
value, currency, 

exchange rate and 
INR equivalent) 

[insert 
year] 

[insert amount 
and percentage] 

Contract Identification: [indicate complete contract name/ 
number, and any other identification] 
Name of Employer: [insert full name] 
Address of Employer: [insert street/city/country] 
Reason(s) for non-performance: [indicate main reason(s)] 

[insert amount] 

Pending Litigation, in accordance with Section III, Qualification Criteria and Requirements 

 No pending litigation in accordance with Section III, Qualification Criteria and Requirements, Sub-Factor 
2.3. 

 Pending litigation in accordance with Section III, Evaluation and Qualification Criteria, Sub-Factor 2.3 as 
indicated below. 

Year of dispute Amount in dispute 
(currency) 

Contract Identification Total Contract 
Amount 

(currency), INR 
Equivalent 

(exchange rate) 

  Contract Identification: _________ 
Name of Employer: ____________ 
Address of Employer: __________ 
Matter in dispute: ______________ 
Party who initiated the dispute: ____ 
Status of dispute: ___________ 
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5.4 CON – 3 Historical Debarment/ Blacklisting/ Termination/ Rescind 

(to be completed by the Bidder and by each member of the Bidder’s JV/CONSORTIUM) 

Bidder’s Name: ________________ 

Date: ______________________ 

JV/CONSORTIUM Member’s Name_________________________ 

ICB No. and title: ___________________________ 

Page _______________of ______________pages 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) 

Year 
(From-
To)  

Contracts for which 
Debarment/ Blacklisting 

occurred in last five 
years ending on bid 

submission date 
including period of 

debarment/blacklisting. 

Debarring Agency  
 

Whether Debarment/ 
Blacklisting has been 
challenged 

Remarks 
(*) 

[insert 
month  
and year] 

Contract Identification: 
[indicate complete 
contract name/ number, 
and any other 
identification] 
 
Reason(s) for 
Debarment: [indicate 
main reason(s)]  

Name of Purchaser: 
[insert full name]  
Address and Contact 
information of the 
Purchaser: [insert 
street/city/country & 
Phone Nos./E-Mail ID 
of the Purchaser]   
 

[Yes/No] 
Current Status of 
Debarment: [If Yes, 
whether the debarment so 
challenged has been fully 
settled against or in favor 
of the contractor or is still 
pending in dispute 
resolution 
mechanism/judiciary.]  

 

Debarment/Blacklisting History shall include all contracts where:  

(a) Debarment/Blacklisting was not challenged by the contractor, including through referral to the 
dispute resolution mechanism or judiciary,  

(b) Debarment/ Blacklisting occurred for a duration which is falling in the bracket of last 05 years 
i.e. started/ended before bid submission or extended bid submission date, 

(c) Debarment/Blacklisting that were so challenged but fully settled against the contractor, 
(d) Debarment/Blacklisting shall also include contracts where Purchasers decision was overruled by 

the dispute resolution mechanism or judiciary,     
(e) Debarment/Blacklisting that were so challenged but not fully settled or is still pending in dispute 

resolution mechanism/judiciary.  

*In case of ‘No’ in column (4); reason for not challenging the Debarment/ Blacklisting/ Termination/ 
Rescind to be stated in the remarks column. 

# In case the Debarment/ Blacklisting/ Termination/ Rescind has not been challenged by the bidder in 
dispute resolution mechanism or judiciary, the bid of the said bidder shall be rejected assuming that 
contractor has accepted the blacklisting/debarment/termination/rescind.  
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5.5 Form FIN – 3.1: 

Financial Situation and Performance 
Bidder’s Name: _____________ 
Date: ______________________ 
JV/Consortium Member’s Name__________ 
ICB No. and title: ___________  
Page _________of ____pages 

1. Financial data 

Type of Financial information in 
(currency) 

Historic information for previous _________years, 
(amount in currency, currency, exchange rate*, INR equivalent) 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year4 Year 5 

Statement of Financial Position (Information from Balance Sheet) 

Total Assets (TA)      
Total Liabilities (TL)      

Total Equity/Net Worth (NW)      

Current Assets (CA)      
Current Liabilities (CL)      

Working Capital (WC)      

Information from Income Statement 
Total Revenue (TR)      

Profits Before Taxes (PBT)      

Cash Flow Information  
Cash Flow from Operating Activities      

*Refer to ITB 15 for the exchange rate 
 
2. Financial documents :- The Bidder and its parties shall provide copies of financial statements for 5 years pursuant 
Section III, Evaluation and Qualifications Criteria, Sub-factor 3.1. The financial statements shall: 
 

(a) reflect the financial situation of the Bidder or in case of JV/CONSORTIUM member, and not an affiliated 
entity (such as parent company or group member). 

(b) be independently audited or certified in accordance with local legislation. 
(c) be complete, including all notes to the financial statements. 
(d) correspond to accounting periods already completed and audited. 

 Attached are copies of financial statements4 for the 5 years required above and complying with the 
requirements 
 
Notes: 
 
Financial data for latest last five audited financial years has to be submitted by the Bidder in Form FIN-3.1 to 
3.4 along with audited balance sheets. The financial data in the prescribed format shall be certified by 
Chartered Accountant with his stamp and signature. In case audited balance sheet for the immediately 
preceding financial year i.e, 2017-18 is not available, he has to submit an affidavit certifying that the “balance 
sheet has actually not been audited so far”. In such a case the financial data of previous ‘five audited financial 
years before 2017-18 will be taken into consideration for evaluation. If audited balance sheet of any year other 
than the last year is not submitted, the Bid will be considered as non-responsive. 
 
Weightage of 5% (Compounded annually) for Indian currency and 2 % per year for foreign currency shall be given 
for equating the financial turnover of the previous year to the current year. 
 
Where a work has been earlier undertaken in a JV/Consortium, only that portion of the contract which has been 
undertaken by the concerned applicant/member should be indicated and the remaining done by the other 
members of the group be excluded. This is to be substantiated with documentary evidence. 
  

                                                      
4 If the most recent set of financial statements is for a period earlier than 12 months from the date of bid, the reason for this 

should be justified. 
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5.6 Form FIN – 3.2: 
 

Average Annual Construction Turnover 
Bidder’s Name: _________ 
Date: __________________ 
JV/CONSORTIUM Member’s Name______ 
ICB No. and title: _______ 
Page ________of____pages 

 

 Annual turnover data (construction only) 

Year Amount  
Currency 

Exchange rate INR equivalent 

[indicate year] [insert amount and indicate 
currency] 

  

    

    

    

    

Average 
Annual 
Construction 
Turnover * 

   

*  See Section III, Evaluation and Qualification Criteria, Sub-Factor 3.2. 
 
The financial data in the prescribed format shall be certified by Chartered Accountant with his stamp and 
signature. 
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5.7 FIN – 3.4: Current Contract Commitments / Works in Progress 

Bidders and each member to a JV/CONSORTIUM should provide information on their current commitments on 
all contracts that have been awarded, or for which a letter of intent or acceptance has been received, or for 
contracts approaching completion, but for which an unqualified, full completion certificate has yet to be 
issued. 

Current Contract Commitments 

No. Name of Contract Purchaser’s 

Contact Address,  
Tel, Fax 

Value of  
Outstanding  

Work  
[Current INR  
Equivalent] 

Estimated  
Completion  

Date 

Average Monthly  
Invoicing Over  
Last Six Months  
[INR/month)] 

1 
     

2 
     

3 
     

4 
     

5 
     

      

Notes: 

 These data shall be certified by the Chartered Accountant with his/her membership number, 
stamp and signature. 

 In the case of a group, the Bid Capacity Criteria will be applied to each member to the extent of 
his proposed participation in the execution of the work. If the proposed % is not provided, equal 
participation will be assumed. 

 The Bid submission of Bidders, who do not qualify the minimum eligibility criteria & bid capacity 
criteria stipulated, shall not be considered for further evaluation and therefore rejected. 

 If reporting currency is other than INR, the Bidder must submit Form FIN 3.1 in equivalent INR using 
exchange rate as mentioned in ITB 15.1 and ITB 32.1. In such case this form shall be certified by 
the Chartered Accountant of India with his/her membership number, stamp and signature. 

  

 

 

  

 



Maha-Metro ICB No. P1-T03R/2019 Turnouts 

Jan-19       Page 63 

 
5.8 FIN – 3.5: Proforma for Banking Reference for Liquidity 

BANK CERTIFICATE 

This Is to certify that M/s ....................................................... is a reputed company with a 

good financial standing. 

If the contract for the work, namely ..................................................... . is awarded to the 

above firm, we shall provide overdraft/credit facilities to the extent of equivalent INR to meet their 
working capital requirements for executing the above contract. 

-Sd-  

Name of Bank _______________  

Senior Bank Manager ______________  

Address of the Bank __________________  

Change the text as follows for Joint Venture:  

This is to certify that M/s.  ............................................... . who has formed a JV/CONSORTIUM 
with M/s .......................................................... and M/s ........................................... for  
participating in this bid, is a reputed company with a good financial standing. 

If the contract for the work, namely .........................................................is awarded to the 

above joint venture, we shall provide overdraft/credit facilities to the extent of 
Rs ............................................... to M/s ............................................... to meet their  
working capital requirements for executing the above contract. 

(This should be given by the JV/CONSORTIUM members in proportion to their financial participation) 
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5.9 EXP-4.1: Experience 

Bidder’s Legal Name:  _____________________________________ Date: 
JV/CONSORTIUM Partner’s Legal Name:  _____________________ ICB No.: 

Page _______ of _______ pages 

Similar Contract No. __ [insert specific 
number] of [total number of contracts] ___ 
required 

Information 

Contract Identification 
 

Award date 

Completion date 

 

 

Role in Contract  

Total contract amount   US$   

If partner in a JV/CONSORTIUM, specify 
participation in total contract amount 

 ___________ % US$ _______  

Purchaser’s Name: 
 

Address: 

Telephone/fax number: 
E-mail: 

 

 

 

 

 
Note: Supplier is required to take the certificate from purchaser for the received of supply against the 
contract to be mentioned in this certificate. In case if it is not possible to get the experience certificate, 
then supplier may submit the self-certified copy of experience duly vetted by Statutory Auditor/Chartered 
Accountant. 
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5.9 Form EXP – 4.1 (cont.)  
Experience (cont.) 

Bidder’s Legal Name:  ____________________________________ Page ________ of ________ pages 
JV/CONSORTIUM Partner’s Legal Name: 

Similar Contract No. __ [insert specific 
number] of [total number of contracts] ___ 
required 

Information 

Description of the similarity in 
accordance with Sub-Factor 4.1 of 
Section III: 

 

Amount 
 

 

Physical size 
 

 

Complexity 
 

 

Methods/Technology 
 

 

Other Characteristics 
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5.10 Price Schedule Forms 

 
[The Bidder shall fill in these Price Schedule Forms in accordance with the instructions indicated. The list 
of line items in column 1 of the Price Schedules shall coincide with the List of Goods and Related Services 
specified by the Purchaser in the Schedule of Requirements.] 
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5.10 PRICE SCHEDULE FORMS (BILLS OF QUANTITIES) 

Price Schedule: Goods Manufactured Outside the Purchaser’s Country, to be Imported 
(Developing, Designing of Standard Gauge turnouts) Lumpsum 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: 

Purchaser’s Country                                (Group A and B bids) Currencies in accordance with ITB 
Sub-Clause 15 ICB 

Alternative 
Page 

 

No: 
No: 
No______ of 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
Line  
Item  
No. 

Description of Goods 

D
e
li
v
e
ry

 D
a
te

 a
s 

D
D

P
 P

u
n
e
 

a
s 

sp
e
c
if

ie
d
 i
n
 s

c
h
e
d
u
le

 o
f 

re
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n
t 

Q
u
a
n
ti

ty
 a

n
d
 p

h
y
si

c
a
l 
u
n
it

 

U
n
it

 p
ri

c
e
 E

X
W

 

T
o
ta

l 
E
X
W

 p
ri
ce

 p
e
r 
li
n
e
 i
te

m
 

(C
o
l.
 4

*5
) 

Price per line item 
for inland  

transportation & 
other services  
required in the  

Purchaser’s  
Country to convey 
the Goods to their 
final destination 

Cost of local  
labor, raw  
materials and  
components 
with origin in 
the 
Purchaser’s  
Country 
(percentage of 
Col.5) 

 GST and 
other taxes 
payable per 
line item if 
Contract is 
awarded (in 
accordance 
with ITB 
14.8(a)(ii)) 

[included in 
Col.6] 

Total 
Price per 
line item 
(Col. 6+7) 

1.0 Developing, Designing of 
Standard Gauge turnouts with 
60 E1 (UIC 60) Rails as per 
technical specifications 
including submission of 
detailed drawings for 
Turnout, Cross-over and 
Scissors cross-over wherever 
applicable, documents with 
all details etc. The payment 
for this item shall be made 
after the design & drawings 
have been approved by the 
purchaser [i

n
se

rt
 q

u
o
te

d
 D

e
li

v
e
ry

 D
a
te

] 

L
u
m

p
 S

u
m

 

[i
n
se

rt
 E

X
W

 u
n
it

 p
ri

ce
] 

[i
n
se

rt
 t

o
ta

l 
E
X
W

 p
ri

ce
 p

e
r 

li
n
e
 i
te

m
] [insert the 

corresponding 
price per line 
item] 

[Insert cost of 
local labor, 
raw material 
& components 
from within 
the 
Purchase’s 
country as a % 
of the EXW 
price per line 
item] 

[insert sales 
and other 
taxes 
payable per 
line item if 
Contract is 
awarded] 

[insert 
total 
price 
per 
item] 

1.1 1 in 7 R190 Scissors cross-over 
(4.500m and 15.35m track 
centres) Ballastless and 
ballasted.  
Track centre may undergo 
minor variation. 

        

1.2 1 in 7 R140 ballasted Turnout         
1.3 1 in 7 R190 Ballastless Turnout         
1.4 1 in 7 R140 Ballastless Turnout         
1.5 1 in 9 R300 Ballastless Turnout          
1.6 1 in 9 R190 Ballastless Turnout         

Total Price  
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5.11 PRICE SCHEDULE FORMS (BILLS OF QUANTITIES) 

Price Schedule: Goods Manufactured Outside the Purchaser’s Country, to be Imported 
(Manufacturing and Supply of Standard turnouts) Each Set 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Currencies in accordance with ITB Sub-Clause 15      
 

Date: 
ICB No: 
Alternative No: 
Page N ______ 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 

Line 
Item 
No 

Description of goods Country 
of 
Origin 

Delivery 
Date as 
DDP Pune 
as 
specified 
in 
schedule 
of 
requirem
ent 

Physical  
Unit or 
UOM 

Qty 
 

DDP Pune 
Price in 
accordanc
e with ITB 
14.8(b)(i) 
per line 
item 

Total 
Price 
per  
Line 
item  
(Col.6x7
) 

Remarks 
 

1.0 Manufacturing and Supply 
of Standard Gauge 
Turnouts with 60 E1 (UIC 
60) rails as per technical 
specifications and as per 
drawings approved by 
purchaser 

[insert 
country 
of 
origin 
of the 
Goods] 

[insert 
quoted 
Delivery 
Date] 

  [insert 
total DDP 
price per 
line item] 

 

[insert 
total 
price of 
the line 
item] 

 

DDP Pune 
Price include 
the Price of 
inland 
transportation 
and other 
services 
required, all 
kind of duties, 
taxes, cess & 
other levies 
etc as 
applicable in 
the 
purchaser's 
country, 
custom duty 
at 
concessional 
rate to convey 
the goods to 
their final 
destination, as 
specified in 
BDS ITB 14.8 

1.1 1 in 7 R190 Scissors cross - 
over (4.5m Track center) 
ballasted at Depot 

  Each 
set 

3   

1.2 1 in 7 R190 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

  Each 
set 

2   

1.3 1 in 7 R140 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

  Each 
set 

5   

1.4 1 in 7 R190 Ballast less 
Scissor X-over for 15.35m 
TC. Track Center may 
undergo minor variation. 

  Each 
set 

3   

1.5 1 in 7 R140 Turnout – 
Ballasted 

  Each 
set 

50   

1.6 1 in 7 Derailing Switches   Each 
set 

2   

1.7 1 in 9 R300 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

  Each 
set 

34   

1.8 1 in 9 R190 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

  Each 
set 

19   

Total Price 

 Name of Bidder [insert complete name of Bidder] Signature of Bidder [signature of person signing the 
Bid] Date [Insert Date] 
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5.12 Price Schedule: Goods Manufactured in the Purchaser’s Country (BILLS OF QUANTITIES) 

(Developing, Designing of Standard Gauge turnouts) Lumpsum 

 
 
Name of Bidder [insert complete name of Bidder] Signature of Bidder [signature of person signing the 
Bid] Date [insert date] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: 

Purchaser’s Country                                (Group A and B bids) Currencies in accordance with ITB 
Sub-Clause 15 ICB 

Alternative 
Page 

 

No: 
No: 
No______ of 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
Line  
Item  
No. 

Description of Goods 
D

e
li
v
e
ry

 D
a
te

 a
s 

D
D

P
 P

u
n
e
 

a
s 

sp
e
c
if

ie
d
 i
n
 s

c
h
e
d
u
le

 o
f 

re
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n
t 

Q
u
a
n
ti

ty
 a

n
d
 p

h
y
si

c
a
l 
u
n
it

 

U
n
it

 p
ri

c
e
 E

X
W

 

T
o
ta

l 
E
X
W

 p
ri
ce

 p
e
r 
li
n
e
 i
te

m
 

(C
o
l.
 4

*5
) 

Price per line item 
for inland  

transportation & 
other services  
required in the  

Purchaser’s  
Country to convey 
the Goods to their 
final destination 

Cost of local  
labor, raw  
materials and  
components 
with origin in 
the 
Purchaser’s  
Country 
(percentage of 
Col.5) 

 GST and 
other taxes 
payable per 
line item if 
Contract is 
awarded (in 
accordance 
with ITB 
14.8(a)(ii)) 

[included in 
Col.6] 

Total 
Price per 
line item 
(Col. 6+7) 

1.0 Developing, Designing of 
Standard Gauge turnouts with 
60 E1 (UIC 60) Rails as per 
technical specifications 
including submission of 
detailed drawings for 
Turnout, Cross-over and 
Scissors cross-over wherever 
applicable, documents with 
all details etc. The payment 
for this item shall be made 
after the design & drawings 
have been approved by the 
purchaser [i

n
se

rt
 q

u
o
te

d
 D

e
li

v
e
ry

 D
a
te

] 

L
u
m

p
 S

u
m

 

[i
n
se

rt
 E

X
W

 u
n
it

 p
ri

ce
] 

[i
n
se

rt
 t

o
ta

l 
E
X
W

 p
ri

ce
 p

e
r 

li
n
e
 i
te

m
] [insert the 

corresponding 
price per line 
item] 

[Insert cost of 
local labor, 
raw material 
& components 
from within 
the 
Purchase’s 
country as a % 
of the EXW 
price per line 
item] 

[insert sales 
and other 
taxes 
payable per 
line item if 
Contract is 
awarded] 

[insert 
total 
price 
per 
item] 

1.1 1 in 7 R190 Scissors cross-over 
(4.500m and 15.35m track 
centres) Ballastless and 
ballasted.  
Track centre may undergo 
minor variation. 

        

1.2 1 in 7 R140 ballasted Turnout         
1.3 1 in 7 R190 Ballastless Turnout         
1.4 1 in 7 R140 Ballastless Turnout         
1.5 1 in 9 R300 Ballastless Turnout          
1.6 1 in 9 R190 Ballastless Turnout         

Total Price  
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5.13 Price Schedule: Goods Manufactured in the Purchaser’s Country (BILLS OF QUANTITIES) 
(Manufacturing and Supply of Standard turnouts) Each Set 

 

Name of Bidder [insert complete name of Bidder] Signature of Bidder [signature of person signing the 
Bid] Date [insert date] 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 Date: 
Purchaser’s Country                                                                                                                        

Currencies in accordance with ICB ITB Sub-Clause 15 
Alternative 

Page 

 

No: 
No: 
No____ of 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

Line  
Item  
No. 

Description of Goods Delivery 
Date as DDP 

Pune as 
specified in 
schedule of 
requirement 

Physical 
Unit or 
UOM 

Qty 
 
 

Unit  
price  
EXW 

Total  
EXW 
price  

per line 
item  

(Col. 5*6) 

Price per line 
item for inland 
transportation 

& other 
services 

required in the 
Purchaser’s 
Country to 
convey the 

Goods to their 
final 

destination 

Cost of local 
labor, raw 
materials 

and  
components 
with origin 

in the 
Purchaser’s  

Country 
(percentage 

of Col.6) 

 GST and 
other taxes 
payable per 
line item if 
Contract is 
awarded (in 
accordance 

with ITB 
14.8(a)(ii)) 
[included in 

Col.7] 

Total Price  
per line  

item  
(Col. 7+8) 

1.0 Manufacturing and Supply 
of Standard Gauge 
Turnouts with 60 E1 (UIC 
60) rails as per technical 
specifications and as per 
drawings approved by 
purchaser 

[insert 
quoted 
Delivery 
Date] 

  [insert 
EXW 
unit 
price] 

[insert 
total 
EXW 
price 
per line 
item] 

[insert the 
corresponding 
price per line 
item] 

[Insert cost 
of local 
labor, raw 
material & 
components 
from within 
the 
Purchase’s 
country as a 
% of the 
EXW price 
per line 
item] 

[insert 
sales and 

other 
taxes 

payable 
per line 
item if 

Contract is 
awarded] 

[insert 
total 

price per 
item] 

1.1 1 in 7 R190 Scissors 
cross - over (4.5m 
Track center) 
ballasted at Depot 

 Each set 3       

1.2 1 in 7 R190 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

 Each set 2       

1.3 1 in 7 R140 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

 Each set 5       

1.4 1 in 7 R190 Ballast less 
Scissor X-over for 
15.35m TC. Track 
Center may undergo 
minor variation. 

 Each set 3       

1.5 1 in 7 R140 Turnout – 
Ballasted 

 Each set 50       

1.6 1 in 7 Derailing 
Switches 

 Each set 2       

1.7 1 in 9 R300 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

 Each set 34       

1.8 1 in 9 R190 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

 Each set 19       

Total Price  
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5.14 Form of Bid Security (Bank Guarantee) 

[The bank shall fill in this Bank Guarantee Form in accordance with the instructions indicated.] 

Beneficiary:  ________  

Invitation for Bids No: 

Date:  _____________   
BID SECURITY No.: 
Guarantor: 

We have been informed that  ________________________________________  (hereinafter called "the 
Applicant") has submitted or will submit to the Beneficiary its bid (hereinafter called "the  

Bid") for the execution of ______________________ under Invitation for Bids No.  _______________   
(“the IFB”). 

Furthermore, we understand that, according to the Beneficiary’s conditions, bids must be supported by a 
Bid Security. 

At the request of the Applicant, we, as Guarantor, hereby irrevocably undertake to pay the Beneficiary 
any sum or sums not exceeding in total an amount of   
( _______________________ ) upon receipt by us of the Beneficiary’s first demand, supported by the 

Beneficiary’s statement, whether in the demand itself or a separate signed document accompanying or 
identifying the demand, stating that either the Applicant: 

 
(a) has withdrawn its Bid during the period of bid validity set forth in the Applicant’s Letter of Bid 

(“the Bid Validity Period”), or any extension thereto provided by the Applicant; or 
(b) having been notified of the acceptance of its Bid by the Beneficiary during the Bid Validity Period 

or any extension thereto provided by the Applicant, (i) has failed to execute the contract 
agreement, or (ii) has failed to furnish the performance security, in accordance with the Instructions 
to Bidders (“ITB”) of the Beneficiary’s bidding document. 

 
This guarantee will expire: (a) if the Applicant is the successful bidder, upon our receipt of copies of the 
contract agreement signed by the Applicant and the performance security issued to the Beneficiary in 
relation to such contract agreement; or (b) if the Applicant is not the successful bidder, upon the earlier 
of (i) our receipt of a copy of the Beneficiary’s notification to the Applicant of the results of the bidding 
process; or (ii)twenty-eight days after the end of the Bid Validity Period. 
 
Consequently, any demand for payment under this guarantee must be received by us at the office 
indicated above on or before that date. 
 
This guarantee is subject to the Uniform Rules for Demand Guarantees (URDG) 2010 Revision, ICC 
Publication No.758. 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________ 
[Signature(s)] 
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5.15 Form for seeking clarification on Bidding Documents 
 
Name of the Bidder: 
 

SN Volume No Clause No Bid Condition Bidder’s Queries 

1     

2     

3     

4     

5     

6     

7     

8     

9     

10     

     

     

 
 
 
 

SIGNATURE OF THE BODDER 
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5.16 Manufacturer’s Authorization 
 
 

[The Bidder shall require the Manufacturer to fill in this Form in accordance with the instructions 
indicated. This letter of authorization should be on the letterhead of the Manufacturer and should be 
signed by a person with the proper authority to sign documents that are binding on the Manufacturer. The 
Bidder shall include it in its bid, if so indicated in the BDS.] 

 
Date: [insert date (as day, month and year) of Bid Submission] ICB No.: [insert 
number of bidding process] 
Alternative No.: [insert identification No if this is a Bid for an alternative] 

 
 

To: [insert complete name of Purchaser]  
 

WHEREAS 
 
 

We [insert complete name of Manufacturer], who are official manufacturers of [insert type of goods 
manufactured], having factories at [insert full address of Manufacturer’s factories], do hereby authorize 
[insert complete name of Bidder] to submit a bid the purpose of which is to provide the following Goods, 
manufactured by us: 
[insert name and or brief description of the Goods], 
 
 

and to subsequently negotiate and sign the Contract. 
 
 

We hereby extend our full guarantee and warranty in accordance with Clause 28 of the General Conditions 
of Contract, with respect to the Goods offered by the above firm. 
 
Signed: [insert signature(s) of authorized representative(s) of the Manufacturer] 
 
Name: [insert complete name(s) of authorized representative(s) of the Manufacturer] Title: [insert title] 
 
 
 
Dated on ___________________ day of                 _______, ____________[Insert date of signing] 
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5.17 Power of Attorney for signing of Bid 

 

Know all men by these presents, We .............................................................. . (name of the 

firm and address of the registered office) do hereby irrevocably constitute, nominate, appoint 

and authorize Mr/ Ms (name), ............................................................. son/daughter/wife of 

 .........................................  and presently residing at  ............................ , who is presently  

employed with us/ the Lead Member of our Consortium and holding the position of 

 ................................................. , as our true and lawful attorney (hereinafter referred to as the  

“Attorney”) to do in our name and on our behalf, all such acts, deeds and things as are necessary or 

required in connection with or incidental to submission of our bid for the ***** Project proposed by the 

***** (the “Purchaser”) including but not limited to signing and submission of all applications, bids and 

other documents and writings, participate in pre-bid meetings and other conferences and providing 

information/ responses to the Purchaser, representing us in all matters before the Purchaser, signing and 

execution of all contracts including the Contract Agreement and undertakings consequent to acceptance 

of our bid, and generally dealing with the Purchaser in all matters in connection with or relating to or 

arising out of our bid for the said Project and/ or upon award thereof to us and/or till the entering into 

of the Contract Agreement with the Purchaser. 

AND we hereby agree to ratify and confirm and do hereby ratify and confirm all acts, deeds and things 

done or caused to be done by our said Attorney pursuant to and in exercise of the powers conferred by 

this Power of Attorney and that all acts, deeds and things done by our said Attorney in exercise of the 

powers hereby conferred shall and shall always be deemed to have been done by us. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF WE,  .................................................................. , THE ABOVE NAMED 

PRINCIPAL HAVE EXECUTED THIS POWER OF ATTORNEY ON THIS ......................................... DAY 

OF ................. 2018. 

Signature of the Authorized Representative: Initial of the 
Authorized Representative: 

Signed before me and the signature is 
attested 
 
For .........................  

(Signature, name, designation and address) 

Witnesses: 
1 .   

(Notarized) 
2 .   
Accepted 

 

(Signature) 

(Name, Title and Address of the Attorney) 
Notes: 

 The mode of execution of the Power of Attorney should be in accordance with the procedure, if any, laid down 
by the applicable law and the charter documents of the executant(s) and when it is so required, the same 
should be under common seal affixed in accordance with the required procedure. 

 Wherever required, the Bidder should submit for verification the extract of the charter documents and 
documents such as a board or shareholders’ resolution/ power of attorney in favour of the person executing 
this Power of Attorney for the delegation of power hereunder on behalf of the Bidder. 

 For a Power of Attorney executed and issued overseas, the document will also have to be legalized by the 
Indian Embassy and notarized in the jurisdiction where the Power of Attorney is being issued. However, the 
Power of Attorney provided by bidder/members of the Consortium from countries that have signed The Hague 
Legislation Convention 1961 are not required to be legalized by the Indian Embassy if it carries a conforming 
Apostille certificate. 
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5.18 Power of Attorney for Lead Member of Consortium 

 
Whereas the ***** (“the Purchaser”) has invited applications from interested parties for the ***** Project (the 
“Project”). 
Whereas,  .,  .,  .and . (collectively the “Consortium”) being Members of the Consortium are 
interested in bidding for the Project in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Instruction to Bidders 
(ITB) and other connected documents in respect of the Project, and 
Whereas, it is necessary for the Members of the Consortium to designate one of them as the Lead Member with all 
necessary power and authority to do for and on behalf of the Consortium, all acts, deeds and things as may be 
necessary in connection with the Consortium’s bid for the Project and its execution. 
NOW THEREFORE KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS 
We, .................................................... .having our registered office at 
., M/s. ............................... . having our registered 
office at .............................................. ., M/s. ...................................... . having our 
registered office at  ........................................... ., and ..................................... . having 
our registered office at  ........................................................ ., (hereinafter collectively  
referred to as the “Principals”) do hereby irrevocably designate, 
nominate, constitute, appoint and authorise M/S ......................................................... . 
having its registered office at ., being one of the Members of the Consortium, as the Lead Member and true 
and lawful attorney of the Consortium (hereinafter referred to as the “Attorney”). We hereby irrevocably authorise 
the Attorney (with power to sub-delegate) to conduct all business for and on behalf of the Consortium and any 
one of us during the bidding process and, in the event the  
Consortium is awarded the concession/contract, during the execution of the Project and in this regard, to do on 
our behalf and on behalf of the Consortium, all or any of such acts, deeds or things as are necessary or required 
or incidental to the pre-qualification of the Consortium and submission of its bid for the Project, including but not 
limited to signing and submission of all applications, bids and other documents and writings, participate in bidders 
and other conferences, respond to queries, submit information/ documents, sign and execute contracts and 
undertakings consequent to acceptance of the bid of the Consortium and generally to represent the Consortium in 
all its dealings with the  
Purchaser in all matters in connection with or relating to or arising out of the Consortium’s bid for the Project 
and/or upon award thereof for all obligations and liabilities relating to the Project and in accordance with the 
terms of the Contract Agreement. 
 
AND hereby agree to ratify and confirm and do hereby ratify and confirm all acts, deeds and things done or caused 
to be done by our said Attorney pursuant to and in exercise of the powers conferred by this Power of Attorney and 
that all acts, deeds and things done by our said Attorney in exercise of the powers hereby conferred shall and shall 
always be deemed to have been done by us/ Consortium. 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF WE THE PRINCIPALS ABOVE NAMED HAVE EXECUTED 
THIS POWER OF ATTORNEY ON THIS .................................................................. DAY OF 2. 

F o r  (Signature) 
Name & Title) 
 
F o r  (Signature) 
(Name & Title) 
 
F o r  (Signature) 
(Name & Title) 
Accepted:  
Witnesses: 

1.   
2.   

(Executants) 
(To be executed by all the Members of the Consortium) 
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Notes: 

 The mode of execution of the Power of Attorney should be in accordance with the procedure, if any, laid down by the 
applicable law and the charter documents of the executant(s) and when it is so required, the same should be under 
common seal affixed in accordance with the required procedure. 

 Also, wherever required, the Bidder should submit for verification the extract of the charter documents and documents 
such as a board or shareholders’ resolution/ power of attorney in favour of the person executing this Power of Attorney 
for the delegation of power hereunder on behalf of the Bidder. 

 For a Power of Attorney executed and issued overseas, the document will also have to be legalised by the Indian Embassy 
and notarised in the jurisdiction where the Power of Attorney is being issued. However, the Power of Attorney provided 
by Applicants from countries that have signed The Hague Legislation Convention 1961 are not required to be legalised 
by the Indian Embassy if it carries a conforming Appostille certificate. 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Maha-Metro ICB No. P1-T03R/2019 Turnouts 

Jan-19               Page 77 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

5 . 1 9  S T A T E M E N T  O F  D E V I A T I O N S  ( D E L E T E D )   
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5.20  Undertak ing  for  Trans fer  o f  Techno logy  

We hereby certify that we will make credible arrangement for ensuring availability of critical spares  and 

technical support for maintenance and up gradation of equipment/ systems/M&P / Software/ Manuals during 

their service life. 

 

 

 

Signature of authorized representative 

Sea l  

Da te  
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5.21 Scope of work compliance undertaking 
 
 
We hereby confirm that our offer is fully compliant with the scope of work detailed in Tender Specifications. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Signature of the Bidder) 
 
 
 
Seal :- 
 
 
 
Date :- 
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Section V. Eligibility Criteria and Social and Environmental responsibility 
 

1. Natural or legal persons (including all members of a joint venture or any of their subcontractors) 
shall not be awarded contract if, on the date of submission of an application or of a bid or on the 
date of award of a contract, they:  

 
i. are bankrupt or being wound up or ceasing their activities, are having their activities administered 

by the courts, have entered into receivership, or are in any analogous situation arising from a 
similar procedure; 

ii. have been convicted within the past five years by court decision, which has the force of res 
judicata in the country where the project is implemented, of fraud or corruption or any other 
offence committed during the procurement or performance of a contract, unless they provide 
supporting information together with their Statement of Integrity (Form available as Appendix to 
Letter of Bid) which shows that this conviction is not relevant in the context of this project;  

iii. are listed for financial sanctions by the United Nations, the European Union and/or France for the 
purposes of fight against terrorist financing or threat to international peace and security;  

iv. have committed serious professional misconduct within the past five years during the procurement 
or performance of a contract, as evidenced by any means by the Purchaser;  

v. have not fulfilled their obligations regarding the payment of social security contributions or taxes 
in accordance with the legal provisions of Purchaser’s country;  

vi. have been convicted within the past five years by court decision, which has the force of res 
judicata of fraud or corruption or any other offence committed in contract procurement or 
performance;  

vii. Are subject to an exclusion decision of the World Bank, and are listed on the website 
http://www.worldbank.org/debarr, unless they provide supporting information together with 
their Statement of Integrity (Form available as Appendix to Letter of Bid)  

viii. have committed misrepresentation in documentation requested by the Purchaser as part of the 
contract procurement procedure;  

ix. Have not been blacklisted / debarred for participating in the bid by any government / semi-
government / PSUs / urban local bodies etc. in India.  

 
2.  Bidders that are Government-owned enterprises or institutions may participate only if they can 

establish that they (i) are legally and financially autonomous (ii) operate under commercial law. 
To be eligible, a government-owned enterprise or institution shall establish to the Agency’s 
satisfaction, through all relevant documents, including its Charter and other information the 
Agency may request, that it: (i) is a legal entity separate from their government (ii) does not 
currently receive substantial subsidies or budget support; (iii) operates like any commercial 
enterprise, and, inter alia, is not obliged to pass on its surplus to their government, can acquire 
rights and liabilities, borrow funds and be liable for repayment of its debts, and can be declared 
bankrupt.  

 
3. In order to promote sustainable development, The Purchaser seeks to ensure that internationally 

recognised environmental and social standards are complied with. Candidates shall consequently 
undertake in the Statement of Integrity to:  

 
i. comply with and ensure that all their subcontractors comply with international environmental and 

labour standards, consistent with applicable law and regulations in the country of implementation 
of the Project, including the fundamental conventions of the International Labour Organisation 
(ILO) and international environmental treaties; 

ii. adopt any environmental and social risk mitigations measures as defined in the environmental 
and social management plan or in the environmental and social impact notice issued by the 
Purchaser.  
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Section VI. Agency Policy - Corrupt and 
Fraudulent Practices 

 
The Purchaser, the Implementing Agency and the contractors, suppliers or consultants must observe the highest 
standard of ethics during contract procurement and performance. 
 
By signing the Statement of Integrity (form available as Appendix to Bid Submission Form) the contractor, supplier 
or consultant declares that (i) “it did not engage in any practice likely to influence the contract award process 
to the Purchaser's detriment, and that it did not and will not get involved in any anti-competitive practice”, and 
that (ii) “the negotiation, the procurement and the performance of the contract did not and shall not give rise 
to any act of corruption or fraud”. 
 
Moreover, the Agency requires including in the Bidding Documents and Agency-financed contracts a provision 
requiring that bidders and contractors, suppliers and consultants will permit the Agency to inspect their accounts 
and records relating to the procurement and performance of the Agency-financed contract, and to have them 
audited by auditors appointed by the Agency. 
 
The Agency reserves the right to take any action it deems appropriate to check that these ethics rules are 
observed and reserves, in particular, the rights to :- 
 

 reject a proposal for a contract award if it is established that during the selection process the bidder that 
is recommended for the award has been convicted of corruption, directly or by means of an agent, or has 
engaged in fraud or anti-competitive practices in view of being awarded the Contract; 

 declare mis-procurement when it is established that, at any time, the Purchaser, the contractor, the 
supplier, the consultant or its representatives have engaged in acts of corruption, fraud or anti-competitive 
practices during the contract procurement or performance without the Purchaser having taken appropriate 
action in due time satisfactory to the Agency to remedy the situation, including by failing to inform the 
Agency at the time they knew of such practices. 

 
The Agency defines, for the purposes of this provision, the terms set forth below as follows:- 
 

(a) Corruption of a public officer means: 
- the act of promising, offering or giving to a public officer, directly or indirectly, an undue advantage 

of any kind for himself or for another person or entity, for such public officer to act or refrain from 
acting in his official capacity; or 

- the act by which a public officer solicits or accepts, directly or indirectly, an undue advantage 
of any kind for himself or for another person or entity, for such public officer to act or refrain from 
acting in his official capacity. 

 
(b) A "public officer" shall be construed as meaning: 

- any person who holds a legislative, executive, administrative or judicial mandate (within the State of 
the Purchaser) regardless of whether that person was nominated or elected, regardless of the 
permanent or temporary, paid or unpaid nature of the position and regardless of the hierarchical 
level the person occupies; 

- any other person who performs a public function, including for a State institution or a State-owned 
company, or who provides a public service; 

- any other person defined as a public officer by the national laws of the Purchaser. 
 
(c) Corruption of a private person means: 

- the act of promising, offering or giving to any person other than a public officer, directly or indirectly, 
an undue advantage of any kind for himself or for another person or entity, for such person to perform 
or refrain from performing any act in breach of its legal, contractual or professional obligations; or 

- the act by which any person other than a public officer solicits or accepts, directly or indirectly, an 
undue advantage of any kind for himself or for another person or entity, for such person to perform 
or refrain from performing any act in breach of its legal, contractual or professional obligations. 
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(d) Fraud means any dishonest conduct (act or omission), whether or not it constitutes a criminal offence, 

deliberately intended to deceive others, to intentionally conceal items, to violate or vitiate consent, to 
circumvent legal or regulatory requirements and/or to violate internal rules in order to obtain illegitimate 
profit. 
 

(e) Anti-competitive practices means:- 
- any concerted or implied practices which have as their object or effect the prevention, 

restriction or distortion of competition within a marketplace, especially where they (i) limit access 
to the marketplace or free exercise of competition by other undertakings, (ii) prevent free, 
competition-driven price determination by artificially causing price increases or decreases, (iii) 
restrict or control production, markets, investments or technical progress; or (iv) divide up market 
shares or sources of supply. 

- any abuse by one undertaking or a group of undertakings which hold a dominant position on an internal 
market or on a substantial part of it. 

- any practice whereby prices are quoted or set unreasonably low, the object of which is to 
eliminate an undertaking or any of its products from a market or to prevent it from entering the 
market. 
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1. List of Goods and Delivery Schedule 

[The Purchaser shall fill in this table, with the exception of the column "Bidder's offered 

Delivery date" to be filled by the Bidder. The item list should be identical to the Price Schedule (Section IV)] 

Name of the Work:  Design, Manufacturing & Supply of Standard Gauge 60 E1 (UIC 60) Turnouts for 
Pune Metro Rail Project. 

1. Design and development of Standard Gauge Turnouts: 

 
 
 
 

Sl. No. Description Unit 

 
Delivery Date  

1.0 Developing, Designing of Standard Gauge turnouts with 60 E1 (UIC 
60) Rails as per technical specifications including submission of 
detailed drawings for Turnout, Cross-over and Scissors cross over 
wherever applicable, documents with all details etc. The payment 
for this item shall be made after the design & drawings have been 
approved by the purchaser 

Lump 
Sum 

 

1.1 1 in 7 Scissors cross-over (4.500m and 15.35m track centres) 
(Ballast less). Track centre may undergo minor variation. 1 in 7 
Turnout ballasted/ Ballast less.  1 

Date of LOA + 8 weeks  
1.2 Radius shall be 190m.1 in 9 R300 & R190 Ballastless Turnouts  

1 

1.3 1 in 7 R190 & R140 Ballastless  Turnouts  

1 
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1. Manufacturing & Supply of Standard Gauge Turnouts to be delivered at DDP, Pune. 

 

Note: The item above no. 1.3 may or may not be operated. 

Note: 1.The Letter of Credit (LC) will be opened within period of 30 days from the date of Contract 
Agreement. If LC is not opened, then delivery period shall be from the date of issue of Letter of Acceptance. 
2. Delivery allowance of (+)1% and (–)Nil% of the total quantity supplied will be acceptable. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Line  
Item 

No. 

Description of Goods Qty Physical  
unit 

Final 
(Project  

Site) 
Destination 

as 
specified in  

BDS 

 Delivery at DDP Pune, Date 

Earliest 
Delivery Date 
for first LOT 

Earliest 
Delivery Date 
for second 
LOT 

Latest 
Delivery 
Date for third 
LOT 

Bidder’s  
offered  
Delivery  

date [to be  
provided  

by the  
bidder] 

1.0 Manufacturing and 
Supply of Standard 
Gauge Turnouts with 
60 E1 (UIC 60) rails as 
per technical 
specifications and as 
per drawings approved 
by purchaser 

  Range Hill 
Depot / 
Vanaz 
depot in 
Pune  or 
at any 
other 
location in 
PUNE 
METROPOL
ITAN 
REGION as 
directed 
by the 
Engineer 

Delivery at DDP 
Pune from date 
of 
Establishment 
of Letter of 
Credit/LOA is 
20 weeks 

Delivery at DDP 
Pune from date 
of 
Establishment 
of Letter of 
Credit/LOA is 
30 weeks 

Delivery at 
DDP Pune from 
date of 
Establishment 
of Letter of 
Credit/LOA is 
52 weeks 

[insert the 
number of 
days following 
the date of 
signature of 
the Contract] 

1.1 1 in 7 R190 Scissors 
cross - over (4.5m 
Track center) 
ballasted at Depot 

3 Each Set 

 

0 2 1  

1.2 1 in 7 R140 Turnout – 
Ballasted 50 Each Set 

 
0 10 40  

1.3 1 in 7 Derailing 
Switches 2 Each Set 

 
0 0 2  

1.4 1 in 7 R190 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 2 Each Set 

 
0 2 0  

1.5 1 in 7 R140 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

5 Each Set  0 2 3  

1.6 1 in 7 R190 Ballast less 
Scissor X-over for 
15.35m TC. Track 
Center may undergo 
minor variation. 

3 Each Set 

 

0 0 3  

1.7 1 in 9 R300 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

34 Each Set 
 

12 10 12  

1.8 1 in 9 R190 Turnouts 
(Ballast less) 

19 Each Set 
 

0 10 9  
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Technical Specifications 

TURNOUTS, SCISSORS X-OVERS AND  
DERAILING SWITCHES 

1.0 General 
1)  On main lines, the turnouts and diamond crossing shall be of the following types: 

a) 1 in 9 type turnouts (ballast less) 
b) Scissors cross-over of 1 in 9/1 in 7 type ballasted/ballast less consisting of 4 turnouts and 1 

diamond crossing (ballasted)/ (ballast less) 
2)  On depot lines, the turnouts, diamond crossing, and derailing switches shall be of the following types: 

a) turnout 1 in 7 type (ballasted) 
b) scissors cross-over of 1 in 7 type ballasted consisting of 4 turnouts and 1 diamond crossing 
c) 1 in 7 derailing switches (ballasted) 

3)  The section of rails shall be 60E1 (UIC60) for stock, lead and 60E1A1 (ZU1-60)/60E1A4 for switch rail. 
All the turnouts, scissor cross-overs and derailing switches shall be of Class A, UIC 60 or similar rails 
conforming to IRS-T-12-2009 and shall be designed for a Gauge of 1435mm. 

4)  All turnouts, scissor cross-overs and derailing switches for ballasted track are to be laid on PSC 
sleepers. 

5)  All turnouts, diamond crossings for ballast less track are to be laid on reinforced concrete slab. 
6)  The Bidder to indicate the name of the Metro Systems/Main line Rail networks where similar Turnouts, 

Scissors X-overs and Derailing Switches as mentioned in clause No.1.0 (1) and (2) are in use with 
permissible speed in service. 

7)  The minimum speed potential of the various turnouts and scissors-crossovers shall be as given below: 
 
(i)   Main lines 

a) 1 in 9 300R type turnouts (Design speed 45 Kmph, permissible speed in service 40 Kmph.) 

b) 1 in 9 190R type turnouts (Design speed 35 Kmph, permissible speed in service 25 Kmph.) 

c) 1 in 7 140R type turnouts (Design speed 25 Kmph, permissible speed in service 20 Kmph.) 

d) 1 in 7 190R type turnouts (Design speed 35 Kmph, permissible speed in service 25 Kmph.) 

 
(ii) Depot lines 

a) Scissors cross-over 1 in 7 type (speed Design speed 35 Kmph) 
b) 1 in 7 type turnouts (Design speed 35 Kmph) 

8) Turnouts on main lines and depot lines shall be suitably designed by supplier, so as to take the 
LWR/CWR through turnouts. 

9) All turnouts, diamond crossings and derailing switches on main lines and depot lines shall be laid with 
an inward rail slope of 1 in 20. 

10) Machining/Manufacturing tolerances of the turnouts, diamond crossings and derailing switches shall 
be proposed by the supplier for Purchaser’s approval. 

11) The top surface of PSC Sleeper / RCC slab supporting the rail seat of Turnouts and diamond crossings 
shall be flat without any cant/slope. 

12) All the UIC 60 or similar, 1080 HH grade rails (to be used for manufacturing stock rails, switch rails 
and also those required for welded leg extensions of CMS crossings) shall be manufactured and tested 
in accordance with IRS-T-12-2009 (with latest amendment) specifications and shall be of class ‘A’ 
classification as per IRS-T-12-2009 specifications. Main line  ballast less track Turnouts and Scissors 
cross-overs will be of grade 1080 HH and depot Turnouts shall be of grade 880.. Scissors cross over 
for Ballasted track in depot shall be of grade 1080 HH. 

2.0 Basic Geometry of turnouts (both for ballasted & ballast less turnouts) 
 

The supplier shall be responsible for detailed design of all turnouts, scissors cross-overs & derailing 
switches with the following basic geometrical parameters. 
2.1 1 in 9 Turnouts  

a)  (Radius 300 mtr) :- The design shall be with tangential entry. Switch entry angle in any case shall 
not exceed 0o 20’ 00”. The radius of turnout shall be 300.000m with respect to center line of track 
alignment throughout. Spacing of bearing plates of Turnouts shall not be more than 600 mm except 
at few locations such as near point machine locations where it may be varied to meet the design 
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requirements. Dimension given above is for guidance purpose. However, major change will not be 
allowed. 

b)  (Radius 190 mtr) :- The geometries of 1 in 9 R190 shall be as per standard design for switch radius 
of 190 mtr. The design shall be with tangential entry. Switch entry angle in any case shall not exceed 
0o 20’ 00”. Spacing of bearing plates of Turnouts shall not be more than 600 mm except at few 
locations such as near point machine locations where it may be varied to meet the design 
requirements. Dimension given above is for guidance purpose. However, major change will not be 
allowed. The supplier shall be responsible for the detailed design of turnouts.  

2.2 1 in 7 Turnouts 
The design shall be with tangential entry. Switch entry angle in any case shall not exceed 0o 20’ 00”. 
The radius of turnout shall be 190m/140m with respect to center line of track alignment throughout. 
Spacing of bearing plates of Turnouts shall not be more than 600 mm except at few locations such as 
near point machine locations where it may be varied to meet the design requirements. Dimension given 
above is for guidance purpose. However, major change will not be allowed. 

2.3 Scissors Cross-Overs 
The basic geometry of the turnouts of scissors cross-overs shall be same as that of corresponding 
ordinary turnouts as mentioned in Para 2.1&2.2 above. 
 

3. SWITCHES 
1. All switch rails on main lines as well as on depot lines shall be manufactured from suitable 

asymmetrical thick web rail section with prior approval of purchaser. The switch rail shall be one 
piece with no joint within the switch rail length. The minimum length of switch rail shall be 10000 
mm. 

2. Switches (stock rail & switch rail) of main line turnouts shall be of 1080 grade Head Hardened (HH) 
of Class “A”. Depot turnouts shall be of 880 grade rails in accordance with IRS-T-12-2009(with latest 
amendment) specifications. The section of rails shall be UIC 60 or similar for stock, lead and 60 E1 
A1(ZU1-60)/60 E1 A4 for switch rail. Further, 1080 HH grade rails shall be suitable of being welded 
by short pre-heat process of alumino-thermic welding technique as specified in IRS-T-19 (latest 
version) for fusion welding of rails duly following the provisions of Indian Railway Manual for Alumino–
Thermic welding. 

3. Slide chairs in the switch portion shall be coated with an appropriate special coating with prior 
approval of the purchaser so as to reduce the point operating force and to eliminate the requirement 
of lubrication of sliding surfaces during service. The requirement and the extent of relief planning 
on the flange of tongue rails shall be determined and incorporated in the design by the supplier. 

4. Switches shall provide adequate flange way clearance between the stock rail and the switch rail with 
the switch rail in open position. The minimum flange way clearance in switch portion shall not be 
less than 60 mm and the supplier shall provide second drive arrangements for 1 in 9 turnouts, whereas 
1 in 7 turnouts shall be without second drive arrangement. The nominal opening of switch at toe of 
switch shall be kept as 160 mm. 

5. The end of the asymmetrical switch rail shall be forged of 60 E1 (UIC 60) rail profile with minimum 
length of 60 kg profile for 500mm. The forged 60 E1 A1(Zui-60)/60 E1 A4 switch rail shall be suitable 
for welding or installation of insulated rail joint. The thick webbed tongue rails shall be forged at the 
end to enable its connection to the lead rail by short pre-heat Alumino-Thermit weld. 

6. In the switch portion, the stock rail shall be held down by the elastic fastenings on both sides of the 
flange of stock rail. The outside fastening clip shall be decided after award of work, whereas the 
inside elastic clip shall be provided through suitably designed opening in the slide chairs to have a 
toe load of at least 1100 kg per elastic clip. This inside design of clip is in scope of work. 

7. The switches shall be designed with an anti-creep device at the heel of switch to withstand thermal 
forces of the CWR Track. 

8. The switches & all slide chairs shall be same for ballasted & ballast less turnouts. 
9. The nominal of opening of toe & switch shall be as 160 mm. 
10.The Signaling work on the Lines (for which the supplies under this contract will be utilized) is planned 

to be executed under following contract: 
 

Signaling Contract No. Lines Covered Details of Lines 

 Main line and associated depot. North South Line East West Line 
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Signaling Contract:- The turnouts required for main Line covered under signaling Contracts will be 
ballast less or Ballasted, whereas the associated depot will have ballasted turnouts. For the details 
of point machines and locking arrangements to be used for turnouts of main line and depot lines, the 
supplier shall have to interface with designated signaling contractor. The point machines shall be any 
of the following types:- 
i) For Main Line with external mechanical lock (Non- Trailable) 

   Alstom MJ 81 with VCC clamp lock. 
· Cogifer MCEM 91 with VCC clamp lock. 
· Siemens S700 K with Tempflex III or any other external lock. 
· Bombardier JEA 74 with JEK 40 clamp lock. 
· MD 2000 with external lock. 

· Similar. 
ii)  For Depot Line with or without external mechanical lock (Trailable or Non-Trailable).  

 MD 2000 (Trail able). 
· Siemens (Trail able). 
· IRS High Thrust (Non- Trail able). 
· Similar. 

The supplier shall ascertain the exact distribution/break-up of turnouts (total quantities being 
as mentioned in Bill no S1 of Bill of Quantities) along with their types (LH/RH), required to be 
supplied under this contract and as mentioned in Paras 3(9.1) above duly approved by the 
purchaser. 

11. The supplier shall be responsible for making detailed design & drawings for the fixation arrangements 
required on PSC Sleepers / RCC Slab for point driving machines, second drive arrangement (for 1 in 9 
turnouts) and any other arrangements required for fixation of signaling equipment duly interfacing 
with designated signaling contractor with prior approval of purchaser 

12. The supplier shall also be responsible to make the provisions in switches (stock rail & tongue rail) for 
all the connections required for point driving machine, Clamp/Claw Lock, second drive (in case of 1 
in 9 turnouts) and any other provisions required for connecting signaling equipment duly interfacing 
with designated signaling contractor with prior approval of the purchaser. 

4.0 Hand Operated Mechanism for 1 in 7 ballasted turnouts 
1)  The supplier shall be responsible for detailed design of hand operated mechanism, required for hand 

operated switches in depot lines, including its connections with the switches with prior approval of 
purchaser. 

5.0  CROSSINGS 
1) All crossings for the main lines and depot lines including diamond crossings shall be cast manganese 

steel crossing both for ballast less and ballasted turnouts. 
2) The cast manganese steel - crossings shall be manufactured from Austenitic Manganese steel as 

defined in UIC Code 866. 
3) All CMS crossings on main lines shall have welded leg extensions of 60 E1 (UIC 60) or similar of 

minimum length of 1.2-meter, 1080 grade head hardened rails (IRS-T12- 2009, with latest amendment) 
and in depot of 880 Grade. This shall be achieved by flash butt welding of buffer transition rail piece 
of suitable thickness to CMS crossings and rail leg extension duly approved by purchaser. 
4) All CMS crossings & their welded leg extensions for all scissors cross-overs shall be suitably 
dimensioned so as to eliminate the necessity of providing small cut rail pieces for the purpose of 
inter-connection. However, the need for providing site fabricated glued insulated joints from 
signaling requirement point of view shall be taken care of in the design duly interfacing with 
designated signaling contractor. 

5) The wheel load transfer surfaces of all CMS crossings for main lines (ballastless and ballasted turnouts) 
shall be artificially hardened by explosive depth hardening to achieve a minimum hardness of 340BHN 
before installation.  

6) All the crossing bodies including diamond of scissors cross-overs as mentioned in schedule of 
requirement shall be explosively depth hardened. However, explosive depth hardening for Turnouts 
shall be done only for main line.  

7) The CMS crossings for ballasted turnouts in depot shall be same as the corresponding CMS crossings 
for ballastless turnouts except for the requirement of explosive hardening, which shall be as per Para 
5(5) above. 

8) The provision of rail cant shall be taken care of on the top surface of the CMS crossings and the bottom 
surface of all CMS crossings shall be flat. 
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6.0 Check rails 

1) The check rail section shall be 33 CI (UIC 33), without any direct connection with running rails except 
for diamond crossing, where suitable check rails/check blocks shall be designed & incorporated in the 
layout duly approved by the purchaser. Check rails in all turnouts & diamond crossings shall have 
facility for the adjustment of check rail clearances up to 10 mm over and above the initial designed 
clearance. Each check rail end shall be flared by machining to have minimum clearance of 62 mm at 
end. 

2) All the check rails shall be higher by 25 mm above running rails. The lengths and positions of the 
check rail in diamond crossings shall provide safety and be compatible with the overall track layout. 

3) The check rail connections for all CMS crossings except for diamond crossings shall be through specially 
designed bearing plates / brackets. 

4) The supplier shall provide the detailed design of check rail and wing rail gaps. A service tolerance of 
minimum 3 mm shall be provided in these clearances/gaps. 
 

7.0 Turnouts, Scissor cross-overs & derailing switches (Ballasted) 
1)  For the PSC Sleepers, the basic layout drawings for the following shall be submitted by the Supplier 

for approval of the Purchaser- 
a) 1 in 7 Turnouts (60 kg rails). 
b) 1 in 7 Derailing switch (60 kg rails). 
c) 1 in 7 Scissors cross-over with track centers of 4.5m (60 kg rails) . 

2. All the slide chairs and bearing plates / special bearing plates / brackets shall be connected to the 
PSC Sleepers through plate screws as per relevant RDSO drawing with suitable lengths of plate screws. 
However, the design & dimensions of corresponding dowels to be embedded in PSC Sleepers shall 
remain the same as per relevant RDSO design & drawing. For this purpose, the insulating bush (for 
ballasted turnouts) to be provided between the plate screws and the holes of slide chairs shall be 
suitably designed to ensure full compatibility & also to ensure interchangeability of slide chairs 
between ballasted & ballast less turnouts. The washers to be provided with plate screws shall be of 
suitable design with prior approval of the purchaser. 

3. The rails in the lead portion and in crossing portion (other than switch portion & the brackets for 
check rail fixation) shall be connected to the PSC Sleepers without bearing plates and the connection 
shall be through SGCI Insert embedded in PSC sleeper, ERC MK III clips of IRS design (RDSO drawing 
no T-5919) and GFN liner (RDSO drawing no T-3706). Between all slide chairs / bearing plates/special 
bearing plates/brackets and PSC Sleepers and also between CMS crossings & PSC Sleepers, EVA Pad 
of 2mm thickness with appropriate dimensions shall be provided. 

4. For attaining 1 in 20 cant of the rail on the locations where the connection of the rail with PSC Sleeper 
is through SGCI Inserts (excluding crossing portion), suitably designed pads of appropriate material 
shall be provided between rail pad & PSC Sleeper with prior approval of Purchaser. 

5. The 6mm thick EVA rail pads with appropriate dimensions shall be provided by Bidder throughout the 
layout (other than crossing portion) duly approved by Purchaser. 

6. The SGCI Inserts to be embedded in PSC Sleepers shall be suitably modified to accommodate the pad 
required to be provided for attaining 1 in 20 rail cant. The supplier shall be responsible to furnish the 
drawings for modified SGCI Inserts to ensure full compatibility with turnout design without affecting 
the required toe load of the ERC MK III Clips. 

7. The supplier shall be responsible to furnish all detailed design and drawings for Mono block PSC 
sleepers for the Turnouts, scissors cross-overs and derailing switches, such as number & length of 
sleepers, dimensions of SGCI Inserts, the hole position for dowels, the location / orientation of SGCI 
Inserts and the provision for fixation of point machine and any other signaling equipment to ensure 
full compatibility with the detailed design of turnouts carried out by the supplier for the approval of 
the Purchaser. 

8. The Purchaser intends to get these Mono block PSC Standard gauge sleepers for Turnout, scissors 
cross-over and derailing switch manufactured indigenously through the Manufacturers of Mono block 
PSC Broad gauge (1673mm) sleepers for Turnout, scissors cross-over and derailing switch available 
in India, approved by RDSO. 

9. Design of the Mono block PSC sleepers for the Turnout, scissors cross-over and derailing switch for 
Standard Gauge shall be broadly in accordance with the design parameters, specifications of raw 
materials, specifications of finished products, codes and drawings as listed below with latest revisions. 
These are basically for manufacturing Broad gauge (1673mm) Mono block PSC sleepers for the Turnout, 
scissors cross-over and derailing switch used on Indian Railway. 
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Design Parameters. 
(i) Track Gauge  - 1435 mm. 
(ii) Rails  - 60 Kg 60 EI (UIC). 
(iii) Axle Load  - 16 T (EMU). 
(iv) Speed  - 90 Kmph (max). 
(v) Spacing of sleepers – 600 (max) - Except at few locations such as near point machine locations 

where it may be varied to meet the design requirements 
(vi) Ballast cushion – 250mm. 

· Specifications and drawings for Raw materials.  
(i) Special Cement– IRS T-40 -1985. 
(ii) HTS wire Plain and Strand – BIS -1785 (Pt-1)-1983 and BIS -6006. 
(iii) SGCI Inserts – IRS T-46-1996, Drg No. RDSO T – 381 Alt-8. 
(iv) Polyethylene dowels – Provisional 1997, Drg No. RDSO T –3002 Alt-3. 

· Elastic fastenings. 
(i) ERC MK III – IRS T-31-1992, Drg No. RDSO T –5919. 
(ii) GFN-66 Insulating liners - IRS T-44-1995, Drg No. RDSO T –3706. 
(iii) 6mm thick EVA Rail pads – As per clause 7 (5) of Technical Specification. The dimension of the 

rail pad shall be in accordance with Drg No. RDSO T-3711. 
· Specifications for Finished products.  

(i) IRS T-45-1996. 
(ii) IRS Bridge code 1982. 
(iii) IS-1343. 

10. Detailed design and relevant specifications to produce Mono block PSC sleepers for the Turnout, 
scissors cross-over and derailing switch suitable for Standard gauge (1435mm) shall be submitted by 
the Supplier for approval to the Purchaser. 

11. Suppliers are also permitted to use International codes of practice and specifications used for 
manufacture of Mono block PSC sleepers for the Turnout, scissors crossover and derailing switch for 
Standard gauge (1435mm). However, they need to submit all the relevant documents to the Purchaser 
for approval. 

12. Bidder to furnish Test and Inspection Plan for Mono block PSC sleepers for the Turnout, scissors cross-
over and derailing switch for Standard gauge (1435mm). 

13.  Bidder to indicate whether the Mono block PSC Sleepers sets for Turnouts are same for Left Hand and 
Right-Hand Turnouts as is in the case of Fan shaped Layout. If not, details for these sleepers shall be 
submitted separately for Left Hand and Right-Hand Turnouts. 

 
8.0 Turnouts & Scissors cross-overs (Ballast less) 

1. The fixation of turnouts, scissors cross-over on RCC Slab shall be through base plates. 
2. The fastening system for ballast less track shall be decided after award of work and supplier should 

design the components like slide chair, base plate etc, as per the fastening decided by Metro. 
However, supply of fastening for Turnouts & Scissors cross-overs will be in scope of supply. 
 

9.0  INTERFACE 
1. The Purchaser has appointed the signaling contractors for Pune Metro Rail Project who is responsible 

for design & installation of signaling system. The supplier shall be required to interface with 
designated signaling contractor for all the information /details, required by him, pertaining to 
signaling installations /equipment for the detailed design of turnouts. 

2. The design of all turnouts shall be suitable to be used in track circuited territory from insulation point 
of view. 

3. The Purchaser has also appointed Rolling Stock suppliers for Pune Metro Rail Projects who are 
responsible for design and supply of Rolling Stock. The supplier shall be required to interface with 
designated Rolling Stock suppliers and incorporate the wheel profile and other relevant information 
for the detailed design of turnouts.
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Scope of Work/Scope of Supply 

10.0  SCOPE OF WORK 
 
10.1  Turnouts, scissors cross-overs & derailing switch (ballasted) 

 
The supplier shall be responsible for detailed design & drawings of turnouts, derailing switches & scissors 
x-over as per Clauses 1 to 9 of Technical Specifications of Turnouts, Scissors X-overs and Derailing Switches 
stated above including all fittings, fastenings, fixtures, various blocks, base plates/special base plates, 
brackets, stretcher bars (other than leading stretcher bar) & their connections, check rails, rail pads, 
intermediate pads, pads for providing 1 in 20 slope on PSC Sleeper, washers, insulating bushes, bolts & 
nuts, switches, crossings etc. complete duly interfacing with designated signaling and rolling stock 
contractors. 
 

(i) The supplier shall be responsible for developing, designing of Mono block PSC sleepers for Standard Gauge 
1 in 7 turnouts, scissors cross-over and derailing switches as per technical specifications including 
submission of detailed drawings, testing and inspection plan, documents with all details etc as per clause 
no. 7 (7 to 14) of Technical Specification. The payment for this item shall be made after the design & 
drawings have been approved by the purchaser. The supplier shall furnish 4 sets of drawings/plans of the 
assemblies and parts duly interfaced with the designated contractors and also the same in PDF. The 
supplier shall also furnish the details of standard components, fixtures & parts in a set of Turnout, Scissor 
Crossover and Derailing Switch. The supplier shall be responsible for preparation of single cross-over 
drawings wherever applicable and Method Statements for laying/installation of each type of 
turnouts/cross-over/scissors cross-over. 
 

 
10.1.1 Scope of supply 

 
The supplier shall be responsible for manufacturing & supply of switches (stock rail & tongue rail), CMS 
crossings with welded leg extensions, check rails, slide chairs, base plates, special base plates, 
brackets, all fittings & fastenings, fixtures., rail pads, intermediate pads, insulating bushes, washers, 
pads for providing 1 in 20 rail cant, all stretchers bars (except leading stretcher bar) with its fixtures, 
various blocks, bolts & nuts, any special fitting etc. complete as per the Technical Specifications and 
Purchaser’s approved drawings except the following. 

 The supplier shall not be required to supply rails other than those required for welded leg extensions 
of CMS crossings & Switches. 

 The supplier shall not be required to supply ERC MK III Clips, GFN Liners and all plate screws. 

 All the fixtures of PSC Sleepers, which are embedded in the PSC Sleepers at the time of PSC sleepers 
casting such as SGCI Inserts and dowels etc. shall not be supplied by the supplier.  

 Supply of MK III fastening for special plates for Turnouts & Scissors cross-overs for depot is in the 
scope of supply of present bid document. 

 ERC, MK III clips for fastening for Scissors crossovers is not covered in present bid document, 
remaining all fitting for Scissors crossovers is covered in present scope of supply. 

 
10.2  Turnouts & Scissors cross-overs (Ballast less) 

 
(j) The supplier shall be responsible for detailed design & drawings of turnout & scissors cross -over as per 

Clauses 1 to 9 of Technical Specifications of Turnouts, Scissors X-overs and Derailing Switches including 
all fittings, fastening, fixtures, various blocks, base plates /special base plates, brackets, stretcher bars 
(other than leading stretcher bar) & their connections, check rails, rail pads, elastic base plate pads, 
intermediate pads, washers, nuts & bolts, second drive arrangement for 1 in 9 turnout (lock on second 
drive if required as per signaling requirement will be provided by designated signaling contractor) & 
scissor cross-over, switches, crossings, etc. complete duly interfacing with the designated signaling and 
rolling stock contractors. The supplier shall be responsible for preparation of single cross-over drawings 
wherever applicable and LCMethod Statements for laying/installation of each type of turnouts/cross-
over/scissors cross-over.  
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The Supplier shall carry out Reliability, Availability, Maintainability and Safety (RAMS) study to ensure the 
design meets National/International standards for uninterrupted operations after commissioning of 
Project.  
 

 
10.2.1 Scope of supply 

 
The supplier shall be responsible for manufacturing & supply of switches (stock rail & tongue rail), CMS 
crossings with welded leg extensions, check rails, slide chairs, base plates, special base plates, brackets, 
all fittings, fixtures., rail pads, intermediate pads, elastic base plate pads, washers, all stretchers bars 
(except leading stretcher bar) with its fixtures, various blocks, bolts & nuts, second drive arrangement 
with its fittings for 1 in 9 turnout (lock on second drive if required as per signaling requirement will be 
provided by designated signaling contractor) & for scissors cross-over, any special fitting etc. complete as 
per the Technical Specifications and Purchaser’s approved drawing, except the following: 
 
· The supplier shall not be required to supply rails other than those required for welded leg extensions 

of CMS crossing & Switches. 
· Fastening System for ballast less track shall be decided after award of work and supplier should design 

the components like slide chair, base plate etc, as per fastening decided by Metro. Supply of fastening 
system for ballast less track is not in the scope of work. 

· All the fastening system for Turnouts & Scissors cross-overs for will be in scope of supply. Fastening 
Systems for switches and crossing for Ballastless Turnouts and Scissor Cross-overs shall be in scope of 
supply which should comply with performance criteria issued by Ministry of Railways vide their letter 
No.2009/Proj/MAS/9/2 dated 21.05.2010 and approved by Ministry of Railways including corrigendum 
and correction slip issued by RDSO till date of closing of tender. 

· Supply of fastening system for switches and crossing of Turnouts and Scissors cross-overs is in present 
bid document excluding lead portion. 

 
11. The Supplier shall be responsible for deployment of requisite track expatriate to guide and witness 

installation of at least 5% of each type of ballast less/ballasted turnouts, scissors cross over etc. or 
minimum one number of each type whichever is higher. Information regarding schedule date of installation 
of turnouts, scissors cross over etc. shall be provided by the Purchaser at least 15 days in advance to the 
Supplier. 
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4. Tender Drawings 
(DELETED) 
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5. Inspections and Tests 

The following inspections and tests shall be performed: 
 
5.1  INSPECTION: The Purchaser and its authorized representative shall be entitled, during manufacture, 

fabrication and preparation at any places where work is being carried out, to inspect, examine and test 
the Materials and workmanship, and to check the progress of manufacture, of all materials to be supplied 
under the Contract. The Supplier shall give them full opportunity to inspect, examine, measure and test 
any stores in supplier’s premises or wherever carried out. 

 
The Supplier shall give due notice to the Purchaser/its representative whenever such stores is ready, 
before packaging, covering up or putting out of view. The Purchaser/its representative/its authorized 
inspecting authority shall then carry out the inspection, examination, measurement or testing without 
unreasonable delay. If the Supplier fails to give such notice, he shall, when required by the Purchaser/its 
representative, uncover such stores and thereafter reinstate and make good at his own cost. 

5.2 Testing: The Supplier shall provide all documents and other information necessary for all types of 
testing and such assistance, labour, materials, electricity, fuel, stores, apparatus and instruments as 
are necessary to carry out such tests efficiently. 

 
The Supplier shall agree, with the Purchaser/its representative, the time and place for the testing of 
any Plant, Materials and other parts of the supplies as specified in the Contract. The Purchaser/its 
representative shall give the Supplier not less than 24 hours' notice of his intention to attend the tests. 
The Supplier shall provide sufficient suitably qualified and experienced staff to carry out the tests 
specified in the Contract. 

 
If the Purchaser/its representative does not attend at the time and place agreed, or if the Supplier and 
the Purchaser/its representative agree that the Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting 
authority shall not attend, the Supplier may proceed with the tests, unless the Purchaser/its 
representative instructs the Supplier otherwise. Such tests shall be deemed to have been made in the 
Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority’s presence. 

 
The Supplier shall promptly forward to the Purchaser/its representative duly certified reports of the 
tests. If the Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority has not attended the tests, 
he shall accept the readings as accurate. When the specified tests have been passed, the Purchaser/its 
representative/its authorised inspecting authority shall endorse the Supplier's test certificate, or issue 
a certificate to him, to that effect. 

 
The expense of conducting such Tests shall be borne by the Supplier. 

5.3  Rejection If, as a result of inspection, examination or testing, the Purchaser/its representative/its 
authorised inspecting authority decides that any material, or workmanship is defective or otherwise not 
in accordance with the Contract, the Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority 
may reject such material, or workmanship and shall notify the Supplier promptly, stating his reasons. 
The Supplier shall then promptly make good the defect and ensure that the rejected item after 
rectification complies with the Contract or alternatively replace that item to the satisfaction of the 
Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority. If the Purchaser/its representative/its 
authorised inspecting authority requires such Plant, Material, or workmanship to be retested, the tests 
shall be repeated under the same terms and conditions. If such rejection and retesting cause the 
Purchaser to incur additional costs, such costs shall be recoverable from the Supplier by the Purchaser 
and may be deducted by the Purchaser from any monies due, or to become due, to the Supplier. 

5.4  Liability after Inspection and Testing: The Supplier shall not be released from any liability or obligation 
under the Contract by reason of any such inspection or testing or witnessing of testing, or by the 
submission of reports of inspection or testing to the Purchaser/its representative/its authorised 
inspecting authority. 

5.5  Ownership of Materials: Each item of material shall become the property of the Purchaser, when it has 
been accepted by the purchaser or payment thereof, either in part or full, has been made. The Supplier 
shall, however, continue to bear the risk in respect of such items that continue to remain in his custody. 

5.6  Cost of Purchaser/its representative/its authorized inspecting authority’s attendance including 
Travel: The Purchaser shall bear the cost of attendance including travel by the Purchaser/its 
representative/its authorised inspecting authority for the purpose of sub-clauses 5.1 & 5.2. The cost of 
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attendance including travel by the Purchaser/its representatives/its authorised inspecting authority for 
the purpose of sub-clause 5.3 shall also be borne by the Supplier. 

5.7  Post-Dispatch Inspection: In addition to the pre-dispatch/pre-shipment inspection, the material/ 
supplies shall also be physically inspected by Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting 
authority at Pune at temporary storage areas after taking delivery from the port to check for any 
damages during transit/shipment. The material, which is classified as damaged shall be rejected. The 
supplier shall be immediately advised about the damaged material for his verification within 15 days of 
such intimation, if he so desires. 

 
6.0 INSPECTING AUTHORITY - POWER OF REJECTION: 
 

6.1 Pre-dispatch rejection by inspecting authority The Inspecting authority shall have the power: - 
 

i) Before any Stores or part thereof are offered for inspection, to certify that they cannot be in 
accordance with the contract owing to the adoption of any unsatisfactory method of manufacture. 

ii) To reject any Stores offered as not being in accordance with the specifications. 
iii) To reject the whole of the instalment Bided for inspection, if after inspection of such portion 

thereof, as he may in his discretion think fit, he is satisfied that the same is unsatisfactory. 
iv) To mark the rejected stores with a rejection mark, so that they may be easily identified if re- 

offered. 
 
The Inspecting authority’s decision as regards the rejection shall be final and binding on the supplier. The 
rejected material as a result of pre-shipment inspection shall not be dispatched by the supplier. 
 
7.0  Rejection at Pune:- The rejected material at Pune shall be on supplier’s account. The payment made 

to the supplier and also total customs duties and landing charges and/or port handling charges etc 
complete paid/expenses incurred by the purchaser for such material shall be recovered from the supplier 
by the Purchaser and shall be deducted by the Purchaser from any monies due or to become due to the 
supplier or by way of en-cashing performance bank guarantee furnished by the supplier. 

The rejected material shall not be taken as part of the quantities to be supplied as per BOQ. 
 

The rejected material shall be removed from the temporary storage areas by the supplier at his own 
cost within 28 days of the date of such rejection. If such stores are not removed by the supplier within 
the periods aforementioned, the Purchaser may dispose-off such stores at the supplier’s risk and on his 
account and retain such portion of the proceeds, if any, from such disposal, as may be necessary to 
recover any expense incurred in connection with such disposals. 
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Section – VIII – GENERAL CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT 

 
1. DEFINITION 
1.1 The following words and expressions shall have the meanings hereby assigned to them: 

(a) “Agency” means the Maharastra Metro Rail Corporation. 
(b) “Contract” means the Contract Agreement entered into between the Purchaser and the Supplier, together 

with the Contract Documents referred to therein, including all attachments, appendices, and all documents 
incorporated by reference therein. 

(c) “Contract Documents” means the documents listed in the Contract Agreement, including any amendments 
thereto. 

(d) “Contract Price” means the price payable to the Supplier as specified in the Contract Agreement, subject 
to such additions and adjustments thereto or deductions therefrom, as may be made pursuant to the 
Contract. 

(e) “Day” means calendar day. 
(f) “Completion” means the fulfillment of the Related Services by the Supplier in accordance with the terms 

and conditions set forth in the Contract. 
(g) “GCC” means the General Conditions of Contract. 
(h) “Goods” means all of the commodities, raw material, machinery and equipment, and/or other materials 

that the Supplier is required to supply to the Purchaser under the Contract. 
(i) “Purchaser’s Country” is the country specified in the Particular Conditions of Contract (PCC). 
(j) “Purchaser” means the entity purchasing the Goods and Related Services, as specified in the PCC. 
(k) “Related Services” means the services incidental to the supply of the goods, such as insurance, installation, 

training and initial maintenance and other such obligations of the Supplier under the Contract. 
(l) “PCC” means the Particular Conditions of Contract. 
(m) “Subcontractor” means any natural person, private or government entity, or a combination of the 

above, to whom any part of the Goods to be supplied or execution of any part of the Related Services 
is subcontracted by the Supplier. 

(n) “Supplier” means the natural person, private or government entity, or a combination of the above, whose 
bid to perform the Contract has been accepted by the Purchaser and is named as such in the Contract 
Agreement 

(o) “The Project Site,” where applicable, means the place named in the SCC. 

2. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
2.1 Subject to the order of precedence set forth in the Contract Agreement, all documents forming the 

Contract (and all parts thereof) are intended to be correlative, complementary, and mutually explanatory. 
The Contract Agreement shall be read as a whole 

3. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

3.1 The Agency requires compliance with its policy in regard to corrupt and fraudulent practices as set forth 
in Appendix 1 to the SCC. 

4. INTERPRETATION 
4.1 If the context so requires it, singular means plural and vice versa 
4.2 Incoterms 

(a) Unless inconsistent with any provision of the Contract, the meaning of any trade term and the rights 
and obligations of parties thereunder shall be as prescribed by Incoterms. 

(b) The terms EXW, CIP, DPP and other similar terms, when used, shall be governed by the rules prescribed 
in the current edition of Incoterms specified in the SCC and published by the International Chamber 
of Commerce in Paris, France. 

4.3 Entire Agreement :- The Contract constitutes the entire agreement between the Purchaser and the 
Supplier and supersedes all communications, negotiations and agreements (whether written or oral) of the 
parties with respect thereto made prior to the date of Contract 

4.4 Amendment :- No amendment or other variation of the Contract shall be valid unless it is in writing, is 
dated, expressly refers to the Contract, and is signed by a duly authorized representative of each party 
thereto. 

4.5 Non-waiver :- 
(a) Subject to GCC Sub-Clause 4.5(b) below, no relaxation, forbearance, delay, or indulgence by either 

party in enforcing any of the terms and conditions of the Contract or the granting of time by either 
party to the other shall prejudice, affect, or restrict the rights of that party under the Contract, 
neither shall any waiver by either party of any breach of Contract operate as waiver of any subsequent 
or continuing breach of Contract 
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(b) Any waiver of a party’s rights, powers, or remedies under the Contract must be in writing, dated, and 

signed by an authorized representative of the party granting such waiver, and must specify the right 
and the extent to which it is being waived 

4.6 SEVERABILITY: - If any provision or condition of the Contract is prohibited or rendered invalid or 
unenforceable, such prohibition, invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of any other provisions and conditions of the Contract. 

5. LANGUAGE 
5.1 The Contract as well as all correspondence and documents relating to the Contract exchanged by the 

Supplier and the Purchaser, shall be written in the language specified in the SCC. Supporting documents 
and printed literature that are part of the Contract may be in another language provided they are 
accompanied by an accurate translation of the relevant passages in the language specified, in which 
case, for purposes of interpretation of the Contract, this translation shall govern. 

5.2 The Supplier shall bear all costs of translation to the governing language and all risks of the accuracy of 
such translation, for documents provided by the Supplier. 

6. JOINT VENTURE, CONSORTIUM OR ASSOCIATION 
6.1 If the Supplier is a joint venture, consortium, or association, all of the parties shall be jointly and 

severally liable to the Purchaser for the fulfillment of the provisions of the Contract and shall designate 
one party to act as a leader with authority to bind the joint venture, consortium, or association. The 
composition or the constitution of the joint venture, consortium, or association shall not be altered 
without the prior consent of the Purchaser. 

7. ELIGIBILITY 
7.1 All Goods and Related Services to be supplied under the Contract and financed by the Agency shall have 

their origin in any eligible source as specified in the SCC. For the purpose of this Clause, origin means the 
country where the goods have been grown, mined, cultivated, produced, manufactured, or processed; or 
through manufacture, processing, or assembly, another commercially recognized article results that differs 
substantially in its basic characteristics from its components. 

8. NOTICES 
8.1 Any notice given by one party to the other pursuant to the Contract shall be in writing to the address 

specified in the SCC. The term “in writing” means communicated in written form with proof of receipt. 
8.2 A notice shall be effective when delivered or on the notice’s effective date, whichever is later. 
9. GOVERNING LAW 

9.1 The Contract shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Purchaser’s Country, 

unless otherwise specified in the SCC. 
10. SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES 
10.1 The Purchaser and the Supplier shall make every effort to resolve amicably by direct informal negotiation 

any disagreement or dispute arising between them under or in connection with the Contract. 
10.2 If, after twenty-eight (28) days, the parties have failed to resolve their dispute or difference by such 

mutual consultation, then either the Purchaser or the Supplier may give notice to the other party of its 
intention to commence arbitration, as hereinafter provided, as to the matter in dispute, and no arbitration 
in respect of this matter may be commenced unless such notice is given. Any dispute or difference in 
respect of which a notice of intention to commence arbitration has been given in accordance with this 
Clause shall be finally settled by arbitration. Arbitration may be commenced prior to or after delivery of 
the Goods under the Contract. Arbitration proceedings shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of 
procedure specified in the SCC. 

10.3 Notwithstanding any reference to arbitration herein, 
(a) the parties shall continue to perform their respective obligations under the Contract unless they 

otherwise agree; and 
(b) the Purchaser shall pay the Supplier any monies due the Supplier. 

11. INSPECTION AND AUDIT BY THE AGENCY 
11.1 The Supplier shall keep and shall make all reasonable efforts to cause its Subcontractors to keep accurate and 

systematic accounts and records, in respect of the Goods in such form and details as will clearly identify 
relevant time changes and costs. 

11.2 The Supplier shall permit, and shall cause its Subcontractors and consultants to permit, the Agency and/or 
persons appointed by the Agency to inspect the Supplier’s offices and all accounts and records relating to the 
performance of the Contract and the submission of the bid, and to have such accounts and records audited by 
auditors appointed by the Agency if requested by the Agency. 

12. SCOPE OF SUPPLY 
12.1 The Goods and Related Services to be supplied shall be as specified in the Schedule of Requirements. 
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13. DELIVERY AND DOCUMENTS 
13.1 Subject to GCC Sub-Clause 33.1, the Delivery of the Goods and Completion of the Related Services shall be in 

accordance with the Delivery and Completion Schedule specified in the Schedule of Requirements. The details 
of shipping and other documents to be furnished by the Supplier are specified in the PCC. 

14. SUPPLIER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
14.1 The Supplier shall supply all the Goods and Related Services included in the Scope of Supply in accordance 

with GCC Clause 12, & the Delivery and Completion Schedule, as per GCC Clause 13. 
15. CONTRACT PRICE 
15.1 Prices charged by the Supplier for the Goods supplied and the Related Services performed under the 

Contract shall not vary from the prices quoted by the Supplier in its bid, with the exception of any price 
adjustments authorized in the PCC. 

16. TERMS OF PAYMENT 
16.1 The Contract Price, including any Advance Payments, if applicable, shall be paid as specified in the SCC. 
16.2 The Supplier’s request for payment shall be made to the Purchaser in writing, accompanied by invoices 

describing, as appropriate, the Goods delivered, and Related Services performed, and by the documents 
submitted pursuant to GCC Clause 13 and upon fulfillment of all other obligations stipulated in the 
Contract. 

 
Payments shall be made promptly by the Purchaser, but in no case later than sixty (60) days after 
submission of an invoice or request for payment by the Supplier, and after the Purchaser has accepted it. 
 
The currencies in which payments shall be made to the Supplier under this Contract shall be those in which 
the bid price is expressed 

16.3    In the event the Purchaser fails to pay the Supplier any payment by its due date or within the period set forth in 
the SCC, the purchaser shall pay to the supplier interest on the amount of such delayed payment at the rate 
shown in the SCC, for the period of delay until payment has been made in full, whether before or after judgement 
or arbitrage award 

17. TERMS AND DUTIES 
17.1 For goods manufactured outside the Purchaser’s Country, the Supplier shall be entirely responsible for all 

taxes, stamp duties, license fees, and other such levies imposed outside the Purchaser’s Country. 
17.2 For goods manufactured within the Purchaser’s country, the Supplier shall be entirely responsible for all 

taxes, duties, license fees, etc., incurred until delivery of the contracted Goods to the Purchaser. 
17.3 If any tax exemptions, reductions, allowances or privileges may be available to the Supplier in the 

Purchaser’s Country as specified in the SCC, the Purchaser shall use its best efforts to enable the Supplier 
to benefit from any such tax savings to the maximum allowable extent. 

18. PERFORMANCE SECURITY 
18.1 The Supplier shall, within twenty-eight (28) days of the notification of contract award, provide a 

performance security for the performance of the Contract in the amount specified in the SCC. 
18.2 The proceeds of the Performance Security shall be payable to the Purchaser as compensation for any loss 

resulting from the Supplier’s failure to complete its obligations under the Contract 
18.3 The Performance Security shall be denominated in the currency(ies) of the Contract, or in a freely 

convertible currency acceptable to the Purchaser; and shall be in one of the format stipulated by the 
Purchaser in the SCC, or in another format acceptable to the Purchaser. 

18.4 The Performance Security shall be discharged by the Purchaser and returned to the Supplier not later than 
twenty-eight (28) days following the date of Completion of the Supplier’s performance obligations under 
the Contract, including any warranty obligations, unless specified otherwise in the SCC. 

19. COPYRIGHT 
19.1 The copyright in all drawings, documents, and other materials containing data and information furnished 

to the Purchaser by the Supplier herein shall remain vested in the Supplier, or, if they are furnished to the 
Purchaser directly or through the Supplier by any third party, including suppliers of materials, the copyright 
in such materials shall remain vested in such third party. 

20. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
20.1 The Purchaser and the Supplier shall keep confidential and shall not, without the written consent of the 

other party hereto, divulge to any third party any documents, data, or other information furnished directly 
or indirectly by the other party hereto in connection with the Contract, whether such information has been 
furnished prior to, during or following completion or termination of the Contract. Notwithstanding the 
above, the Supplier may furnish to its Subcontractor such documents, data, and other information it 
receives from the Purchaser to the extent required for the Subcontractor to perform its work under the 
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Contract, in which event the Supplier shall obtain from such Subcontractor an undertaking of 
confidentiality similar to that imposed on the Supplier under GCC Clause 20. 

20.2 The Purchaser shall not use such documents, data, and other information received from the Supplier for 
any purposes unrelated to the contract. Similarly, the Supplier shall not use such documents, data, and 
other information received from the Purchaser for any purpose other than the performance of the Contract. 

20.3 The obligation of a party under GCC Sub-Clauses 20.1 and 20.2 above, however, shall not apply to 
information that: 
(a) the Purchaser or Supplier need to share with the Agency or other institutions participating in the 

financing of the Contract; 
(b) now or hereafter enters the public domain through no fault of that party; 
(c) can be proven to have been possessed by that party at the time of disclosure and which was not 

previously obtained, directly or indirectly, from the other party; or 
(d) otherwise lawfully becomes available to that party from a third party that has no obligation of 

confidentiality. 
20.4 The above provisions of GCC Clause 20 shall not in any way modify any undertaking of confidentiality given 

by either of the parties hereto prior to the date of the Contract in respect of the Supply or any part thereof. 
20.5 The provisions of GCC Clause 20 shall survive completion or termination, for whatever reason, of the 

Contract. 
21. SUBCONTRACTING 
21.1 The Supplier shall notify the Purchaser in writing of all subcontracts awarded under the Contract if not 

already specified in the bid. Such notification, in the original bid or later shall not relieve the Supplier 
from any of its obligations, duties, responsibilities, or liability under the Contract. 

21.2 Subcontracts shall comply with the provisions of GCC Clauses 3 and 7. 
22. SPECIFICATIONS AND STANDARDS 
22.1 Technical Specifications and Drawings 

(a) The Goods and Related Services supplied under this Contract shall conform to the technical 
specifications and standards mentioned in Section VII, Schedule of Requirements and, when no 
applicable standard is mentioned, the standard shall be equivalent or superior to the official 
standards whose application is appropriate to the Goods’ country of origin. 

(b) The Supplier shall be entitled to disclaim responsibility for any design, data, drawing, specification 
or other document, or any modification thereof provided or designed by or on behalf of the Purchaser, 
by giving a notice of such disclaimer to the Purchaser. 

(c) Wherever references are made in the Contract to codes and standards in accordance with which it 
shall be executed, the edition or the revised version of such codes and standards shall be those 
specified in the Schedule of Requirements. During Contract execution, any changes in any such codes 
and standards shall be applied only after approval by the Purchaser and shall be treated in accordance 
with GCC Clause 33 

23. PACKING AND DOCUMENTS 
23.1 The Supplier shall provide such packing of the Goods as is required to prevent their damage or deterioration 

during transit to their final destination, as indicated in the Contract. During transit, the packing shall be 
sufficient to withstand, without limitation, rough handling and exposure to extreme temperatures, salt 
and precipitation, and open storage. Packing case size and weights shall take into consideration, where 
appropriate, the remoteness of the goods’ final destination and the absence of heavy handling facilities at 
all points in transit. 

23.2 The packing, marking, and documentation within and outside the packages shall comply strictly with such 
special requirements as shall be expressly provided for in the Contract, including additional requirements, 
if any, specified in the SCC, and in any other instructions ordered by the Purchaser. 

24. INSURANCE 
24.1  Unless otherwise specified in the SCC, the Goods supplied under the Contract shall be fully insured—in a 

freely convertible currency from an eligible country—against loss or damage incidental to manufacture or 
acquisition, transportation, storage, and delivery, in accordance with the applicable Incoterms or in the 
manner specified in the SCC. 

25. TRANSPORTATION 
25.1 Unless otherwise specified in the SCC, responsibility for arranging transportation of the Goods shall be in 

accordance with the specified Incoterms. 
25.2 The Supplier may be required to provide any or all of the following services, including additional services, 

if any, specified in SCC: 
(a) performance or supervision of on-site assembly and/or start-up of the supplied Goods; 
(b) furnishing of tools required for assembly and/or maintenance of the supplied Goods; 
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(c) furnishing of a detailed operations and maintenance manual for each appropriate unit of the supplied 
Goods; 

(d) performance or supervision or maintenance and/or repair of the supplied Goods, for a period of time 
agreed by the parties, provided that this service shall not relieve the Supplier of any warranty 
obligations under this Contract; and 

(e) training of the Purchaser’s personnel, at the Supplier’s plant and/or on-site, in assembly, start-up, 
operation, maintenance, and/or repair of the supplied Goods. 

25.3 Prices charged by the Supplier for incidental services, if not included in the Contract Price for the Goods, 
shall be agreed upon in advance by the parties and shall not exceed the prevailing rates charged to other 
parties by the Supplier for similar services. 

26. INSPECTIONS AND TESTS 
26.1 The Supplier shall at its own expense and at no cost to the Purchaser carry out all such tests and/or 

inspections of the Goods and Related Services as are specified in the SCC. 
26.2 The inspections and tests may be conducted on the premises of the Supplier or its Subcontractor, at point 

of delivery, and/or at the Goods’ final destination, or in another place in the Purchaser’s Country as 
specified in the SCC. Subject to GCC Sub-Clause 26.3, if conducted on the premises of the Supplier or its 
Subcontractor, all reasonable facilities and assistance, including access to drawings and production data, 
shall be furnished to the inspectors at no charge to the Purchaser. 

26.3 The Purchaser or its designated representative shall be entitled to attend the tests and/or inspections 
referred to in GCC Sub-Clause 26.2, provided that the Purchaser bear all of its own costs and expenses 
incurred in connection with such attendance including, but not limited to, all traveling and board and 
lodging expenses. 

26.4 Whenever the Supplier is ready to carry out any such test and inspection, it shall give a reasonable advance 
notice, including the place and time, to the Purchaser. The Supplier shall obtain from any relevant third 
party or manufacturer any necessary permission or consent to enable the Purchaser or its designated 
representative to attend the test and/or inspection. 

26.5 The Purchaser may require the Supplier to carry out any test and/or inspection not required by the Contract 
but deemed necessary to verify that the characteristics and performance of the Goods comply with the 
technical specifications, codes and standards under the Contract, provided that the Supplier’s reasonable 
costs and expenses incurred in the carrying out of such test and/or inspection shall be added to the 
Contract Price. Further, if such test and/or inspection impedes the progress of manufacturing and/or the 
Supplier’s performance of its other obligations under the Contract, due allowance will be made in respect 
of the Delivery Dates and Completion Dates and the other obligations so affected. 

26.6 The Supplier shall provide the Purchaser with a report of the results of any such test and/or inspection. 
26.7 The Purchaser may reject any Goods or any part thereof that fail to pass any test and/or inspection or do 

not conform to the specifications. The Supplier shall either rectify or replace such rejected Goods or parts 
thereof or make alterations necessary to meet the specifications at no cost to the Purchaser, and shall 
repeat the test and/or inspection, at no cost to the Purchaser, upon giving a notice pursuant to GCC Sub-
Clause 26.4. 

26.8 The Supplier agrees that neither the execution of a test and/or inspection of the Goods or any part thereof, 
nor the attendance by the Purchaser or its representative, nor the issue of any report pursuant to GCC Sub-
Clause 26.6, shall release the Supplier from any warranties or other obligations under the Contract. 

27. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
27.1 Except as provided under GCC Clause 32, if the Supplier fails to deliver any or all of the Goods by the 

Date(s) of delivery or perform the Related Services within the period specified in the Contract, the 
Purchaser may without prejudice to all its other remedies under the Contract, deduct from the Contract 
Price, as liquidated damages, a sum equivalent to the percentage specified in the SCC of the delivered 
price of the delayed Goods or unperformed Services for each week or part thereof of delay until actual 
delivery or performance, up to a maximum deduction of the percentage specified in those SCC. Once the 
maximum is reached, the Purchaser may terminate the Contract pursuant to GCC Clause 35. 

28. WARRANTY 
28.1 The Supplier warrants that all the Goods are new, unused, and of the most recent or current models, and 

that they incorporate all recent improvements in design and materials, unless provided otherwise in the 
Contract. 

28.2 Subject to GCC Sub-Clause 22.1(b), the Supplier further warrants that the Goods shall be free from defects 
arising from any act or omission of the Supplier or arising from design, materials, and workmanship, under 
normal use in the conditions prevailing in the country of final destination. 

28.3 Unless otherwise specified in the SCC, the warranty shall remain valid for twelve (12) months after the 
Goods, or any portion thereof as the case may be, have been delivered to and accepted at the final 
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destination indicated in the SCC, or for eighteen (18) months after the date of shipment from the port or 
place of loading in the country of origin, whichever period concludes earlier. 

28.4 The Purchaser shall give notice to the Supplier stating the nature of any such defects together with all 
available evidence thereof, promptly following the discovery thereof. The Purchaser shall afford all 
reasonable opportunity for the Supplier to inspect such defects. 

28.5 Upon receipt of such notice, the Supplier shall, within the period specified in the SCC, expeditiously repair 
or replace the defective Goods or parts thereof, at no cost to the Purchaser. 

28.6 If having been notified, the Supplier fails to remedy the defect within the period specified in the SCC, the 
Purchaser may proceed to take within a reasonable period such remedial action as may be necessary, at 
the Supplier’s risk and expense and without prejudice to any other rights which the Purchaser may have 
against the Supplier under the Contract. 

 
29. PATENT INDEMNITY 
29.1 The Supplier shall, subject to the Purchaser’s compliance with GCC Sub-Clause 29.2, indemnify and hold 

harmless the Purchaser and its employees and officers from and against any and all suits, actions or 
administrative proceedings, claims, demands, losses, damages, costs, and expenses of any nature, 
including attorney’s fees and expenses, which the Purchaser may suffer as a result of any infringement or 
alleged infringement of any patent, utility model, registered design, trademark, copyright, or other 
intellectual property right registered or otherwise existing at the date of the Contract by reason of: 
(a) the installation of the Goods by the Supplier or the use of the Goods in the country where the Site is 

located; and 
(b) the sale in any country of the products produced by the Goods.  

 
Such indemnity shall not cover any use of the Goods or any part thereof other than for the purpose indicated 
by or to be reasonably inferred from the Contract, neither any infringement resulting from the use of the 
Goods or any part thereof, or any products produced thereby in association or combination with any other 
equipment, plant, or materials not supplied by the Supplier, pursuant to the Contract. 

29.2 If any proceedings are brought or any claim is made against the Purchaser arising out of the matters 
referred to in GCC Sub-Clause 29.1, the Purchaser shall promptly give the Supplier a notice thereof, and 
the Supplier may at its own expense and in the Purchaser’s name conduct such proceedings or claim and 
any negotiations for the settlement of any such proceedings or claim. 

29.3 If the Supplier fails to notify the Purchaser within twenty-eight (28) days after receipt of such notice that 
it intends to conduct any such proceedings or claim, then the Purchaser shall be free to conduct the same 
on its own behalf. 

29.4 The Purchaser shall, at the Supplier’s request, afford all available assistance to the Supplier in conducting 
such proceedings or claim, and shall be reimbursed by the Supplier for all reasonable expenses incurred in 
so doing. 

29.5 The Purchaser shall indemnify and hold harmless the Supplier and its employees, officers, and 
Subcontractors from and against any and all suits, actions or administrative proceedings, claims, demands, 
losses, damages, costs, and expenses of any nature, including attorney’s fees and expenses, which the 
Supplier may suffer as a result of any infringement or alleged infringement of any patent, utility model, 
registered design, trademark, copyright, or other intellectual property right registered or otherwise 
existing at the date of the Contract arising out of or in connection with any design, data, drawing, 
specification, or other documents or materials provided or designed by or on behalf of the Purchaser. 

30. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
30.1 Except in cases of criminal negligence or willful misconduct, 

(a) the Supplier shall not be liable to the Purchaser, whether in contract, tort, or otherwise, for any 
indirect or consequential loss or damage, loss of use, loss of production, or loss of profits or interest 
costs, provided that this exclusion shall not apply to any obligation of the Supplier to pay liquidated 
damages to the Purchaser and 

(b) the aggregate liability of the Supplier to the Purchaser, whether under the Contract, in tort or 
otherwise, shall not exceed the total Contract Price, provided that this limitation shall not apply to 
the cost of repairing or replacing defective equipment, or to any obligation of the supplier to 
indemnify the purchaser with respect to patent infringement 

31. CHANGE IN LAWS AND REGULATIONS 
31.1 Unless otherwise specified in the Contract, if after the date of 28  days prior to date of Bid submission, 

any law, regulation, ordinance, order or bylaw having the force of law is enacted, promulgated, 
abrogated, or changed in the place of the Purchaser’s country where the Site is located (which shall be 
deemed to include any change in interpretation or application by the competent authorities) that 
subsequently affects the Delivery Date and/or the Contract Price, then such Delivery Date and/or 
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Contract Price shall be correspondingly increased or decreased, to the extent that the Supplier has 
thereby been affected in the performance of any of its obligations under the Contract. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, such additional or reduced cost shall not be separately paid or credited if the same has 
already been accounted for in the price adjustment provisions where applicable, in accordance with GCC 
Clause 15. 

32. FORCE MAJEURE 
32.1 The Supplier shall not be liable for forfeiture of its Performance Security, liquidated damages, or 

termination for default if and to the extent that its delay in performance or other failure to perform its 
obligations under the Contract is the result of an event of Force Majeure. 

32.2 For purposes of this Clause, “Force Majeure” means an event or situation beyond the control of the Supplier 
that is not foreseeable, is unavoidable, and its origin is not due to negligence or lack of care on the part 
of the Supplier. Such events may include, but not be limited to, acts of the Purchaser in its sovereign 
capacity, wars or revolutions, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, and freight embargoes. 

32.3 If a Force Majeure situation arises, the Supplier shall promptly notify the Purchaser in writing of such 
condition and the cause thereof. Unless otherwise directed by the Purchaser in writing, the Supplier shall 
continue to perform its obligations under the Contract as far as is reasonably practical, and shall seek all 
reasonable alternative means for performance not prevented by the Force Majeure event. 

33. CHANGE ORDERS AND CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 
33.1 The Purchaser may at any time order the Supplier through notice in accordance GCC Clause 8, to make 

changes within the general scope of the Contract in any one or more of the following:  
(a) drawings, designs, or specifications, where Goods to be furnished under the Contract are to be 

specifically manufactured for the Purchaser; 
(b) the method of shipment or packing; 
(c) the place of delivery; and 

(d) the Related Services to be provided by the Supplier. 
33.2 If any such change causes an increase or decrease in the cost of, or the time required for, the Supplier’s 

performance of any provisions under the Contract, an equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract 
Price or in the Delivery/Completion Schedule, or both, and the Contract shall accordingly be amended. 
Any claims by the Supplier for adjustment under this Clause must be asserted within twenty-eight (28) days 
from the date of the Supplier’s receipt of the Purchaser’s change order. 

33.3 Prices to be charged by the Supplier for any Related Services that might be needed but which were not 
included in the Contract shall be agreed upon in advance by the parties and shall not exceed the prevailing 
rates charged to other parties by the Supplier for similar services. 

33.4 Subject to the above, no variation in or modification of the terms of the Contract shall be made except by 
written amendment signed by the parties. 

34. EXTENSIONS OF TIME 
34.1 If at any time during performance of the Contract, the Supplier or its subcontractors should encounter 

conditions impeding timely delivery of the Goods or completion of Related Services pursuant to GCC Clause 
13, the Supplier shall promptly notify the Purchaser in writing of the delay, its likely duration, and its 
cause. As soon as practicable after receipt of the Supplier’s notice, the Purchaser shall evaluate the 
situation and may at its discretion extend the Supplier’s time for performance, in which case the extension 
shall be ratified by the parties by amendment of the Contract. 

34.2 Except in case of Force Majeure, as provided under GCC Clause 32, a delay by the Supplier in the 
performance of its Delivery and Completion obligations shall render the Supplier liable to the imposition 
of liquidated damages pursuant to GCC Clause 27, unless an extension of time is agreed upon, pursuant to 
GCC Sub-Clause 34.1. 

35. TERMINATION 
35.1 Termination for Default  

(a) The Purchaser, without prejudice to any other remedy for breach of Contract, by written notice of 
default sent to the Supplier, may terminate the Contract in whole or in part: 
(i) if the Supplier fails to deliver any or all of the Goods within the period specified in the Contract, 

or within any extension thereof granted by the Purchaser pursuant to GCC Clause 34; 
(ii) if the Supplier fails to perform any other obligation under the Contract; or  
(iii) if the Supplier, in the judgment of the Purchaser has engaged in fraud and corruption, as defined 

in GCC Clause 3, in competing for or in executing the Contract. 
(b) In the event the Purchaser terminates the Contract in whole or in part, pursuant to GCC Clause 

35.1(a), the Purchaser may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as it deems appropriate, 
Goods or Related Services similar to those undelivered or not performed, and the Supplier shall be 
liable to the Purchaser for any additional costs for such similar Goods or Related Services. 
However, the Supplier shall continue performance of the Contract to the extent not terminated.  
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35.2 Termination for Insolvency. 
(a) The Purchaser may at any time terminate the Contract by giving notice to the Supplier if the Supplier 

becomes bankrupt or otherwise insolvent. In such event, termination will be without compensation to 
the Supplier, provided that such termination will not prejudice or affect any right of action or remedy 
that has accrued or will accrue thereafter to the Purchaser. 

35.3 Termination for Convenience. 
(a) The Purchaser, by notice sent to the Supplier, may terminate the Contract, in whole or in part, at any 

time for its convenience. The notice of termination shall specify that termination is for the Purchaser’s 
convenience, the extent to which performance of the Supplier under the Contract is terminated, and 
the date upon which such termination becomes effective. 

(b) The Goods that are complete and ready for shipment within twenty-eight (28) days after the Supplier’s 
receipt of notice of termination shall be accepted by the Purchaser at the Contract terms and prices. 
For the remaining Goods, the Purchaser may elect: 
i. to have any portion completed and delivered at the Contract terms and prices; and/or 
ii. to cancel the remainder and pay to the Supplier an agreed amount for partially completed Goods 

and Related Services and for materials and parts previously procured by the Supplier. 
36. ASSIGNMENT 
36.1 Neither the Purchaser nor the Supplier shall assign, in whole or in part, their obligations under this 

Contract, except with prior written consent of the other party. 
37. EXPORT RESTRICTION 
37.1 Notwithstanding any obligation under the Contract to complete all export formalities, any export 

restrictions attributable to the Purchaser, to the country of the Purchaser, or to the use of the 
products/goods, systems or services to be supplied, which arise from trade regulations from a country 
supplying those products/goods, systems or services, and which substantially impede the Supplier from 
meeting its obligations under the Contract, shall release the Supplier from the obligation to provide 
deliveries or services, always provided, however, that the Supplier can demonstrate to the satisfaction of 
the Purchaser and of the Agency that it has completed all formalities in a timely manner, including applying 
for permits, authorizations and licenses necessary for the export of the products/goods, systems or services 
under the terms of the Contract. Termination of the Contract on this basis shall be for the Purchaser’s 
convenience pursuant to Sub-Clause 35.3. 
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Section IX. Particular Conditions of Contract 

 
The following Particular Conditions of Contract (PCC) shall supplement and / or amend the General Conditions of 
Contract (GCC). Whenever there is a conflict, the provisions herein shall prevail over those in the GCC. 
 

GCC 
Reference 

clause 

Description 

GCC 1.1(i) The Purchaser’s country is : India 

GCC 1.1(j) The Purchaser is : Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Ltd 

GCC 1.1(o) The Project Site(s)/Final Destination(s) is : Range Hill depot (Agricultural College 
Area)/Vanaz Depot Pune or at any other location in PUNE METROPOLITAN REGION as directed 
by the Engineer 

GCC 4.2 The meaning of the trade terms shall be as prescribed by Incoterms. The version edition of 
Incoterms shall be Incoterms 2010. 

GCC 5.1 The governing and communication language shall be English. 

GCC 6.1 In case JV/Consortium, single purchase order is placed to JV/Consortium and addressed to 
the lead member.  Performance Guarantee should be submitted y lead partner in case of a 
JV/Consortium. 

GCC 7.1 Goods and services from countries under embargo from Germany, the European Union or the 
United Nations are not eligible. 

GCC 8.1 For notices, the Purchaser’s email address shall be: 
mahametro.tenders@gmail.comTelephone: Ph 020-26051072 

GCC 9.1 The governing law shall be the law of India. 

GCC 10.2 The rules of procedure for arbitration proceedings pursuant to GCC Clause 10.2 shall be as 
follows: 
ARBITRATION & RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES: 
1) The Arbitration and Conciliation Act – 1996 of India shall be applicable 
2) Purchaser and the supplier shall make every necessary effort to resolve amicably by direct 

and informal negotiation any disagreement or dispute arising between them under or in 
connection with contract. 

3) Arbitration If the efforts to resolve all or any of the disputes through conciliation fails, 
then such disputes or differences, whatsoever arising between the parties, arising out of 
touching or relating to supply/ manufacture, measuring operation or effect of the 
Contract or the breach thereof shall be referred to Arbitration in accordance with the 
following provisions: 
(a) Matters to be arbitrated upon shall be referred to a sole Arbitrator where the total 

value of claims does not exceed Rs.1.5 million. Beyond the claim limit of Rs.1.5 
million, there shall be three Arbitrators. For this purpose, the Purchaser will make 
out a panel of engineers with the requisite qualifications and professional 
experience. This panel will be of serving or retired engineers of Government 
Departments or of Public Sector Undertakings. 

(b) For the disputes to be decided by a sole Arbitrator, a list of three engineers taken 
from the aforesaid panel will be sent to the supplier by the Purchaser from which the 
supplier will choose one; 

(c) For the disputes to be decided by three Arbitrators, the Purchaser will make out a 
list of five engineers from the aforesaid panel. The supplier and Purchaser shall 
choose one Arbitrator each and the two so chosen shall choose the third Arbitrator 
from the said list, who shall act as the presiding Arbitrator; 

(d) Neither party shall be limited in the proceedings before such Arbitrators(s) to the 
evidence or the arguments put before the Conciliator; 

(e) The Conciliation and Arbitration hearings shall be held in Pune only. The language of 
the proceedings that of the documents and communications shall be English and the 
awards shall be made in writing. The Arbitrators shall always give item-wise and 
reasoned awards in all cases where the total claim exceeds Rs.One million; and 

(f) The award of the sole Arbitrator or the award by majority of three Arbitrators as the 
case may be shall be binding on all parties. 

mailto:mahametropune.tenders@gmail.com
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4) Interest on Arbitration Award: Where the arbitral award is for the payment of money, no 
interest shall be payable on whole or any part of the money for any period, till the date 
on which the award is made. 

5) Cost of Arbitration: The cost of arbitration shall be borne by the respective parties. The 
cost shall, inter alia, include the fees of the Arbitrator(s) as per rates fixed by the 
Purchaser from time to time. 

6) Jurisdiction of Courts: Where recourse to a Court is to be made in respect of any matter, 
the Purchaser and the supplier agree to the sole jurisdiction of courts in Nagpur. 

7) Suspension of works on Account of Arbitration: - The reference to Conciliation / 
Arbitration shall proceed not withstanding that the Supplies shall not then be or be 
alleged to be complete, provided always that the obligations of the Purchaser/its 
representative and the supplier shall not be altered by reasons of arbitration being 
conducted during the progress of the Supplies. Neither party shall be entitled to suspend 
the supplies or part of the supplies to which the dispute relates on account of arbitration 
and payments to the supplier shall continue to be made in terms of the Contract. 

GCC 13.1 DELIVERY(DDP) - INVOICING PROCEDURE: 
1. The stores shall be delivered free of expense to the Purchaser on board the vessels with 
ocean transportation to Range Hill depot (Agricultural College Area)/Vanaz Depot Pune or 
at any other location in PUNE METROPOLITAN REGION as directed by the Engineer including 
all insurances covering transit risk upto Range Hill depot (Agricultural College Area)/Vanaz 
Depot Pune or at any other location in PUNE METROPOLITAN REGION as directed by the 
Engineer being paid by the supplier. 
2. Invoicing of the supplied goods should clearly mention various cost components of the 
DDP cost separately viz., Cost of supply, freight, Insurance, taxes etc. The proforma of 
invoice shall be submitted to Purchaser before raising actual invoice 
For Goods supplied from abroad: 
Upon shipment, the Supplier shall notify the Purchaser and the Insurance Company by cable or 
by electronic way previously agreed between parties the full details of the shipment, including 
Contract number, description of Goods, quantity, the vessel, the bill of lading number and 
date, port of loading, date of shipment, port of discharge, etc. The Supplier shall mail the 
following documents to the Purchaser, with a copy to the Insurance Company: 
(i) copies of the Supplier’s invoice showing Goods’ description, quantity, unit price, and 

total amount; 
(ii) original and copies of the negotiable, clean, on-board bill of lading marked “freight 

prepaid” and copies of nonnegotiable bill of lading; 
(iii) copies of the packing list identifying contents of each package; 
(iv) insurance certificate; 
(v) Manufacturer’s or Supplier’s warranty certificate; 
(vi) inspection certificate, issued by the nominated inspection agency, and the Supplier’s 

factory inspection report; and 
(vii) certificate of origin. 
 
For Goods from within the Purchaser’s country:  
 
Upon delivery of the Goods to the transporter, the Supplier shall notify the Purchaser and 
mail the following documents to the Purchaser :- 

 
(i) the Supplier’s invoice showing Goods’ description, quantity, unit price, and total 

amount; 
(ii) delivery note, railway receipt, or truck receipt; 
(iii) Manufacturer’s or Supplier’s warranty certificate; 
(iv) inspection certificate issued by the nominated inspection agency, and the Supplier’s 

factory inspection report; and 
(v) certificate of origin. 
 
The above documents shall be received by the Purchaser at least one week before arrival of 
the Goods at the port or place of arrival and, if not received, the Supplier will be responsible 
for any consequent expenses. 
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Vessel Landing Charges port, Port handling charges will be also to be included in the cost of 
supply. Price shall be based on ocean transportation, marine insurance and transit insurance 
in India up to in Pune to be arranged in accordance with the procedure prescribed under 
Clause GCC 24.1 relating to insurance & Clause GCC 23.2 regarding shipping arrangements. 
 
The Employer / Purchaser may get, from the Government, partial or complete waiver of 
taxes under GST, royalties, Labour, cess, & other levies payable to various authorities. The 
successful Bidder (the Contractor) shall maintain meticulous records of all the taxes and 
duties paid under GST etc. and provide the same with each running bill. In case the waiver 
becomes effective, the Contractor will be advised on the process to be followed to obtain 
the refund from the concerned authority. The Contractor shall arrange for the remit of the 
refund to the Purchaser. In case of failure by the Contractor to remit such amounts, the 
same shall be recovered from amounts due for payment to the Contractor. 

 

The prices quoted shall be firm and not subject to any variation. Ocean freight charges and 
marine insurance included must also be firm and no variation will be allowed on this account 
after the opening of Bid s. 
 
The Bidder should quote their lowest possible price. Quotations should be made only for 
units specified in the “Bill of Quantities”. Nothing extra shall be paid except as per rate and 
quantity given in the BOQ for whatsoever reason. 

GCC 15.1 The prices charged for the Goods supplied and the related Services performed shall not be 
adjustable. 
 
Bidder shall quote a fixed price for the entire supplies on a “single responsibility” basis such 
that the total Bid price covers all Supplier’s obligations mentioned in or to be reasonably 
inferred from the Bid Documents. Varying or differential rates for part of supply are not 
permitted. 

GCC 16.1 The standard payment terms subject to recoveries, if any, under the Liquidated Damages 
Clause in General Conditions of Contract will be as under: 
 
The payment for Schedule of requirement item no 1 will be made after the Design and 
Drawings as per Technical Specifications have been approved by the Purchaser. Purchaser 
may engage an Independent International/National agency for checking, review and 
approval of detailed design of all type of turnouts/scissors cross over/ derailing switches/ 
hand operated mechanism etc. submitted by Supplier after award of work. Timely clearance 
of design submission from such agency approved and engaged by the Purchaser shall be the 
responsibility of the Supplier without affecting Delivery Schedule. 
 
The standard payment terms for schedule of requirement item no.2, subject to recoveries, 
if any, under the Liquidated Damages Clause in General Conditions of Contract will be as 
under: 
a) 80% payment on proof of inspection and shipment on receipt of all shipping documents 

as specified in GCC Clause 13. 
b) 10% payment on receipt of goods at Range Hill depot (Agricultural College Area)/Vanaz 

Depot Pune or at any other location in PUNE METROPOLITAN REGION as directed by the 
Engineer. 

c) 10% payment on successful completion of the supply of corresponding lot. 
d) Payment of foreign currency (freely convertible international trading currency) portion 

shall be made to the supplier through negotiable Letter of Credit (LC). LC shall be 
irrevocable and divisible. Part payment is allowed. LC is opened through Banker’s of the 
Purchaser based at Pune. LC opening charges shall be borne by the Purchaser, however, 
Bank charges on LC amendment, if any, at the request of supplier shall be to Supplier’s 
account. All other charges shall be to Supplier’s account. LC shall be opened as per 
quarterly cash flow statement based on delivery schedule and the payment schedule 
indicated in sub-clause above. 

 
Payment to the Supplier of the amounts due in each currency shall be made into the 
following bank accounts: 
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[insert bank account details at the time of contract signing] 

GCC 16.5 The payment-delay period after which the Purchaser shall pay interest to the supplier shall 
be 60 days. 
 
The interest rate for payments in Indian currency that shall be applied at the rate of Prime 
Lending Rate advised by State bank of India applicable on date of occurrence. 

GCC 17.3 The following taxes, duties and fees exemptions apply to the Contract:  
Waiver of Taxes / concessional custom duty etc 
1) Government of India, vide notifications No.42/96 – customs dt.23.7.1996 as amended time 

to time in exercise of powers conferred by subsection (6) of heading 98.01 of the first 
schedule in the custom tariff has notified  Metro Rail  project in the category of project 
import for assessment of custom duty at concessional rate. All the process of project import 
registration, deposits of security money (if any) to custom authority and refund back after 
the completion of imported supplies shall be responsibility of supplier. The supplier shall 
indemnify Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited of clearance and projects imports 
proceedings. Upon receipt of request from supplier, Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation 
Limited will facilitate a recommendation /sponsoring letter from State Government for 
project import registration as per Notification No.25/2014. The supplier shall submit the 
copies of project import registration proceedings, bill of entry & custom duty documents 
to Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited for official records. 

2) The rates quoted are DDP/Pune inclusive Custom duty. Delivery should be on DDP (Delivered 
Duty paid) basis as per bid document inclusive of all GST taxes, levies, cess and custom duty 
etc. as per applicable in the purchaser’s country.  

3)  All the work of project imports registration & custom/port clearance to be done by supplier 
at own cost. Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited will facilitate 
recommendation/sponsoring letter from Ministry of Urban Development/ Government of 
India for Project import registration. 

GCC 18.1 The amount of the Performance Security shall be : 10% of Amount of Contract Price. 

GCC 18.3 The Performance Security shall be in the form of : a Bank Guarantee 
1) The Performance security shall be denominated in The Performance Guarantee shall be 

10% of the Contract Price from a Scheduled Commercial Bank based in India in the types 
and proportions of currencies in which the Contract Price is payable. 

2) Within 28 (Twenty-eight) days of receipt of the Letter of Acceptance from the Purchaser, 
the successful Bidder shall furnish to the Purchaser a Performance Guarantee as per sub-
clause above. 

3) Failure of the successful Bidders to comply with the requirements of Clauses and above 
shall constitute sufficient grounds for the annulment of the award and forfeiture of the 
Bid Security. 

4) A Performance Guarantee from a scheduled commercial bank based in India for an amount 
stated in the GCC 18.1 to Form of Bid 

Performance Guarantee shall be provided as per Contract forms in Section x, or in any other 
form approved by the Purchaser. In the event that the Contract Price is made up of 
currencies other than Indian rupees, the Performance Guarantee to be supplied should be in 
the types and proportions of currencies in which the Contract Price is payable. The 
Performance Guarantee shall be valid until 54 months from the date of issue of letter of 
acceptance. It shall be returned to the supplier only after successful completion of the 
warranty period as mentioned in clause of GCC 28.3. 

GCC 18.4 Discharge of the Performance Security shall take place: [insert date if different from the one 

indicated in sub clause GCC 18.4; otherwise, delete clause] 

GCC 23.2 1. The packing, marking and documentation within and outside the packages shall be : The 
specifications of the proposed packing shall be such as to ensure that no damage will be 
caused to the materials to be supplied during transit. 

2. The packing advices should bring out the weight, dimensions and size of each bundles/ 
package. Where it is not possible to give weight of the bundles/packages, the supplier 
must indicate the volume of the bundles/packages, the number of pieces per 
bundle/package, number of bundles/packages, and total weight of the items supplied. 

3. Where the materials are shipped in bundles/packages, the pieces in each bundle/ 
package should be of uniform sizes to facilitate quick acceptance and payment. The 
number of pieces in each bundle/package should also be the same. 
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4. On at least two sides of packages / bundles the following address shall be written in 
English with permanent paint: 

 
Contract No.                                                           
Supply of Turnouts to                                              Maharastra Metro Rail Corporation,  
                                                                              Pune Metro Rail Project 
Gross Weight ___________________ MT                      Net Weight _______________MT 
No.of Turnouts___________________Nos.        Package / Bundle No._____________ 
 

GCC 24.1 The insurance should be as follows : 
1. The marine insurance covering transit risk upto Sea Port & further during transportation 

to site at Range Hill depot (Agricultural College Area)/Vanaz Depot Pune or at any other 
location in PUNE METROPOLITAN REGION as directed by the Engineer will be arranged and 
paid for by the supplier. 

2. Port handling charges will be also to be included in the cost of supply. 
3. Price shall be based on ocean transportation, marine insurance and transit insurance in 

India upto to in Pune to be arranged in accordance with the procedure prescribed under 
Clause GCC 24.1 relating to insurance and Clause GCC 23.2 regarding shipping 
arrangements. 

GCC 25.1 Responsibility for transportation of the Goods shall be as specified in the Incoterms. 
 
The supplier shall be fully responsible for manufacturing Design, Manufacturing & Supply of 
Standard Gauge 60E 1 (UIC 60) Turnouts for Pune Metro Rail Projects as per the 
specifications, packing of Turnouts, shipment and safe arrival to Store of Range Hill depot 
(Agricultural College Area)/Vanaz Depot Pune or at any other location in PUNE 
METROPOLITAN REGION as directed by the Engineer. The supplier shall be fully responsible 
for the timely receipt of Turnouts. Shortage, pilferage, damage of whatsoever kind during 
transit up to Range Hill depot (Agricultural College Area)/Vanaz depot in Pune City as 
mentioned above shall be to the Suppliers account. 
1) The Bidder shall quote as DDP Range Hill depot (Agricultural College Area)/Vanaz, Pune. 

The materials shall be delivered duly stacked in Range Hill depot (Agricultural College 
Area)/Vanaz Depot at Pune. Loading and unloading has to be done by supplier only. 
Unloading of Turnouts will be done from trailer at cost of supplier in countable manner 
as specified in Railway Guidelines for stacking. 

2) The quoted price shall include all packing & handling charges both prior to shipping and 
at the time of shipping, ocean freight charges, marine insurance charges. The quoted 
price shall also include cost of sea port charges, charges for clearances of materials from 
port, handling / re handling, loading / unloading and further transportation upto site in 
Pune. The quoted price shall also include charges for transit insurance in India. Unloading 
shall be done by supplier and applicable charges shall be borne by supplier. No discharging 
equipment’s will be made available to supplier for unloading. Supplier has to arrange 
discharging equipment’s at his own cost, if any. 

GCC 25.2 Incidental services to be provided are: The Supplier shall at all times indemnify the Purchaser 
against all claims which may be made in respect of the Stores for infringement of any right 
protected by patent registration design or trade mark and shall take all risk, accidents or 
damages which may cause a failure of the supply for whatever cause arising and the entire 
responsibility for the sufficiency of all the means used by the supplier for the fulfilment of 
the contracts provided always that in the event of any claim in respect of alleged break of 
patent registered design or trade-marks being made against the Purchaser, the Purchaser 
shall notify the supplier of the same and the Supplier should at his own expenses settle any 
dispute or conduct any litigation that arise there from and the Purchaser will stand absolved 
of all responsibilities in that connections. 
 
The supplier shall indemnify and keep the purchaser indemnified against all actions, 
proceedings, claims, damages, costs and expenses arising from the incorporation in or use of 
work of any such articles, processes or supplies made under this agreement 
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GCC 26.0 1) Inspection: The Purchaser and its authorised representative shall be entitled, during 
manufacture, fabrication and preparation at any places where work is being carried out, 
to inspect, examine and test the Materials and workmanship, and to check the progress 
of manufacture, of all materials to be supplied under the Contract. The Supplier shall 
give them full opportunity to inspect, examine, measure and test any stores in supplier’s 
premises or wherever carried out. 
 
The Supplier shall give due notice to the Purchaser/its representative whenever such 
stores is ready, before packaging, covering up or putting out of view. The Purchaser/its 
representative/its authorised inspecting authority shall then carry out the inspection, 
examination, measurement or testing without unreasonable delay. If the Supplier fails to 
give such notice, he shall, when required by the Purchaser/its representative, uncover 
such stores and thereafter reinstate and make good at his own cost. 

2) Testing: The Supplier shall provide all documents and other information necessary for all 
types of testing and such assistance, labour, materials, electricity, fuel, stores, apparatus 
and instruments as are necessary to carry out such tests efficiently. 

 
The Supplier shall agree, with the Purchaser/its representative, the time and place for 
the testing of any Plant, Materials and other parts of the supplies as specified in the 
Contract. The Purchaser/its representative shall give the Supplier not less than 24 hours' 
notice of his intention to attend the tests. The Supplier shall provide sufficient suitably 
qualified and experienced staff to carry out the tests specified in the Contract. 
 
If the Purchaser/its representative does not attend at the time and place agreed, or if 
the Supplier and the Purchaser/its representative agree that the Purchaser/its 
representative/its authorised inspecting authority shall not attend, the Supplier may 
proceed with the tests, unless the Purchaser/its representative instructs the Supplier 
otherwise. Such tests shall be deemed to have been made in the Purchaser/its 
representative/its authorised inspecting authority’s presence. 
 
Cost of Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority’s attendance 
including travel: Third party inspection cost to be borne by supplier including costs of 
the inspection, travelling and accommodation costs complete in all respects. Quoted rate 
must include these elements also. 

 
 
The Supplier shall promptly forward to the Purchaser/its representative duly certified 
reports of the tests. If the Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting 
authority has not attended the tests, he shall accept the readings as accurate. When the 
specified tests have been passed, the Purchaser/its representative/its authorised 
inspecting authority shall endorse the Supplier's test certificate, or issue a certificate to 
him, to that effect.  
 

 
3) Rejection If, as a result of inspection, examination or testing, the Purchaser/ its 

representative/its authorised inspecting authority decides that any material, or 
workmanship is defective or otherwise not in accordance with the Contract, the 
Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority may reject such 
material, or workmanship and shall notify the Supplier promptly, stating his reasons. The 
Supplier shall then promptly make good the defect and ensure that the rejected item 
after rectification complies with the Contract or alternatively replace that item to the 
satisfaction of the Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority. 

 
If the Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority requires such 
Plant, Material, or workmanship to be retested, the tests shall be repeated under the 
same terms and conditions. If such rejection and retesting cause the Purchaser to incur 
additional costs, such costs shall be recoverable from the Supplier by the Purchaser, and 
may be deducted by the Purchaser from any monies due, or to become due, to the 
Supplier. 
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4) Liability after Inspection and Testing: The Supplier shall not be released from any 

liability or obligation under the Contract by reason of any such inspection or testing or 
witnessing of testing, or by the submission of reports of inspection or testing to the 
Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority. 

5) Ownership of Materials: Each item of material shall become the property of the 
Purchaser, when it has been accepted by the purchaser or payment thereof, either in 
part or full, has been made. The Supplier shall, however, continue to bear the risk in 
respect of such items that continue to remain in his custody. 

6) Cost of Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority’s attendance 
including Travel :The Purchaser shall bear the cost of attendance including travel by the 
Purchaser/its representative/its authorised inspecting authority for the purpose of sub-
clauses 1 and 2.The cost of attendance including travel by the Purchaser/its 
representative/its authorised inspecting authority for the purpose of sub-clause 3 shall 
also be borne by the Supplier. 

7) Post-Dispatch Inspection: In addition to the pre-dispatch/pre-shipment inspection, the 
material/supplies shall also be physically inspected by Purchaser/its representative/its 
authorised inspecting authority at Pune at temporary storage areas after taking delivery 
from the port to check for any damages during transit/shipment. The material, which is 
classified as damaged shall be rejected. The supplier shall be immediately advised about 
the damaged material for his verification within 15 days of such intimation, if he so 
desires. 

 
Overseas training to be arranged by supplier for 20 Man days, which include cost of training. 
The travel, boarding and loading expenses for this purpose shall be borne by the Purchaser – 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited. 

GCC 27.1 The Liquidated damages shall be charged for the delayed receipt of stores at Pune. The 
supplier shall ensure the shipment in such a way that the stores must reach at Pune on or 
before the specified date given in the delivery schedule as stipulated in SCC. The liquidated 
damages shall be charged for delayed delivery of consignment which shall be @ 0.5% of 
contract value of each delayed instalment for every week’s delay/part thereof beyond the 
specified date for each instalment. 
 
The maximum limit of liquidated damages shall be 10% of contract value 

GCC 28.3 The period of validity of the Warranty shall be: 
 
The stores being procured are to be installed in track and an unconditional warrantee shall 
be given by the supplier for the materials supplied by him valid for a period upto 30 months 
after the receipt of last instalment of supplies at Range Hill depot (Agricultural College 
Area)/Vanaz, Pune. The warrantee shall be against any manufacturing defects of the 
materials and also its performance in service. The Performance Guarantee shall be returned 
only after successful completion of the Warranty period. 

GCC 28.5 The period for repair or replacement shall be as per warranty clause GCC 28.3 

GCC 28.7  
(New Clause) 

If at any time after the expiry of the Warranty Period and after acceptance of goods at final 
destination and during the Latent Defects Liability Period i.e. 5 years from expiry of Warranty 

Period, the Engineer/ Purchaser comes across or it becomes apparent to the Engineer/ 
Purchaser of any defect, imperfection or default (which could not have been disclosed by a 

reasonable examination prior to the expiry of the Warranty Period) in respect of any of the 
items supplied by supplier which is due to defect in design or materials or workmanship or is 
due to negligence of the supplier in complying with the provisions of the Contract, the 
supplier shall be obliged to carry out the Rectification Works/ replacement for rectification 
of such defect, imperfection or default at its own costs and expenses for the durations 
(Latent Defects Liability). In case the defects, imperfections or defaults are adversely 
affecting the operations and/ or maintenance of the Project and the supplier fails to 
immediately rectify such defect, imperfection or default within such reasonable time as may 

be determined by the Engineer/ Purchaser, then the Engineer/ Purchaser may, at its sole 

discretion, get such defect, imperfection or default rectified from a third party, at the sole 
risk and cost of the supplier. 
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GCC 29 
(new sub 
clause) 

Guarantees, Warranties and Undertakings 
 

Within 30 days of the date of Letter of Acceptance of the Bid, the Contractor shall submit 
to the Employer: 
 
(a) An Undertaking in the approved format from a parent company, the identity of which 
shall have been submitted in writing to the Employer prior to acceptance of the Bid and 
against which the Employer shall have raised no-objection. 
 
(b) A written Guarantee in the approved format from a parent company, the identity of 
which shall have been submitted in writing to the Employer prior to acceptance of the 
Bid and against which the Employer shall have raised no objection. 
(c) A warrantee in the approved format from the Contractor. 
 
In the event that the Contractor shall comprise two or more members, corporations acting 
in partnership, joint venture, consortium or otherwise each such member or corporation 
shall submit a parent company Undertaking and Guarantee. 
 
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Contract: 
 
(a) submission by the Contractor of the requisite Performance security, parent company 
Undertakings and written Guarantees shall be condition precedent to the Contractor's 
entitlement to any payment, under the Contract; and 
(b) failure by the Contractor to provide a Performance security or parent company 
Undertakings or parent company Guarantees shall entitle the Employer either to suspend 
the Works or to terminate the Contract forthwith by notice in writing to that effect, 
notwithstanding that the Contractor may have been to proceed with the Works, and the 
Contractor shall not be compensation whatsoever as a consequence of such suspension or 
termination 
 

The forms of Contractor warranty shall be in the format given in the Section X: Contract 
Forms. 
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Section X. Contract Forms 
This Section contains forms which, once completed, will form part of the Contract. The forms for Performance 
Security and Advance Payment Security, when required, shall only be completed by the successful Bidder after 
contract award. 

Table of Forms 

Letter of Acceptance .................................................................................................  

Contract Agreement ..................................................................................................  

Performance Security Option 1: Bank Guarantee ..............................................................  

Advance Payment Security ..........................................................................................  
 

Form of Designer’s Warranty .....................................................................  
 
Parent Company Undertaking ....................................................................  
 
Parent Company Guarantee ......................................................................  
 
Contractor’s Warranty .............................................................................  
 
Sub-Contractor’s / Vendor’s Warranty .........................................................  
 
Indemnity Bond .....................................................................................  
 
Guarantee for Safe Custody         
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Letter of Acceptance 

[letter head paper of the Purchaser] 

[date] 

To: [name and address of the Supplier] 

Subject: Notification of Award Contract No. 

This is to notify you that your Bid dated [insert date] for execution of the 
 _______________________________________ [insert name of the contract and identification  
number, as given in the SCC]. for the Accepted Contract Amount of 

[insert amount in 
numbers and words and name of currency], as corrected and modified in accordance with the Instructions to 
Bidders is hereby accepted by our institution. 

You are requested to furnish the Performance Security within 28 days in accordance with the Conditions of 
Contract, using for that purpose one of the Performance Security Forms included in Section X, Contract Forms, 
of the Bidding Document. 

Authorized Signature: 
Name and Title of Signatory:  _______________________________________________________  
Name of institution:  _____________________________________________________________  

Attachment: Contract Agreement 
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Contract Agreement 

[The successful Bidder shall fill in this form in accordance with the instructions indicated] 
THIS AGREEMENT made 

the [ insert: number] day of [ insert: month], [ insert: year]. 
BETWEEN 

(1) [ insert complete name of Purchaser], a [ insert description of type of legal entity, for 
example, an agency of the Ministry of .... of the Government of {insert name of Country of 
Purchaser}, or corporation incorporated under the laws of {insert name of Country of 
Purchaser}] and having its principal place of business at [ insert address of Purchaser] 
(hereinafter called “the Purchaser”), and 

(2) [ insert name of Supplier], a corporation incorporated under the laws of [ insert: country of 
Supplier] and having its principal place of business at [ insert: address of Supplier] (hereinafter 
called “the Supplier”). 

 
WHEREAS the Purchaser invited bids for certain Goods and ancillary services, viz., [insert brief description of 
Goods and Services] and has accepted a Bid by the Supplier for the supply of those Goods and Services in the sum 
of [insert Contract Price in words and figures, expressed in the Contract currency(ies)] (hereinafter called “the 
Contract Price”). 
 
NOW THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH AS FOLLOWS: 
1. In this Agreement words and expressions shall have the same meanings as are respectively assigned to them 

in the Contract documents referred to. 
2. The following documents shall be deemed to form and be read and construed as part of this Agreement: 

(a) the Letter of Acceptance 
(b) the Letter of Bid and Appendix to Letter of Bid (including the signed Statement of Integrity) 
(c) the Addenda Nos._____ (if any) 
(d) Special Conditions of Contract 
(e) General Conditions of Contract 
(f) the Specification (including Schedule of Requirements and Technical Specifications) 
(g) the completed Schedules (including Price Schedules) 
(h) any other document listed in GCC as forming part of the Contract 

3. This Agreement shall prevail over all other Contract documents. In the event of any discrepancy or 
inconsistency within the Contract documents, then the documents shall prevail in the order listed above. 

4. In consideration of the payments to be made by the Purchaser to the Supplier as specified in this 
Agreement, the Supplier hereby covenants with the Purchaser to provide the Goods and Services and to 
remedy defects therein in conformity in all respects with the provisions of the Contract. 

5. The Purchaser hereby covenants to pay the Supplier in consideration of the provision of the Goods and 
Services and the remedying of defects therein, the Contract Price or such other sum as may become payable 
under the provisions of the Contract at the times and in the manner prescribed by the Contract. 

 
IN WITNESS whereof the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed in accordance with the laws 
of [insert the name of the Contract governing law country] on the day, month and year indicated above. 
For and on behalf of the Purchaser 
Signed: [insert signature] 
in the capacity of [ insert title or other appropriate designation] in the presence 
of [insert identification of official witness] 
For and on behalf of the Supplier 
Signed: [insert signature of authorized representative(s) of the Supplier] in the capacity 
of [ insert title or other appropriate designation] in the presence of [ insert 
identification of official witness] 
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Performance Security 

Option 1: (Bank Guarantee) 

Beneficiary:  ____________________  
Date:  ________________  
PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE No.:  
 
Guarantor: [Insert name and address of place of issue, unless indicated in the letterhead] 

We have been informed that   (hereinafter called "the Applicant") has entered into Contract No. dated
 with the Beneficiary, for the execution of (hereinafter called "the Contract"). 

Furthermore, we understand that, according to the conditions of the Contract, a performance guarantee is 
required. 
 
At the request of the Applicant, we as Guarantor, waiving all objections and defences under the aforesaid 
mentioned contract, hereby irrevocably undertake to pay the Beneficiary any sum or sums not exceeding in 
total an amount of (),1 such sum being payable in the types and proportions of currencies in which the 
Contract Price is payable, upon receipt by us of the Beneficiary’s first demand supported by the Beneficiary’s 
statement, whether in the demand itself or in a separate signed document accompanying or identifying the 
demand, stating that the Applicant is in breach of its obligation(s) under the Contract, without the Beneficiary 
needing to prove or to show grounds for your demand or the sum specified therein. 
 
This guarantee shall expire, no later than the .... Day of , 2... 2, and any demand for  
payment under it must be received by us at this office indicated above on or before that date. 

This guarantee is subject to the Uniform Rules for Demand Guarantees (URDG) 2010 Revision, ICC Publication 
No. 758, except that the supporting statement under Article 15(a) is hereby excluded. 

In event that any amount to be paid under this guarantee, the payment shall be remitted to special account of 
the Borrower in the country of Borrower which may be drawn on only with the consent of EIB. 

1The Guarantor shall insert an amount representing the percentage of the Accepted Contract Amount  

specified in the Letter of Acceptance, less provisional sums, if any, and denominated either in the 
currency(cies) of the Contract or a freely convertible currency acceptable to the Beneficiary. 
2Insert the date twenty-eight days after the expected completion date as described in GC Clause 11.9.  
The Purchaser should note that in the event of an extension of this date for completion of the Contract, the 
Purchaser would need to request an extension of this guarantee from the Guarantor. Such request must be in 
writing and must be made prior to the expiration date established in the guarantee. In preparing this 
guarantee, the Purchaser might consider adding the following text to the form, at the end of the penultimate 
paragraph: “The Guarantor agrees to a one-time extension of this guarantee for a period not to exceed [six 
months][one year], in response to the Beneficiary’s written request for such extension, such request to be 
presented to the Guarantor before the expiry of the guarantee.” 
 

[signature(s)] 
Note: All italicized text (including footnotes) is for use in preparing this form and shall be deleted from 
the final product. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
paragraph: “The Guarantor agrees to a one-time extension of this guarantee for a period not to exceed [six 
months][one year], in response to the Beneficiary’s written request for such extension, such request to be 

presented to the Guarantor before the expiry of the guarantee.” 
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Advance Payment Security 

(Not applicable) 
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Form of Designer’s Warranty 
 

(Refer. Sub - Clause 15of the PC) 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made the day of 
BETWEEN: 
(1)  [    ] [whose registered office is at]/[of] [   ] ("the 

Designer"); and 
(2)  The Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited (together with its successors and 

assigns, "the Employer") of _________ [address]. 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
(a)  By a contract ______dated [    ] ("the Contract") made between (1) 

Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited (“the Employer”) and (2) [  
  ] ("the Contractor"), the Contractor has agreed to design, execute, complete, 
test and commission (including Integrated Testing and Commissioning) and remedy 
any defect in the Works upon the terms and conditions contained in the Contract. 

(b)  The Designer has had an opportunity of reading and noting the provisions of the 
Contract (other than details of the Contractor's prices and rates). 

(c)  Pursuant to the Contract, the Contractor wishes to enter into an agreement with the 
Designer and Designer agrees to the wishes of the Contractor (the Consultancy 
agreement) to carry out the Contractor's obligations under the Contract in relation 
to the design and functions ascribed to the Designer in the Contract. 

(d)  The Contract stipulates that the Contractor shall ensure that the Designer executes 
a warranty agreement in favour of the Employer. 

 
NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows: 
 
1.  In consideration of the Employer not objecting to the Contractor and the Designer 

entering into the Consultancy Agreement, the Designer warrants and undertakes to 
the Employer that he has exercised and will continue to exercise all the skill and care 
to be expected of a professionally qualified and competent designer experienced in 
work of similar nature and scope as the Works in carrying out the design of the Works 
and in performing the other duties and functions ascribed to him in the Contract. 

2.  The Designer agrees that, in the event of the termination of the Contract by the 
Employer, the Designer will, if so required by notice in writing given by the Employer, 
except subject to Clause 4 the instructions of the Employer or his appointee to the 
exclusion of the Contractor in respect of the carrying out and completion of the Works 
upon the terms and conditions of the Consultancy Agreement. 

3.  The Designer further agrees that he will not, without first giving the Employer not 
less than 21 days' previous notice in writing, exercise any rights it may have to 
terminate the Consultancy Agreement or to treat the same as having been as 
repudiated by the Contractor or to discontinue the performance of any duties to be 
performed by the Designer pursuant thereto. The Designer's right to terminate the 
Consultancy Agreement or to treat the same as having been repudiated or to 
discontinue the performance thereof shall cease if, within such period of notice and 
subject to Clause 4,the Employer shall give notice in writing to the Designer requiring 
the Designer to accept the instructions of the Employer or his appointee to the 
exclusion of the Contractor in respect of the carrying out and completion of the 
Contract Works upon the terms and conditions of the Consultancy Agreement.  

4.  Any notice given by the Employer under Clause 2 or 3 shall state that the Employer 
or his appointee accepts liability for payment of the fees payable to the Designer 
under the Consultancy Agreement and for performance of the Contractor's obligations 
under the Consultancy Agreement, including payment of any fees outstanding at the 
date of such notice. 
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5.  The Employer shall be entitled to assign the benefit of this Warranty at any time 
without the consent of the Designer being required. 

6.  All documents arising out of or in connection with this Warranty shall be served: 
(1)  upon the Employer at [ ] marked for the attention of [ ]; 
(2)  upon the Designer at [ ]. 

7.  The Employer and the Designer may change their respective nominated addresses for 
service of documents to another address in India but only by prior written notice to 
each other. All demands and notices must be in writing. 

8.  This Warranty shall be governed by and construed according to the laws for the time 
being in force in India. 

9.  Except to the extent (if any) expressly permitted by the Consultancy Agreement, the 
Designer shall not sub-contract any of the Designer's obligations under the 
Consultancy Agreement without the prior written consent of the Employer's 
Representative. 

10.  Without prejudice to its obligations under this Warranty, the Designer shall maintain 
with well established underwriters of repute and on terms and conditions reasonably 
acceptable to the Employer, professional indemnity insurance (as per sub-clause 18.1 
of the General Conditions) in respect of the Designer and its sub-consultants for 
Indian Rupees ………………………………………. (in words………………………. Rupees) in relation 
to his design of the Works for any one occurrence or series of occurrences arising out 
of any one event from the date of notification of acceptance until 5 years after the 
issue of Performance Certificate for the whole of works. The Designer shall 
immediately inform the Employer if for any reason professional indemnity insurance 
is not maintained in accordance with this Warranty or becomes void or 
unenforceable. 

11.  Insofar as the patent, copyright or other intellectual property rights in any Design 
Data (as defined in the Contract), plans, calculations, drawings, documents, 
materials, computer software, know-how and information relating to the Works shall 
be vested in the Designer, the Designer grants to the Employer his successors and 
assigns a royalty-free, non-exclusive and irrevocable licence (carrying the right to 
grant sub-licences) to use and reproduce any of the works designs or inventions 
incorporated and referred to in such documents or materials and any such know-how 
and information for all purposes relating to the Works (including without limitation 
the design, construction, reconstruction, completion, reinstatement, extension, 
repair and operation of the Works). To the extent beneficial ownership of any such 
patent, copyright or other intellectual property right is vested in anyone other than 
the Designer or the Contractor, the Designer shall use his best endeavours to procure 
that the beneficial owner thereof shall grant a like licence to the Employer. Any such 
licence granted shall not be determined if the Designer shall for any reason cease to 
be employed in connection with the Works. 

12.       (1) Any dispute or difference of any kind whatsoever between the Employer and 
the Designer arising under out of or in connection with this Warranty shall be 
referred to arbitration in accordance with Clause 20 of GC “Claims, Disputes 
and Arbitration” as defined in the Contract shall be deemed to include any 
such dispute or difference between the Employer and the Designer. 

(2)  In the event that the Employer is of the opinion that the issues in such a 
dispute or difference will or may touch upon or concern a dispute or 
difference arising under out of or in connection with the Contract ("the 
Contract Dispute") then provided that an arbitrator has not already been 
appointed, the Employer may by notice in writing to the Designer require and 
the Designer shall be deemed to have consented to the referral of such dispute 
or difference to the arbitrator to whom the Contract Dispute has been or will 
be referred. 

(3)  Save as expressly otherwise provided, the arbitrator shall have full power to 
open up, review and revise any decision, opinion, instruction, notice, order, 
direction, withholding of approval or consent, statement of objection, 
determination, certificate, assessment or valuation by the Employer's 
Representative or the Contractor, relating to the dispute or difference. 
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IN WITNESS  whereof this Warranty has been executed as a deed on the date first before 
written. 
 
THE COMMON SEAL of ) 
 
[Designer ] ) 
 
was affixed hereto in ) 
 
the presence of:- ) 
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Parent Company Undertaking 

 
THIS UNDERTAKING is issued on the ______ day of ____________ BY _____________________ 
[whose registered office is at] / [of] _________ ("the Parent Company"). 
 
 in favour of 
 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited together with its successors and assigns, (the 
Employer"): 
…………………………. 
…………………………. 
…………………………. 
 
WHEREAS 
 
(A)  By a Contract for ________in respect of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited 

Contract No _____/______ ("the Contract") made between 
(1)  Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited (the “Employer”) and 
 
(2)  ____________ (the “Contractor") the Contractor has agreed to design, execute, 

complete and remedy any defects in the works ("the Works") upon the terms and 
conditions contained in the Contract. 

 
(B)  Pursuant to the terms of the Contract, the Contractor has agreed to procure the 

provision of an undertaking in the terms hereof. 
 
(C)  The Parent Company is the beneficial owner of ____ % [see Note 1] of the issued 

share capital of [the Contractor] [see Note 2]. 
 
(D)  At the request of the Contractor, the Parent Company has agreed to provide this 

undertaking. 
 
NOW IT IS HEREBY UNDERTAKEN AND AGREED as follows: 
 
1.  In consideration of the Employer entering into the Contract with the Contractor, the 
Parent 

Company hereby undertakes to the Employer that, without the written consent of 
the Employer, it will not [and will ensure that none of the companies referred to in 
Recital (C) will] [see Note 5]: 
 
a.  Sell, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of or deal with ownership of the 

whole or any part of EITHER [the share-holding or other interest in the 
[Contractor] [see Note 3] OR [the share holdings or other interests] [see Note 
4] referred to in Recital (C) in any way which will affect the beneficial 
ownership and control in [the Contractor] [see Note 3] of the Parent Company 
[and the other companies referred to in Recital (C)] [see Note 5]; and 

b. take any action which may result in the Contractor being unable to comply 
with its obligations or perform in any way its duties under the Contract [or 
take any action which may result in [the Member forming part of the 
Contractor] [see Note 3] being unable to comply with its obligations or 
perform in any way its duties under the [Consortium or other relevant] 
agreement] [see Note 6]  

 
until such time as the Works shall have been completed, all the Contractor's 
obligations under the Contract shall have been performed and the Defects Liability 
Period (as defined in the Contract) for the whole and every part of the Works shall 
have elapsed and further that it will ensure [that the Member forming part of the 
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Contractor will take all steps necessary to ensure [see Note 6] compliance by the 
Contractor with the provisions of the Contract. 
 

2.  The obligations of the Parent Company under this Undertaking shall remain in full 
force and effect and shall not be affected or discharged in any way and the Parent 
Company hereby waives notice of: 
a.  any suspension of the Works, variation or amendment to the Contract 

(including without limitation extension of time for performance) or any 
concession or waiver by the Employer in respect of the Contractor's 
obligations [and/or the obligations of [ ______ ] [see Note 7] 

b.  any provision of the Contract being or becoming illegal, invalid, void, voidable 
or unenforceable; 

c.  the termination of the Contract or of the employment of the Contractor 
and/or [ ] [see Note 7] under the Contract for any reason; 

d.  any forbearance or waiver of any right of action or remedy the Employer may 
have against the Contractor [and/or [ ______ ]] [see Note 7] or negligence by 
the Employer in enforcing any such right of action or remedy; 

e.  any bond, undertaking, security or other guarantee held or obtained by the 
Employer for any of the obligations of the Contractor [and/or [ _____ ]] [see 
Note 7] under the Contract or any release or waiver thereof. 

 
1. This Undertaking shall extend to any variation of or amendment to the Contract and 

to any agreement supplemental thereto agreed between the Employer and the 
Contractor [and/or [ _____ ]] [see Note 7] and for the avoidance of doubt the Parent 
Company hereby authorises the Employer and the Contractor [and/or [ _____ ]] [see 
Note 7] to make any such amendment, variation or supplemental agreement. 
 

4.         All documents arising out of or in connection with this Undertaking shall be served: 
            a.  upon the Employer, at ________ marked for the attention of ________; 

b.  upon the Parent Company, at _____ 
 

5.  The Employer and the Parent Company may change their respective nominated 
addresses for service of documents to another address but only by prior written 
notice to each other. All demands and notices must be in writing. 

 
6.  This Undertaking shall be governed by and construed according to the laws for the 

time being in force in India and the Parent Company agrees to submit to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts at Pune, Maharashtra, India. 

 
IN WITNESS where of this Undertaking has been executed as a deed on the date first before 
written. 
 
Name: 
Designation: 
Date of Board resolution authorizing executant to execute this undertaking 
Place: 
 
Notes: 
(For preparation of but not for inclusion in the engrossment of this Undertaking) 
1.  If the Parent Company is not the immediate parent company, the chain of ownership must 

be recited, identifying each company in the chain and the shareholdings or other interests 
in each subsidiary. 

2.  If the Contractor is a Consortium, that fact and the Consortium or other relevant 
agreement must be recited. In such case, insert the name of the Members of the 
Consortium in respect of which the parent company undertaking is being given. In such a 
case, the parent company of each of the Members is required to give the undertaking. 

3.  If Note 2 applies, refer to the Member relating to that Parent Company (which is giving 
this undertaking) and not the Contractor. 
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4.  If Note 1 applies, use this alternative. 
5.  If Note 1 applies, add this provision. 
6.  If Note 2 applies, add this provision. 
7.  If Note 2 applies, add this provision and insert the name of the Member. 
8.  The notarized copy of the board resolution of the Parent Company must also accompany 

this Undertaking. In case the Parent Company is a foreign entity, then such board 
resolution should be notarized by a notary in its home country followed by the 
casualisation by the Indian Embassy there, or apostatised as per Hague Convention, as the 
case may be. 
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Parent Company Guarantee 
 

THIS GUARANTEE is made the ______ day of ______ BY _______ whose registered office is at 
_____________ [and ___________ whose registered office is at ____________ ] ("the 
Guarantor"). 
 
To Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited together with its successors and assigns, "the 
Employer") of: 
……………………… 
……………………… 
WHEREAS 
(A)  By a Contract for __________of Pune Metro Rail Project Contract No:ICB-P1-

T03R/2019 ("the Contract") made between 
 

(1) Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited (the “Employer”) 
and 
(2) ____________ (the “Contractor") the Contractor has agreed to design, execute, 
complete and remedy any defects in the works ("the Works") upon the terms and on 
editions contained in the Contract. 

(B)  Pursuant to the terms of the Contract, the Contractor has agreed to procure the 
provision of a guarantee in the terms hereof. [see Note 1] 

(C)  At the request of the Contractor, the Guarantor has agreed to guarantee performance 
of the 

Contract by the [Contractor] [see Note 2] as set out herein. 
 
IT IS HEREBY AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 
1.  In consideration of the Employer entering into the Contract with the Contractor, the 

Guarantor irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees to the Employer as a primary 
obligation and not as a surety due performance by the [Contractor] [see Note 2] of 
all of its obligations and liabilities under and in accordance with the Contract save 
that nothing herein shall be construed as imposing greater obligations or liabilities 
on the Guarantor than are imposed on the [Contractor] [see Note 2] in the Contract. 

2.  The obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall remain in full force and 
effect and shall not be affected or discharged in any way by and the Guarantor hereby 
waives notice of: 

a.  any suspension of the Works, variation to or amendment of the Contract (including 
without limitation extension of time for performance) or any concession or waiver by 
the Employer in respect of the Contractor's obligations [and/or the obligations of ______ 
] [see Note 3] under the Contract; 

b.  any provision of the Contract being or becoming illegal, invalid, void, voidable or 
unenforceable;  

c.  the termination of the Contract or of the engagement of the Contractor [ and / or ______ 
] [see Note 3] under the Contract for any reason;  

d.  any forbearance or waiver of any right of action or remedy the Employer may have 
against the Contractor [ and / or _____ ] [see Note 3] or negligence by the Employer in 
enforcing any such right of action or remedy; 

e.  any bond, undertaking, security or other guarantee held or obtained by the Employer 
for any of the obligations of the Contractor [ and / or _____ ] [see Note 3] under the 
Contract or any release or waiver thereof. 

3.  This Guarantee shall extend to any variation of or amendment to the Contract and to 
any 

agreement supplemental thereto agreed between the Employer and the Contractor 
[and/or ____ ] [see Note 3] and for the avoidance of doubt the Guarantor hereby 
authorises the Employer and the Contractor [and/or _____ ] [see Note 3] to make any 
such amendment, variation or supplemental agreement. 
 

4.  This Guarantee is a continuing guarantee and accordingly shall cover all of the 
obligations and liabilities of the [Contractor] [see Note 2] under the Contract and 
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remain in full force and effect until all the said obligations and liabilities of the 
Contractor shall have been carried out, completed and discharged in accordance with 
the Contract. This Guarantee is in addition to any other security which the Employer 
may at any time hold and may be enforced without first having recourse to any such 
security or taking any steps or proceedings against the Contractor. 

5.  Until expiry of the Defects Liability Period (as defined in the Contract) for the whole 
and every part of the Works, the Guarantor shall not on any ground whatsoever make 
any claim or threaten to make any claim whether by proceedings or otherwise against 
the Contractor [and/or ______ ] [see Note 3] for the recovery of any sum paid by the 
Guarantor pursuant to this Guarantee. Any such claim shall be subordinate to any 
claims (contingent or otherwise) which the Employer may have against the Contractor 
[and/or _____ ] [see Note 3] arising out of or in connection with the Contract until 
such time as such claims shall be satisfied by the Contractor [and/or ______ ] [see 
Note 3] or the Guarantor as the case may be. To that intent the Guarantor shall not 
claim or have the benefit of any security which the Employer holds or may hold for 
any monies or liabilities due or incurred by the Contractor [and/or ______ ] [see Note 
3] to the Employer and, in case the Guarantor receives any sum from the Contractor 
[and/or _____ ] [see Note 3] in respect of any payment by the Guarantor hereunder, 
the Guarantor shall hold such sum in trust for the Employer for so long as any sum is 
payable (contingently or otherwise) under this Guarantee. 

6.         The Employer shall be entitled to assign the benefit of this Guarantee at any time 
without  

the consent of the Guarantor or the [Contractor] [see Note 2] being required. 
7.  All documents arising out of or in connection with this Guarantee shall be served: 

a. upon the Employer, at ________ marked for the attention of ________; 
b. upon the Guarantor, at _____ India [see Note 5] 

8.  The Employer and the Guarantor may change their respective nominated addresses 
for service of documents to another address but only by prior written notice to each 
other. All demands and notices must be in writing. 

9.  This Guarantee shall be governed by and construed according to the laws for the time 
being in force in India and the Guarantor agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction 
of the courts at Pune, Maharashtra, India. 

 
IN WITNESS whereof this Guarantee has been executed as a deed on the date first before 
written 
................................................................... 
Name: 
Designation: 
Date of Board resolution authorizing executant to execute this undertaking 
Place: 
 
Notes: 
(For preparation of but not inclusion in the engrossment of this Guarantee) 
 
1.  If the Contractor is a Consortium, that fact and the Consortium or other relevant 

agreement and the relationship of the Guarantor to the concerned Members forming 
part of the Contractor must be recited. 

2.  If Note 1 applies, replace the word "Contractor" with name of the concerned Member 
of the Consortium being guaranteed. 

3.  If Note 1 applies, add additional wording and insert the name the concerned Member 
of the Consortium being guaranteed. 

4.  The notarized copy of the board resolution of the Guarantor must also accompany 
this Guarantee. In case the Guarantor is a foreign entity, then such board resolution 
should be notarized by a notary in its home country followed by the casualization by 
the Indian Embassy here, or apostatised as per Hague Convention, as the case may 
be. 

5.         The address for service shall be in India. 
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Contractor’s Warranty 
 

THIS WARRANTY is made the ______ day of _______ 
 
BY ________ of _________ [and [see Note 1]] ([jointly] "the Contractor") 
 
To Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited together with its successors and 

assigns, "the 
 
Employer") of: 
…………………………. 
…………………………. 
…………………………. 
 
WHEREAS 
 
(A) By a Contract for ___________of Pune Metro Rail Project Contract No: ICB-P1-
T03R/2019 ("the Contract") made between 
 
(1) Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited (the “Employer”) and 
(2) ____________ (the “Contractor"), the Contractor has agreed to design, execute, 
complete, test and commission (including Integrated Testing and Commissioning) and 
remedy any defects in the works ("the Works") upon the terms and conditions 
contained in the Contract. 
 
(B) [See Note 3]. 
 
(C) At the request of the Employer and pursuant to the terms of the Contract the 
Contractor has agreed to provide this Warranty. 
 
NOW IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

 
1.  The Contractor hereby warrants and undertakes that: 

a.  the Contractor will design, execute, complete, test and commission (including 
Integrated Testing and Commissioning) and remedy any defect in the Works 
in accordance with the terms of the Contract; and 

b.  the Contractor owes a duty of care to the Employer in relation to the 
performance of its duties under the Contract; and 

c.  the Contractor will rectify or replace free of cost to the Employer any defect 
or failure of equipment provided in the Works for a period of 24 months from 
the date of taking over of section of the Works; and 

d.  the Contractor agrees that should any modification be required to any part of 
the construction work as a consequence of failure analysis, the aforesaid 
period of 24 months shall re-commence from the date when the modified part 
is commissioned into service if the date of modification is later than the date 
of taking over of last trainset, and such modification shall be carried out free 
of cost to the Employer in all sections; and 

e.  the Contractor shall maintain the manufacture & supply of spares (including 
those of its Sub-Contractors / vendors) for the equipment supplied in the 
Contract-work for at least 5 years from the date of Completion of the 
Contract; and  

f.  the Contractor has exercised and will continue to exercise in the design of the 
Works all the skill and care to be expected of a professionally qualified and 
competent designer experienced in work of similar nature and scope as the 
Works; and 
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g.  the Works will, when completed, comply in all respects with the Employer's 
Requirements, the Contractor’s Technical Proposals, the final Design 
Document and the intended use of the Works; and 

h.  the Works has been or will be designed and manufactured to the highest 
standards available using internationally proven up-to-date good practice; 
and 

i.  the Works will, when completed, comply with enactments and regulations 
relevant 

to the Works; and 
j.  no Materials generally known to be deleterious or not in accordance with good 

engineering practice have been or will be specified or selected or 
incorporated in 
the Works by the Contractor. 
 

2.  The liability of [the companies comprising [see Note 3]] the Contractor under this 
Warranty [shall be joint and several and [see Note 3]] shall not be released, 
diminished or in any way affected by any independent inquiry or investigation into 
the Works or any matter related to the Contract whether carried out by or on behalf 
of the Employer or any liability or right of action which may arise out of such inquiry 
or investigation. 

 
3.  Insofar as the copyright or other intellectual property rights in any plans, 

calculations, drawings, documents, materials, plant, know-how and other 
information relating to the Works shall be vested in [the Contractor] [see Note 5], 
the [Contractor] [see Note 5] grants to the Employer its successors and assigns a 
royalty free, non-exclusive and irrevocable licence (carrying the right to grant sub-
licences) to use and reproduce any of the works designs, inventions or other 
information incorporated and referred to in such documents or materials and any 
such know-how and information for all purposes relating to the Works of the Pune 
Metro Rail Project including without limitation the design, manufacture, 
installation, completion, testing and commissioning (including Integrated Testing and 
Commissioning) reinstatement, extension and the remedy of any defect in the Works. 
To the extent that beneficial ownership of any such copyright or other intellectual 
property rights is vested in anyone other than the [Contractor] [see Note 5],, the 
[Contractor] [see Note 5], shall use best endeavours to procure that the beneficial 
owner thereof shall grant a like licence to the Employer. For the avoidance of doubt, 
any such licence granted shall not be determined if the [Contractor] [see Note 5], 
shall for any reason cease to be employed in connection with the Works. 

4.  The provisions of this Warranty shall be without prejudice to and shall not be deemed 
or construed so as to limit or exclude any rights or remedies which the Employer may 
have against the Contractor, whether in tort or otherwise. 

 
5.  Nothing contained in this Warranty shall vary or affect the Contractor's rights and 

obligations under the Contract. 
  
6.  The address for service of all documents arising out of or in connection with this 

Warranty shall be: 
 

a. Upon the Employer at: 
…………………………. 
…………………………. 
…………………………. 
b. Upon the Contractor at _______ India. [Note 4] 

 
7.  The Employer and the Contractor may change their respective nominated addresses 

to another address in India but only by prior written notice to each other. All notices 
must be in writing. 

 



Maha-Metro ICB No. P1-T03R/2019 Turnouts 

Jan-19  Page 128 

8.  This Warranty shall be governed by and construed according to the laws for the time 
being in force in India. 

9. 
(1)  Any dispute or difference of any kind whatsoever between the Employer and 

the Contractor arising under out of or in connection with this Warranty shall 
be referred to arbitration in accordance with the provisions relating to 
‘Conciliation and Arbitration’ as set out in the General Conditions of Contract. 
“Dispute” as defined in the Contract shall be deemed to include any such 
dispute or difference between the Employer and Contractor. 

(2)  In the event that the Employer is of the opinion that the issues in such a 
dispute or difference will or may touch upon or concern a dispute or 
difference arising under out of or in connection with the Contract ("the 
Contract Dispute") then provided that an arbitrator has not already been 
appointed pursuant to Clause 9(1), the Employer may by notice in writing to 
the Contractor require and the Contractor shall be deemed to have consented 
to the referral of such dispute or difference to the arbitrator to whom the 
Contract Dispute has been or will be referred. 

(3)  Save as expressly otherwise provided, the arbitrator shall have full power to 
open up, review and revise any decision, opinion, instruction, notice, order, 
direction, 
withholding of approval or consent, determination, certificate, statement of 
objections relating to the dispute. 

(4)  Subject to the foregoing provisions of this clause 9, the Employer and the 
Contractor agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of India 
at Pune. 

 
IN WITNESS  whereof this Warranty has been executed as a deed on the date 

written at the head hereof. 
................................................................... 
 
Name: 
 
Designation: 
 
Date of Board resolution authorizing executant to execute this undertaking 
 
Place: 

 
Notes:  (for preparation of and not inclusion in the engrossment of this 

Warranty) 
 
1.  If the Contractor is a Consortium, each Member of such Consortium shall be a party 

and liability under this warranty will be joint and several, with consequential 
grammatical changes. 

 
2.  If Note 1 applies, that fact and the Consortium or other relevant agreement must be 

recited. 
 
3.  Delete if Note 1 does not apply. 
 
4.  The address for service shall be in India. 
 
5.          If Note 1 applies, then insert the name of each Member 
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Sub-Contractor’s / Vendor’s Warranty 
 

(As applicable) 
 

THIS WARRANTY is made the ______ day of _______ BY _____________ [whose 
registered office is at] / [of] _______ ("the Sub-contractor") and TO Maharashtra 
Metro Rail Corporation Limited together with its successors and assigns, "the 
Employer") of: 
 
…………………………. 
…………………………. 
…………………………. 

 
WHEREAS 

 
(A)  By a Contract for __________of Maharastra Metro Rail Corporation, Pune Metro Rail 

Project Contract No: ICB-P1-T03R/2019 ("the Contract") made between 
(1) Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited (the “Employer”) and 
 
(2) ____________ (the “Contractor"), the Contractor has agreed to _________and 
remedy any defects in the works ("the Works") upon the terms and conditions 
contained in the Contract. 

(B)  The Sub-contractor / vendor has had an opportunity of reading and noting the 
provisions of the Contract (other than details of the Contractor's prices and rates). 

(C)  Pursuant to the Contract, the Contractor wishes to enter into an agreement (“the 
Subcontract”) with the Sub-contractor / Vendor to carry out and complete a part of 
the Works as more particularly described in the Sub-contract ("the Sub-contract 
Works"). 

(D)  The Contract stipulates that the Contractor shall obtain the consent of the Engineer 
before entering into the Sub-contract, and that the Contractor shall procure that the 
Subcontractor executes a warranty in favour of the Employer. 

 
NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows: 

 
1.  In consideration of the Engineer consenting to the Contractor and the Sub-contractor 

/ Vendor entering into the Sub-contract, the Sub-contractor warrants and undertakes 
to the Employer that: 
a.  he will execute and complete the sub-contracted Works / supply, and will 

carry out each and all of the obligations, duties and undertakings of the Sub-
contractor / Vendor under the Sub-contract when and if such obligations, 
duties and undertakings shall become due and performable, in accordance 
with the terms of the Sub-contract (as the same may from time to time be 
varied or amended with the consent of the Employer); and 

b.  he will supply to the Contractor and in specific cases wherever required to 
the Engineer with all information as may be required from time to time in 
relation to progress of the Sub-contract Works. 

 
2.  The Sub-contractor / Vendor undertakes to indemnify the Employer against each and 

every liability which the Employer may have to any person whatsoever and against 
any claims, demands, proceedings, loss, damages, costs and expenses sustained, 
incurred or payable by the Employer provided that the Sub-contractor / Vendor shall 
have no greater liability to the Employer by virtue of this Warranty than the liability 
of the Contractor to the Employer under the Contract insofar as and to the extent 
that the same has arisen by reason of the execution of the Sub-Contract or any breach 
by the Sub-contractor / Vendor of his obligations under the Sub-contract. 
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3.  No allowance/extension of time by the Employer hereunder or by the Contractor 
under the Sub-contract nor any forbearance or forgiveness in or in respect of any 
matter or thing concerning this Warranty or the Sub-contract on the part of the 
Employer or the Contractor, nor anything that the Employer or the Contractor may 
do or omit or neglect to do, shall in any way release the Sub-contractor / Vendor 
from any liability under this Warranty. 

 
4.  The Sub-contractor / Vendor agrees that he will not without first giving the Employer 

not less than 21 day’s prior notice in writing exercise any right he may have to 
terminate the Sub-contract or treat the same as having been repudiated by the 
Contractor or withhold performance of its obligations under the Sub-contract. 

 
5. 

(1)  In the event that the Contract or the employment of the Contractor under the 
Contract is terminated for any reason whatsoever and if so requested by the 
Employer in writing within 21 days of such termination, the Sub-contractor / 
Vendor shall carry out and complete his obligations under this Warranty and 
shall enter into a novation agreement with the Employer and the Contractor 
in which the Sub-contractor will undertake inter alia to perform the Sub-
contract and be bound by its terms and conditions as if the Employer had 
originally been named as a contracting party in place of the Contractor. The 
said novation agreement will be in such form as the Employer may reasonably 
require. 

(2)  In the event that the Employer does not require the Sub-contractor / Vendor 
to enter into a novation agreement as required by Sub-clause 5 (1), the Sub-
contractor shall have no claim whatsoever against the Employer for any 
damage, loss or expense howsoever arising out of or in connection with this 
Warranty. 

 
6.  Insofar as the copyright or other intellectual property rights, in any plans, 

calculations, drawings, documents, materials, know-how and information relating to 
the Sub-contract Works shall be vested in the Sub-contractor / Vendor, the Sub-
contractor / Vendor grants to the Employer, his successors and assignees a royalty 
free, non-exclusive and irrevocable licence (carrying the right to grant sub-licences) 
to use and reproduce any of the works designs, inventions or other information 
incorporated and referred to in such documents or materials and any such know-how 
and information for all purposes relating to the Works of the Pune Metro Rail Project, 
without limitation the design of enabling facilities, construction, installation, 
reconstruction, completion, reinstatement, extension, remedy of any defect of the 
Works. To the extent beneficial ownership of any such copyright or other intellectual 
property right is vested in anyone other than the Subcontractor / Vendor, the Sub-
contractor shall use best endeavours to procure that the beneficial owner thereof 
shall grant a like licence to the Employer. For the avoidance of doubt, any such 
licence granted shall not be determined if the Sub-contractor / Vendor shall for any 
reason cease to be employed in connection with the Sub-contract Works. 

 
7.  In the event of any ambiguity or conflict between the terms of the Sub-contract and 

this Warranty, the terms of this Warranty shall prevail. 
 
8.  The provisions of this Warranty shall be without prejudice to and shall not be deemed 

or construed so as to limit or exclude any rights or remedies which the Employer may 
have against the Sub-contractor / Vendor whether in tort or otherwise. 

 
9.  Nothing contained in this Warranty shall vary or affect the Sub-contractor's / Vendor’s 

rights and obligations under the Sub-contract. 
 
10.  The Employer shall be entitled to assign the benefit of this Warranty at any time 

without the consent of the Sub-contractor / Vendor being required. 
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11.  All documents arising out of or in connection with this Warranty shall be served: 
 

a. Upon the Employer at: 
………………….. 
………………….. 

 
b. Upon the Sub-Contractor / Vendor at _______ India. 

 
12.  The Employer and the Sub-contractor / Vendor may change their respective 

nominated addresses for service of documents to another address in India but only 
by prior written notice to each other. All demands and notices must be in writing. 

 
13.  This Warranty shall be governed by and construed according to the laws for the time 

being in force in India. 
 
14. 

(1)  Any dispute or difference of any kind whatsoever between the Employer and 
the Subcontractor / Vendor arising under out of or in connection with this 
Warranty shall be referred to arbitration in accordance with the arbitration 
provisions as described in the Contract. 

(2)  In the event that the Employer is of the opinion that the issues in such a 
dispute or difference will or may touch upon or concern a dispute or 
difference arising under out of or in connection with the Contract ("the 
Contract Dispute") then provided that an arbitrator has not already been 
appointed pursuant to Clause 14 (1), the Employer may by notice in writing 
to the Sub-contractor / Vendor require and the Sub-contractor / Vendor shall 
be deemed to have consented to the referral of such dispute or difference to 
the arbitrator to whom the Contract Dispute has been or will be referred. 

(3)  Save as expressly otherwise provided, the arbitrator shall have full power to 
open up, review and revise any decision, opinion, instruction, notice, order, 
direction, withholding of approval or consent, determination, certificate, 
statement of objection, assessment or valuation by the Engineer or the 
Contractor relating to the dispute or difference. 

(4)  Subject to the foregoing provisions of this clause 14, the Sub-Contractor 
agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts at Pune, 
Maharashtra. 

 
IN WITNESS  whereof this Warranty has been executed as a deed on the date first 
before written 
................................................................... 
 
Name: 
 
Designation: 
 
Date of Board resolution authorizing executant to execute this undertaking 
 
Place: 
Note:  The notarized copy of the board resolution of the Sub-

Contractor/vendor must also accompany this Warranty. In case the Sub-
Contractor/vendor is a foreign entity, then such board resolution should be 
notarized by a notary in its home country followed by the casualisation by the 
Indian Embassy there, or apostatised as per Hague Convention, as the case 
may be. 
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Indemnity Bond 

 
THIS INDENTURE made on ..........between ..............(hereinafter called the Contractor) 
which expression shall where the context do admits or implies be deemed to include its 
executors, administrators and assigns of the one part and the Maharashtra Metro Rail 
Corporation Limited (hereinafter called Maha-Metro) of the other part. 
 
WHEREAS by the agreement (LOA No ........ dated.........) (hereinafter called the said 
agreement) the contractor has agreed to “-----------------------------------------------” and 
whereas the contractor has applied to the Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited that 
they may be allowed advance on the security of materials absolutely belonging to them and 
brought by them to the site of the works covered under the project of the said agreement 
for use in the construction of such of the work as they have under taken to execute at rates 
fixed for the finished work (inclusive of the cost of materials and labour and other charges). 
 
AND WHEREAS the Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited has agreed to make stage 
payment to the contractor the total sum of Rs.------------(Rupees ---------------only) for stage 
payment Bill. The quantities and other particulars of which are detailed in this bill for the 
said works signed by the Contractor on “..................” and Maharashtra Metro Rail 
Corporation Limited has reserved to itself option of making any further advances till date on 
the security of other materials brought by the contractor to site of the said work. 
 
NOW THIS INDENTURE WITNESS that in pursuance of the said agreement and its consideration 
of the sum of Rs. -------------- (Rupees -----------------------only) on or before the execution of 
these present amount paid to the contractor by the Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation 
Limited (the receipt where of the contractor) both hereby acknowledge and of such further 
Stage payment, if any, as may be made to him so aforesaid to the contractor do the covenant 
and agreed with the Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited and declare as follows: 
 
1.  That the said sum of Rs. ----------- (Rupees ------------------- only) so Stage Payment by 

the Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited to the contractors as aforesaid and 
all or any further sum or sum’s advanced as aforesaid shall be employed by the 
contractor in or towards the execution of the said works and for no other purpose 
whatsoever. 

 
2.  That the Stage Payment detailed in the said running account bill which have been 

offered to and accepted by the Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited as 
security are absolutely the contractor’s own property and free from encumbrances 
of any kind and the contractor’s shall not make any application for or receive any 
further payments on the security of work executed which are not absolutely his own 
property and free from encumbrances of any kind the Contractor indemnifies the 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited against all claims on any materials in 
respect of which any Stage Payment has been made to him as aforesaid. 

 
3.  That the Stage Payment detailed in the said running account bill and all other stage 

payments on the security of which further payments or Stage Payment any hereafter 
be made as aforesaid (hereinafter called the said materials) shall be used by the 
contractor solely in the execution of the said works in accordance with the directions 
of the Engineer / Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited and in the terms of the 
said agreement. 

 
4.  That the contractor shall be fully liable for the materials/components and shall make 

at his own cost all necessary and adequate arrangement for the proper watch, safe 
custody and protection against all risks including, acts of the God of the said 
materials/components and provide on approved insurance in favour of Maharashtra 
Metro Rail Corporation Limited that until used in construction as aforesaid the said 
materials shall remain at the site of said works in the contractor’s custody and on his 
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own responsibility and shall at the time be open to inspection by the Engineer/ 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited. This insurance will be valid for a period 
until this material is approved and fixed in the building or advance has been fully 
recovered from contractor. 

 
5.  That the said materials/components shall not on any account be removed/shifted 

from the site of the works except with the written permission of the Engineer/ 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited. 

 
6.  That issue of any Stage Payment excess of what is finally required to be used at site 

would be the contractor’s property without any liability on Maharashtra Metro Rail 
Corporation Limited., who would recover the cost of this from the contractor. 

 
7.  That the contractor hereby charges all the said materials components with the 

repayment to the Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited of the said sum of Rs. 
--------------- (Rupees ---- ---------- -----only) and any further sum or sums advanced as 
aforesaid and all cost charges. Damages and expenses payable under these presents 
provided always and it is hereby agreed and declared that not with power contained 
therein, if any, whenever the convenient for payment, and repayment herein before 
contained shall become enforceable and the money owned shall not be paid in 
accordance therewith, the Maha- Metro., may at any time thereafter adopt all or any 
of the following courses as he may deem best. 

 
a.  That if the contractor shall at any time not be able to complete any part of 

the Component / equipment as per provision in contract Agreement it shall 
be considered as the work being left incomplete by the contractor and action 
as per the conditions of the contract shall be taken. 

 
b.  Deduct all or any of the money owning out of the performance security or any 

sum due to the contractor under the said agreement. 
 
That in the event of any conflict between the provisions of these presents the said 
agreement the provisions of these presents shall prevail. 
 
This widening shall be co-extensive to the agreement dated ....... between 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited, ______. (Client) and 
.................................... (Contractor). 

 
IN WITNESS  where of the said contractor and by the order under the direction of 

Maha- 
Metro has here set their respective hands the day and years first above 
written.  
 
Signed, Sealed & Delivered by the said Contractor: 
 

IN THE PRESENCE OF: WITNESS: 
 
1. NAME: Signature: 
 
SIGNED BY (ADDRESS) 
 
BY THE ORDER AND DIRECTION OF THE Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited 

IN THE PRESENCE OF: 
 
SIGNATURE: WITNESS 
 
(NAME AND ADDRESS) 
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Guarantee for Safe Custody 

(To be stamped in accordance with Stamp Act, of the country of issuing bank) 
 
To: 
 
MAHARASHTRA METRO RAIL CORPORATION LIMITED, 
_____________________ 
_____________________ 
 
WHEREAS – the Consortium/ Joint venture consisting of: 
 
(Name of Lead Member of the Group and address) 
(Name of Member of the Group and address) 
(Name of Member of the Group and address) 
 
(hereinafter called “the Contractor”), with M/s-------------------------------- as the lead 
member has undertaken, in pursuance of Contract No. [ ] dated ............for [Note 4] 
(hereinafter called “the Contract”), AND WHEREAS according to the said Contract the 
Employer is obliged to pay to the Contractor the sum of [ ] ([ ]) (“the Payment on delivery”) 
as set out in the priced Bill of Quantities. 
 
(A)  Pursuant to the said activities, [Note 4] are to be manufactured offshore or in India 

for subsequent delivery to the Contractor’s premises in Pune, India and held in safe 
custody by the Contractor. 

(B)  Pursuant to the terms of the Contract, the Contractor, as a condition precedent to 
his entitlement to receive any payment for items including an element of [Note 4] 
Contract [ ] to the Contractor’s premises in Pune, is obliged to provide a Guarantee 
in the terms hereof for 95 percent of the Payment. 

 
AND WHEREAS we (Insert name and address of scheduled commercial bank based in India) 
have agreed to give the Contractor such a Bank Guarantee: 
 
NOW THEREFORE we hereby affirm that we are the Guarantor and responsible to you, on 
behalf of the Contractor up to a total of --------- (amount of Guarantee)-------------- (in 
words), such sum being payable in the types and proportion of currencies in which the 
Contract Price is payable and we hereby unconditionally, irrevocably and without demur 
undertake to immediately pay you, upon your first written demand and without cavil or 
argument any sum or sums within the limits of ------- (amount of guarantee) as aforesaid 
without your needing to prove or to show grounds or reasons for your demand for the sum 
specified therein. 
 
1.  We hereby waive the necessity of your demanding the said debt from the Contractor 

before presenting us with the demand. 
 
2.  We further agree that no change or addition to or other modification of the terms of 

the contract or of the Works to be performed there under or of any of the contract 
documents which may be made between you and the Contractor shall in any way 
release us from any liability under the guarantee and we hereby waive notice of any 
such change, addition or modification. 

 
3.  The Bank shall pay to the Employer the amount thus demanded without requiring 

further evidence or proof of: 
a.  the default of the Contractor; or 
b.  the Employer’s entitlement to terminate the Contract or the employment of 

the Contractor under the Contract; or 
c.  any termination of the Contract or the employment of the Contractor under 

the contract; or 
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d.  of the amount due and payable under this bank Guarantee. 
 

4.  The liability of the Bank under this Guarantee shall remain in full force and effect 
and shall not be affected or discharged in any way by and the Bank hereby waives 
notice of: 

 
a. any suspension of the Works, variation to or amendment of the Contract 

(including without limitation extension of time for performance or adjustment 
to the Tender Total or other payment under the Contract) or any concession 
or waiver by the Employer in respect of the Contractor’s obligations under the 
Contract; 

b. the termination of the Contract or of the employment of the Contractor under 
the Contract solely as a result of default by the Contractor under the 
Contract; 

      c.  any forbearance or waiver of any right of action or remedy the Employer may 
have against the Contractor or negligence by the Employer in enforcing any 
such right of action or remedy; 

      d.  any other security or guarantee held or obtained by the Employer for any of 
the obligations of the Contractor under the Contract or any release or waiver 
thereof; 

      e.  any act or omission of the Contractor pursuant to any other arrangement with 
the Surety. 

5.  The liability of the Bank under this Guarantee shall cease on whichever of the 
following events first occurs: 

 
a.  payment by the Bank of the Guaranteed Sum in full to the Employer; or 
b.  receipt of written notification from the Employer that the[Note 4] have been 

installed and tested to the satisfaction of the Employer. 
 
6.  Until the Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited has issued an instruction to the 

Bank to the effect that this Guarantee can be released, the Bank undertakes to 
extend the validity under the same conditions for successive periods of six (6) 
calendar months at a time and to forward the appropriate extension sheets to the 
Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited. 

 
SIGNATURE AND SEAL OF THE GUARANTOR 
--------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
NAME OF THE BANK---------------------------------- 

 
ADDRESS-------------------------------------------------- 

 
DATE-------------------------------------------------------- 

 
Notes: 
1.  The stamp papers of appropriate value shall be purchased in the name of the 

Bank, who issues the ‘Bank Guarantee’. 
2.  The Bank Guarantee shall be from a scheduled commercial bank based in 

India, acceptable to the Employer. 
3.  The amount payable under this Guarantee shall be 95 percent of the 

aggregate of the instalments of the Payment made to the Contractor prior to 
the date of the written demand referred to above less the aggregate of any 
sums in respect of items installed, tested and certified by the Employer’s 
Representative (as defined in the Contract) in accordance with the terms of 
the Contract. 

4.  Enter name of the Contract. 
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Annexure-A 

E-TENDERING PROCEDURE  
 
1. TENDERING PROCEDURE 

A]  Tender Forms “- 

 
i. Tender Forms can be purchased from the e-Tendering Portal of Maharashtra Metro Rail 

Corporation Limited, i.e. https://mahametrorail.etenders.in after paying Tender Fees 
via online mode as Per the Tender Schedule. 

ii. Bidder should have valid class II/III digital signature certificates (DSC) obtain from any 
certifying authorities.  

iii. Bidder should install the Java and NxtCrypto service available on the Home Page of 
Download section URL :- https://mahametrorail.etenders.in  

 
B] Pre-requisites to participate in the Tenders processed by Maharashtra Metro Rail 

Corporation Limited :- 
 

i. Enrolment of Contractors on Electronic Tendering System :- 
 
The Contractors interested in participating in the Tenders of Maharashtra Metro Rail 
Corporation Limited processed using the Electronic Tendering System shall be required 
to enroll on the Electronic Tendering System to obtain User ID. 

 
If the information is found to be complete, the enrolment submitted by the Vendor shall 
be approved automatically. 
 
The Contractors may obtain the necessary information on the process of enrolment either 
from Helpdesk Support Team or may visit the information published under the link Help 
manual and tutorials on the Home Page of the Electronic Tendering System. 
 

ii. Obtaining a Digital Certificate: 
 
The Bid Data that is prepared online is required to be encrypted and the hash value of 
the Bid Data is required to be signed electronically using a Digital Certificate (Class - II 
or Class -III). This is required to maintain the security of the Bid Data and also to establish 
the identity of the Contractor transacting on the System. 
 
The Digital Certificates are issued by an approved Certifying Authority authorized by the 
Controller of Certifying Authorities of Government of India through their Authorized 
Representatives upon receipt of documents required to obtain a Digital Certificate. 
 
Bid data / information for a particular Tender may be submitted only using the Digital 
Certificate which is used to encrypt the data / information and sign the hash value during 
the Tender Submission stage. In case during the process of preparing and submitting a 
Bid for a particular Tender, the Contractor loses his/her Digital Signature Certificate 
(i.e. due to virus attack, hardware problem, operating system problem); he / she may 
not be able to submit the Bid online. 
 
Hence, the Users are advised to store his / her Digital Certificate securely and if possible, 
keep a backup at safe place under adequate security to be used in case of need. 
 
In case of online tendering, if the Digital Certificate issued to an Authorized User of a 
Partnership Firm is used for signing and submitting a bid, it will be considered equivalent 
to a no objection certificate / power of attorney to that User to submit the bid on behalf 
of the Partnership Firm. The Partnership Firm has to authorize a specific individual via 
an authorization certificate signed by a partner of the firm (and in case the applicant is 
a partner, another partner in the same form is required to authorize) to use the digital 
certificate as per Indian Information Technology Act, 2000. 
 
Unless the Digital Certificate is revoked, it will be assumed to represent adequate 
authority of the Authority User to bid on behalf of the Firm for the Tenders processed on 
the Electronic Tender Management System of Government of Maharashtra as per Indian 
Information Technology Act, 2000. The Digital Signature of this Authorized User will be 

https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
file:///D:/Tender%20Pune/Construction%20Station%20Reach%201/Part-1.%20Bidding%20procedure/URL%20:-
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
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binding on the Firm. It shall be the responsibility of Partners of the Firm to inform the 
Certifying Authority or Sub Certifying Authority, if the Authorized User changes, and 
apply for a fresh Digital Signature Certificate. The procedure for application of a Digital 
Signature Certificate will remain the same for the new Authorized User. 
 
The same procedure holds true for the Authorized Users in a Private / Public Limited 
Company. In this case, the Authorization Certificate will have to be signed by the Director 
of the Company or the Reporting Authority of the Applicant. 
 
For information on the process of application for obtaining Digital Certificate, the 
Contractors may visit the section Digital Signature Forms on the Home Page of the 
Electronic Tendering System. 

 
iii. Recommended Hardware and Internet Connectivity: 

 
To operate on the Electronic Tendering System, the Contractors are recommended to 
use Computer System with at least 1 GB of RAM and broadband connectivity with 
minimum 512 kbps bandwidth. 

 
iv. Set up of Computer System for executing the operations on the Electronic Tendering 

System: 
 
To operate on the Electronic Tendering System of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation 
Limited, the Computer System of the Contractors is required be set up. The Contractors 
are required to install Utilities available under the section Downloads on the Home Page 
of the System. 
 
The Utilities are available for download freely from the above mention section. The 
Contractors are requested to refer to the Help manual and Tutorials available online on 
the Home Page to understand the process of setting up the System, or alternatively, 
contact the Helpdesk Support Team on information / guidance on the process of setting 
up the System. 

 
C)  The e-tender portal contains two section Technical Bid Submission & Financial Bid 

Submission. 
i. Technical Bid Section: - Technical Bid Section shall contain all Documents and 

enclosures as directed in NIT, ITB and EQ. Bidder shall upload the PDF copy of such 
documents in Technical Section only. 

ii. Financial Bid Section: - All prices/Commercial offers/ or any information pertain to 
commercial offer required by Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited from the 
bidders, shall be filled/ uploaded (If directed by Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation 
Limited) in Financial Bid Section only. 

iii. No information pertaining to Financial Bid section should be uploaded/disclosed in 
Technical Bid Section or vice versa.  

 
D)    Steps to be followed by Contractors to participate in the e-Tenders processed by 

Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited 

 
i. Preparation of online Briefcase: 

 
All Contractors enrolled on the Electronic Tendering System of Maharashtra Metro Rail 
Corporation Limited are provided with dedicated briefcase facility to store documents 
/ files in digital format. The Contractors can use the online briefcase to store their 
scanned copies of frequently used documents / files to be submitted as a part of their 
bid response. The Contractors are advised to store the relevant documents in the 
briefcase before starting the Tender Submission stage. 

 
In case, the Contractors have multiple documents under the same type (e.g. multiple 
Work Completion Certificates) as mentioned above, the Contractors advised to either 
create a single .pdf file of all the documents of same type or compress the documents in 
a single compressed file in .zip or .rar formats and upload the same. 

 
Note: Uploading of documents in the briefcase does not mean that the documents are available 

to Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited at the time of Tender Opening stage 
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unless the documents are specifically attached to the Tender during the Tender 
Submission stage. 

 
ii. Online viewing of Detailed Notice Inviting Tenders: 

The Contractors can view the entire tender document inter alia including Detailed Tender 
Notice (NIT) along with the Time Schedule (Key Dates) for all the Live Tenders released 
by Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited and Eligibility Criteria (EQ) on the home 
page of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited e-Tendering Portal on 
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in under the section Online Tenders. Viewing & 
downloading the tender document is free of cost.  

iii. Download of Tender Documents: 
After going through the NIT & EQ, if bidder finds himself eligible for the bidding, he may 

purchase the complete bid document via online mode by paying the cost of Tender 
Document by Debit Card/Credit Card/ Net Banking as described on E-Tender Portal. After 
paying the cost of the document, bidder may download the complete bid documents. 
The bidder shall not be able to bid without purchasing the bid document as per the online 
procedure. 

iv. Online Submission of Bid: 

a. At the stage of EMD, the EMD payment may be either in the form of Cash or Bank 
Guarantee or combination of both. Bidders are advised to refer the Instruction to 
Tenderers and Bid Data Sheet of the concerning Bid. For detail provision of payment of 
EMD, bidders are advised to refer concerning clause of Bid Document   

b. For Cash Component Payment of EMD, which bidder has to pay online using any one 
online pay mode as RTGS, NEFT, Debit Card, Credit Card & Net Banking through 
payment gateway of E-Tender Portal. For EMD payment, if bidder use NEFT or RTGS 
then system will generate a challan (in two Copies) with unique challan No specific to 
the tender. Bidder will use this challan in his bank to make NEFT/RTGS Payment against 
the challan. 

c. Bidder should ensure the payment of online EMD, 72 Hours (Excepting Holiday if any) 
prior to the final submission date of the Bid*. 

d. Bidder have the option to pay EMD either at the initial stage of submission of bid or at 
the final stage of submission of bid, when all mandatory formats/ documents filled/ 
uploaded. 

e. If the EMD is in form of Bank Guarantee or part of EMD in form of BG, scan copy of such 
BG shall be uploaded by bidders in technical section of E-Tender Portal.   

f. Bidder shall download the Complete Bid Document along with all Corrigendum/ 
Addendum/Clarification etc. by logging in with E-Tender Portal using his DSC (i.e. DSC 
of POA/ Owner) & read the all tender Instruction & clauses carefully. 

g. For submission of Tender Document and Corrigendum, Tick (√) Submission Process 
has been enabled in Technical section of E-Tender Portal of Maharashtra Metro Rail 
Corporation Limited. Bidders have to tick (√) the corresponding checkbox provided 
in the Technical Section of E-Tendering portal as a token of acceptance of these bid 
documents & corrigendum / Addendums. By clicking the tick (√) the bid documents 
& corrigendum /addendum shall automatically have attached to offer of bidder. 
Further bidder may proceed for submission by clicking submit button. 

h. If the bidder has completed the submission process of his bid before due date of 
submission and in between Purchaser issue a corrigendum, in this circumstance the 
bidder has to re-submit his bid by “clicking tick (√)” to the new added corrigendum, 
in case the new corrigendum has any implications to his already submitted bid. 
Bidder may, at his option, amend his bid accordingly & re-submit it.   

i. Physical Sign & seal of bidder on each page of Bid Documents available online is not 
required. 

j. All required enclosures as per bid document shall be uploaded in “Technical Envelope” 
/ “Technical Section” of E-Tender portal by using DSC of bidder. 

k. The “Technical Envelope” / “Technical Section” of E-Tender portal has been provided 
with facilities to upload a file of maximum size of 10 MB only at each entity. 

l. If bidder are desirous to upload a file more than 10 MB size, he shall spilt the file in 
two or more parts of 10mb or lesser than 10 MB each and can upload the same at 
appropriate Technical Template or “Additional Document” section of “Technical 
Envelope/section” of E-Tender Portal. 

 
 
 

https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
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Note:- 

 
* Realization of NEFT/RTGS payment normally takes 24 hours, so it is advised to 

make sure that NEFT/RTGS payment activity should be completed well before 
time. 

* NEFT/RTGS option will be depend on the amount of EMD. 
* Help File regarding use of e-Payment Gateway can be downloaded from e-

Tendering Portal. 
 

v. Short listing of Contractors for Financial Bidding Process: 

 
The Tendering Authority will first open the Technical Bid documents of all Contractors 
and after scrutinizing these documents will shortlist the Contractors who are eligible for 
Financial Bidding Process. The shortlisted Contractors will be intimated by email. 

vi. Opening of the Financial Bids: 
 

The Contractors may remain present in the Office of the Tender Opening Authority at 
the time of opening of Financial Bids. 

vii. Tender Schedule (Key Dates): 
 

All the online activities are time tracked and the Electronic Tendering System enforces 
time-locks that ensure that no activity or transaction can take place outside the Start 
and End Dates and Time of the stage as defined in the Tender Schedule. 
 
At the sole discretion of the Tender Authority, the time schedule of the Tender stages 
may be extended. 
 
Note: - For details illustrations, please refer or down load the PPT demonstration 
available on E-Tender portal of https://mahametrorail.etenders.in  
 
Terms and Conditions for Online-Payments 
 
The Terms and Conditions contained herein shall apply to any person ("User") using the 
services of Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited Maharashtra, hereinafter 
referred to as "Merchant", for making Tender fee and Earnest Money Deposit (EMD) 
payments through an online Payment Gateway Service ("Service") offered by ICICI Bank 
Ltd. in association with E Tendering Service provider and Payment Gateway Service 
provider through Maharashtra Metro Rail Corporation Limited   Maharashtra   website   
i.e. https://mahametrorail.etenders.in Each User is therefore deemed to have read and 
accepted these Terms and Conditions. 
 
Privacy Policy:- 
 
The Merchant respects and protects the privacy of the individuals that access the 
information and use the services provided through them. Individually identifiable 
information about the User is not willfully disclosed to any third party without first 
receiving the User's permission, as covered in this Privacy Policy. 
 
This Privacy Policy describes Merchant's treatment of personally identifiable information 
that Merchant collects when the User is on the Merchant's website. The Merchant does 
not collect any unique information about the User (such as User's name, email address, 
age, gender etc.) except when you specifically and knowingly provide such information 
on the Website. Like any business interested in offering the highest quality of service to 
clients, Merchant may, from time to time, send email to the User and other 
communication to tell the User about the various services, features, functionality and 
content offered by Merchant's website or seek voluntary information from The User. 
 
Please be aware, however, that Merchant will release specific personal information about 
the User if required to do so in the following circumstances :- 
a) In order to comply with any valid legal process such as a search warrant, statute, or 

court order, or available at time of opening the tender. 
b) if any of User's actions on our website violate the Terms of Service or any of our 

guidelines for specific services, or 

https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
https://mahametrorail.etenders.in/
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c) to protect or defend Merchant's legal rights or property, the Merchant's site, or the 
Users of the site or; 

d) to investigate, prevent, or take action regarding illegal activities, suspected fraud, 
situations involving potential threats to the security, integrity of Merchant's website/ 
offerings. General  

 
Terms and Conditions for E-Payment on E-Tender Portal 
1. Once a User has accepted these Terms and Conditions, he/ she may register on 

Merchant's website and avail the Services. 
2. Merchant's rights, obligations, undertakings shall be subject to the laws in force in 

India, as well as any directives/procedures of Government of India, and nothing 
contained in these Terms and Conditions shall be in derogation of Merchant's right to 
comply with any law enforcement agencies request or requirements relating to any 
User's use of the website or information provided to or gathered by Merchant with 
respect to such use. Each User accepts and agrees that the provision of details of his/ 
her use of the Website to regulators or police or to any other third party in order to 
resolve disputes or complaints which relate to the Website shall be at the absolute 
discretion of Merchant. 

3. If any part of these Terms and Conditions are determined to be invalid or 
unenforceable pursuant to applicable law including, but not limited to, the warranty 
disclaimers and liability limitations set forth herein, then the invalid or unenforceable 
provision will be deemed superseded by a valid, enforceable provision that most 
closely matches the intent of the original provision and the remainder of these Terms 
and Conditions shall continue in effect. 

4. These Terms and Conditions constitute the entire agreement between the User and 
Merchant. These Terms and Conditions supersede all prior or contemporaneous 
communications and proposals, whether electronic, oral, or written, between the 
User and Merchant. A printed version of these Terms and Conditions and of any notice 
given in electronic form shall be admissible in judicial or administrative proceedings 
based upon or relating to these Terms and Conditions to the same extent and subject 
to the same conditions as other business documents and records originally generated 
and maintained in printed form. 

5. The entries in the books of Merchant and/or the Payment Gateway Service Providers 
kept in the ordinary course of business of Merchant and/or the Payment Gateway 
Service Providers with regard to transactions covered under these Terms and 
Conditions and matters therein appearing shall be binding on the User and shall be 
conclusive proof of the genuineness and accuracy of the transaction. 

6. Refund for Charge Back Transaction: In the event there is any claim for/ of charge 
back by the User for any reason whatsoever, such User shall immediately approach 
Merchant with his/ her claim details and claim refund from Merchant alone. Such 
refund (if any) shall be affected only by Merchant via payment gateway or by means 
of a demand draft or such other means as Merchant deems appropriate. No claims for 
refund/ charge back shall be made by any User to the Payment Gateway Service 
Provider(s) and in the event such claim is made it shall not be entertained. 

7. In these Terms and Conditions, the term "Charge Back" shall mean, approved and 
settled credit card or net banking purchase transaction(s) which are at any time 
refused, debited or charged back to merchant account (and shall also include similar 
debits to Payment Gateway Service Provider's accounts, if any) by the acquiring bank 
or credit card company for any reason whatsoever, together with the bank fees, 
penalties and other charges incidental thereto. 

8. Refund for fraudulent/duplicate transaction(s): The User shall directly contact 
Merchant for any fraudulent transaction(s) on account of misuse of Card/ Bank details 
by a fraudulent individual/party and such issues shall be suitably addressed by 
Merchant alone in line with their policies and rules. 

9. Server Slow Down/Session Timeout: In case the Website or Payment Gateway Service 
Provider's webpage, that is linked to the Website, is experiencing any server related 
issues like 'slow down' or 'failure' or 'session timeout', the User shall, before initiating 
the second payment, check whether his/her Bank Account has been debited or not 
and accordingly resort to one of the following options: 
i.  In case the Bank Account appears to be debited, ensure that he/ she does not make 

the payment twice and immediately thereafter contact Merchant via e-mail or any 
other mode of contact as provided by Merchant to confirm payment. 

ii. In case the Bank Account is not debited, the User may initiate a fresh transaction 
to make payment. 
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However, the User agrees that under no circumstances the Payment Gateway Service 
Provider shall be held responsible for such fraudulent/duplicate transactions and hence 
no claims should be raised to Payment Gateway Service Provider No communication 
received by the Payment Gateway Service Provider(s) in this regard shall be entertained 
by the Payment Gateway Service Provider.  

 
Limitation of Liability of Merchant/ Payment Gateway 

 
1. Merchant has made this Service available to the User as a matter of convenience. 

Merchant expressly disclaims any claim or liability arising out of the provision of this 
Service. The User agrees and acknowledges that he/ she shall be solely responsible for 
his/ her conduct and that Merchant reserves the right to terminate the rights to use 
of the Service immediately without giving any prior notice thereof. 

2. Merchant and/or the Payment Gateway Service Providers shall not be liable for any 
inaccuracy, error or delay in, or omission of (a) any data, information or message, or 
(b) the transmission or delivery of any such data, information or message; or (c) any 
loss or damage arising from or occasioned by any such inaccuracy, error, delay or 
omission, nonperformance or interruption in any such data, information or message. 
Under no circumstances shall the Merchant and/or the Payment Gateway Service 
Providers, its employees, directors, and its third party agents involved in processing, 
delivering or managing the Services, be liable for any direct, indirect, incidental, 
special or consequential damages, or any damages whatsoever, including punitive or 
exemplary arising out of or in any way connected with the provision of or any 
inadequacy or deficiency in the provision of the Services or resulting from 
unauthorized access or alteration of transmissions of data or arising from suspension 
or termination of the Services. 

3. The Merchant and the Payment Gateway Service Provider(s) assume no liability 
whatsoever for any monetary or other damage suffered by the User on account of : 

 
(I) the delay, failure, interruption, or corruption of any data or other information 

transmitted in connection with use of the Payment Gateway or Services in 
connection thereto; and/ or  

(II) any interruption or errors in the operation of the Payment Gateway. 

 
4. The User shall indemnify and hold harmless the Payment Gateway Service Provider(s) 

and Merchant and their respective officers, directors, agents, and employees, from any 
claim or demand, or actions arising out of or in connection with the utilization of the 
Services. 

 
The User agrees that Merchant or any of its employees will not be held liable by the 
User for any loss or damages arising from your use of, or reliance upon the information 
contained on the Website, or any failure to comply with these Terms and Conditions 
where such failure is due to circumstance beyond Merchant's reasonable control.  

 
Miscellaneous Conditions: 

 
Any waiver of any rights available to Merchant under these Terms and Conditions shall 
not mean that those rights are automatically waived. 

 
1. The User agrees, understands and confirms that his/her personal data including without 

limitation details relating to debit card/credit card transmitted over the Internet may 
be susceptible to misuse, hacking, theft and/ or fraud and that Merchant or the 
Payment Gateway Service Provider(s) have no control over such matters. 

2. Although all reasonable care has been taken towards guarding against unauthorized use 
of any information transmitted by the User, Merchant does not represent or guarantee 
that the use of the Services provided by/ through it will not result in theft and/or 
unauthorized use of data over the Internet. 

3. The Merchant, the Payment Gateway Service Provider(s) and its affiliates and 
associates shall not be liable, at any time, for any failure of performance, error, 
omission, interruption, deletion, defect, delay in operation or transmission, computer 
virus, communications line failure, theft or destruction or unauthorized access to, 
alteration of, or use of information contained on the Website. 
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4. The User may be required to create his/ her own User ID and Password in order to 
register and/ or use the Services provided by Merchant on the Website. By accepting 
these Terms and Conditions the User agrees that his/ her User ID and Password are very 
important pieces of information and it shall be the User's own responsibility to keep 
them secure and confidential. In furtherance hereof, the User agrees to; 

i. Choose a new password, whenever required for security reasons. 

ii. Keep his/ her User ID & Password strictly confidential. 
iii. Be responsible for any transactions made by User under such User ID and Password. 

 
The User is hereby informed that Merchant will never ask the User for the User's 
password in an unsolicited phone call or in an unsolicited email. The User is hereby 
required to sign out of his/ her Merchant account on the Website and close the web 
browser window when the transaction(s) have been completed. This is to ensure that 
others cannot access the User's personal information and correspondence when the User 
happens to share a computer with someone else or is using a computer in a public place 
like a library or Internet cafe. 

 
Debit/Credit Card, Bank Account Details 

 
1. The User agrees that the debit/credit card details provided by him/ her for use of the 

aforesaid Service(s) must be correct and accurate and that the User shall not use a 
debit/ credit card, that is not lawfully owned by him/ her or the use of which is not 
authorized by the lawful owner thereof. The User further agrees and undertakes to 
provide correct and valid debit/credit card details. 

2. The User may make his/ her payment (Tender Fee/Earnest Money deposit) to Merchant 
by using a debit/credit card or through online banking account. The User warrants, 
agrees and confirms that when he/ she initiates a payment transaction and/or issues 
an online payment instruction and provides his/ her card / bank details: 

i. The User is fully and lawfully entitled to use such credit/debit card, bank account for 
such transactions; 

ii. The User is responsible to ensure that the card/ bank account details provided by 
him/her are accurate; 

iii. The User is authorizing debit of the nominated card/ bank account for the payment of 
Tender Fee and Earnest Money Deposit 

iv. The User is responsible to ensure sufficient credit is available on the nominated card/ 
bank account at the time of making the payment to permit the payment of the dues 
payable or the bill(s) selected by the User inclusive of the applicable Fee. 

 
Personal Information 

1. The User agrees that, to the extent required or permitted by law, Merchant and/ or 
the Payment Gateway Service Provider(s) may also collect, use and disclose personal 
information in connection with security related or law enforcement investigations or in 
the course of cooperating with authorities or complying with legal requirements. 

2. The User agrees that any communication sent by the User vide e-mail, shall imply 
release of information therein/ therewith to Merchant. The User agrees to be contacted 
via e-mail on such mails initiated by him/ her. 

3. In addition to the information already in the possession of Merchant and/ or the 
Payment Gateway Service Provider(s), Merchant may have collected similar information 
from the User in the past. By entering the Website the User consents to the terms of 
Merchant's information privacy policy and to our continued use of previously collected 
information. By submitting the User's personal information to us, the User will be 
treated as having given his/her permission for the processing of the User's personal data 
as set out herein. 

4. The User acknowledges and agrees that his/ her information will be managed in 
accordance with the laws for the time in force. 

 
Payment Gateway Disclaimer: The Service is provided in order to facilitate payment of Tender 
Fees/Earnest Money Deposit online. The Merchant or the Payment Gateway Service Provider(s) do not 
make any representation of any kind, express or implied, as to the operation of the Payment Gateway 
other than what is specified in the Website for this purpose. By accepting/ agreeing to these Terms 
and Conditions, the User expressly agrees that his/ her use of the aforesaid online payment service is 
entirely at own risk and responsibility of the User.  
 


